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Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and 
(2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes     No  �  
   

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every 
Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the 
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes     No  �  
   

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller 
reporting company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the 
Exchange Act.  
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This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements relating to future events and our future 

performance within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Stockholders are cautioned that such statements involve risks and uncertainties, including:  our 
ability to successfully market and sell Ampyra in the U.S.; third party payers (including governmental agencies) may not reimburse 
for the use of Ampyra at acceptable rates or at all and may impose restrictive prior authorization requirements that limit or block 
prescriptions; the risk of unfavorable results from future studies of Ampyra or from our other research and development programs, 
including any acquired or in-licensed programs; the occurrence of adverse safety events with our products; delays in obtaining or 
failure to obtain regulatory approval of or to successfully market Fampyra outside of the U.S. and our dependence on our 
collaboration partner Biogen Idec in connection therewith; competition, including the impact of generic competition on Zanaflex 
Capsules revenues; failure to protect our intellectual property, to defend against the intellectual property claims of others, or to 
obtain third party intellectual property licenses needed for the commercialization of our products; and the ability to obtain 
additional financing to support our operations. These forward-looking statements are based on current expectations, estimates, 
forecasts and projections about the industry and markets in which we operate and management’s beliefs and assumptions. All 
statements, other than statements of historical facts, included in this report regarding our strategy, future operations, future 
financial position, future revenues, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management are forward-looking statements. 
The words “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “projects,” “w ill,” “would,” and 
similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these 
identifying words. Actual results or events could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in the 
forward-looking statements we make, and investors should not place undue reliance on these statements. In addition to the risks 
and uncertainties described above, we have included important factors in the cautionary statements included in this report and in 
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, particularly in the “Risk Factors” section, that we 
believe could cause actual results or events to differ materially from the forward-looking statements that we make. Our forward-
looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investments 
that we may make. Forward-looking statements in this report are made only as of the date hereof, and we do not assume any 
obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements as a result of developments occurring after the date of this report.  
   

We own several registered trademarks in the U.S. and in other countries.  These registered trademarks include, in the U.S., 
the marks “Acorda Therapeutics,” our stylized Acorda Therapeutics logo, “Ampyra,” “Zanaflex,” and “Zanaflex 
Capsules.”  Also, our mark “Fampyra” is a registered mark in the European Community Trademark Office and we have 
registrations or pending applications for this mark in other jurisdictions.  Our trademark portfolio also includes several registered 
trademarks and pending trademark applications in the U.S. and worldwide for potential product names or for disease awareness 
activities.  Third party trademarks, trade names, and service marks used in this report are the property of their respective owners.  
   
 

  

  
  



 
PART I  
   
Item 1.  Financial Statements  
   

ACORDA THERAPEUTICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
   

Consolidated Balance Sheets  
   

   
See accompanying Unaudited Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

   
 

  

(In thousands, except share data)    March 31, 2012      
December 31,  

2011    

    (unaudited)          
Assets              
Current assets:              

Cash and cash equivalents    $ 55,300     $ 57,954   
Restricted cash      303       303   
Short-term investments      222,945       237,953   
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowances of $909 and $879, as of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 

2011, respectively      21,526       22,828   
Prepaid expenses      8,201       6,534   
Finished goods inventory held by the Company      27,614       27,256   
Finished goods inventory held by others      1,045       1,126   
Other current assets      10,780       6,988   

Total current assets      347,714       360,942   
Long-term investments      17,046       —  
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation      6,521       3,858   
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization      8,950       8,769   
Non-current portion of deferred cost of license revenue      5,283       5,442   
Other assets      538       477   

Total assets    $ 386,052     $ 379,488   

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity                  
Current liabilities:                  

Accounts payable    $ 20,010     $ 21,393   
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities      20,487       24,149   
Deferred product revenue—Zanaflex tablets      9,959       9,967   
Deferred product revenue—Zanaflex Capsules      20,196       20,632   
Current portion of deferred license revenue      9,057       9,057   
Current portion of revenue interest liability      1,204       1,001   
Current portion of convertible notes payable      1,144       1,144   

Total current liabilities      82,057       87,343   
Non-current portion of deferred license revenue      75,478       77,742   
Put/call liability      495       1,030   
Non-current portion of revenue interest liability      1,908       1,898   
Non-current portion of convertible notes payable      4,126       5,230   
Other non-current liabilities      2,894       1,036   

Commitments and contingencies                  
Stockholders’ equity:                  
Common stock, $0.001 par value. Authorized 80,000,000 shares at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011; 

issued and outstanding 39,422,865 and 39,328,495 shares, including those held in treasury, as of March 31, 
2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively      39       39   

Treasury stock at cost (12,420 shares at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011)      (329 )     (329 ) 
Additional paid-in capital      621,053       614,914   
Accumulated deficit      (401,635 )     (409,481 ) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)      (34 )     66   
Total stockholders’ equity      219,094       205,209   
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity    $ 386,052     $ 379,488   
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ACORDA THERAPEUTICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

   
Consolidated Statements of Operations  

   
(unaudited)  

   

   
See accompanying Unaudited Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

   
 

  

(In thousands, except per share data)    

Three-month  
period ended  

March 31, 2012      

Three-month  
period ended  

March 31, 2011    

Revenues:              
Net product revenues    $ 65,673     $ 58,925   
License revenue      2,265       2,265   
Royalty revenues      3,310       96   
Total net revenues      71,248       61,286   
                  
Costs and expenses:                  

Cost of sales      12,464       12,050   
Cost of license revenue      159       159   
Research and development      11,025       10,708   
Selling, general and administrative      38,745       37,928   

Total operating expenses      62,393       60,845   
Operating income      8,855       441   

Other expense (net):                  
Interest and amortization of debt discount expense      (766 )     (1,136 ) 
Interest income      129       140   

Total other expense (net)      (637 )     (996 ) 
Income (loss) before taxes      8,218       (555 ) 

Provision for income taxes      (372 )     (117 ) 
Net income (loss)    $ 7,846     $ (672 ) 

                  
                  
Net income (loss) per share—basic    $ 0.20     $ (0.02 ) 
Net income (loss) per share—diluted    $ 0.19     $ (0.02 ) 
Weighted average common shares outstanding used in computing net income (loss) per share—basic      39,340       38,781   
Weighted average common shares outstanding used in computing net income (loss) per share—

diluted      40,407       38,781   
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ACORDA THERAPEUTICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
   

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)  
   

(unaudited)  
   

   
See accompanying Unaudited Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

   
   
 
   
 

  

(In thousands)    

Three-month  
period ended  

March 31, 2012      

Three-month  
period ended  

March 31, 2011    

              
Net income (loss)    $ 7,846     $ (672 ) 
Other comprehensive income (loss):                  

Unrealized gains (losses) on available for sale securities      (100 )     52   
Other comprehensive income (loss)      (100 )     52   
Comprehensive income (loss)    $ 7,746     $ (620 ) 
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ACORDA THERAPEUTICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

   
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  

   
(unaudited)  

   

   
See accompanying Unaudited Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

   
   
 
   
 

  

(In thousands)    

Three-month  
period ended  

March 31, 2012      

Three-month  
period ended  

March 31, 2011    

Cash flows from operating activities:              
Net income (loss)    $ 7,846     $ (672 ) 

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:                  
Share-based compensation expense      4,191       3,755   
Amortization of net premiums and discounts on investments      1,507       1,863   
Amortization of revenue interest issuance cost      30       36   
Depreciation and amortization expense      912       1,139   
Gain on put/call liability      (535 )     —  

Changes in assets and liabilities:                  
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable      1,302       (1,523 ) 
Increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets      (5,459 )     (1,294 ) 
Increase in inventory held by the Company      (357 )     (6,363 ) 
Decrease (increase) in inventory held by others      81       (14 ) 
Decrease in non-current portion of deferred cost of license revenue      159       133   
Increase in other assets      (92 )     —  
Decrease in accounts payable, accrued expenses, other current liabilities      (6,144 )     (7,216 ) 
Increase in revenue interest liability interest payable      421       659   
Decrease in current portion of deferred license revenue      —      (371 ) 
Decrease in non-current portion of deferred license revenue      (2,264 )     (1,893 ) 
Increase in other non-current liabilities      1,858       —  
Increase (decrease) in deferred product revenue—Zanaflex tablets      (8 )     168   
Decrease in deferred product revenue—Zanaflex Capsules      (436 )     (529 ) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities      3,012       (12,122 ) 

Cash flows from investing activities:                  
Purchases of property and equipment      (3,104 )     (743 ) 
Purchases of intangible assets      (656 )     (164 ) 
Purchases of investments      (65,396 )     (42,812 ) 
Proceeds from maturities of investments      61,750       99,500   

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities      (7,406 )     55,781   

Cash flows from financing activities:                  
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and option exercises      1,949       392   
Repayments of revenue interest liability      (209 )     (235 ) 

Net cash provided by financing activities      1,740       157   
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents      (2,654 )     43,816   

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period      57,954       34,641   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period    $ 55,300     $ 78,457   

Supplemental disclosure:                  
Cash paid for interest      304       429   
Cash paid for taxes      165       102   
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ACORDA THERAPEUTICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

   
(unaudited)  

   
(1) Organization and Business Activities  
   

Acorda Therapeutics, Inc. (“Acorda” or the “Company”) is a commercial stage biopharmaceutical company dedicated to the 
identification, development and commercialization of novel therapies that improve neurological function in people with multiple sclerosis (MS), 
spinal cord injury (SCI) and other disorders of the nervous system.  
   

The management of the Company is responsible for the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and the 
related information included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of management, the unaudited interim 
consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments, including normal recurring adjustments necessary for the fair presentation of the 
Company’s financial position and results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented. Results of operations for interim periods are not 
necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the entire year.  
   

These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011 included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for such 
year, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).  
   
  (2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
   
Principles of Consolidation  
   

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America and include the results of operations of the Company and its majority owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts 
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  
   
Use of Estimates  
   

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management of the Company to make a number of estimates and 
assumptions relating to the reported amount of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Significant items subject to such 
estimates and assumptions include share-based compensation accounting, which are largely dependent on the fair value of the Company’s equity 
securities. In addition, the Company recognizes Zanaflex revenue based on estimated prescriptions filled. The Company adjusts its Zanaflex 
inventory value based on an estimate of inventory that may be returned. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  
   
Investments  
   

Both short-term and long-term investments consist of US Treasury bonds. The Company classifies marketable securities available to 
fund current operations as short-term investments in current assets on its consolidated balance sheets. Marketable securities are classified as 
long-term investments in long-term assets on the consolidated balance sheets if (i) they have been in an unrealized loss position for longer than 
one year and (ii) the Company has the ability and intent to hold them (a) until the carrying value is recovered and (b) such holding period may be 
longer than one year. The Company classifies its investments as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are recorded at fair value of the 
investments based on quoted market prices.  
   

Unrealized holding gains and losses on available-for-sale securities, which are determined to be temporary, are excluded from earnings 
and are reported as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).  
   

Premiums and discounts on investments are amortized over the life of the related available-for-sale security as an adjustment to yield 
using the effective-interest method. Dividend and interest income are recognized when earned. Amortized premiums and discounts, dividend and 
interest income and realized gains and losses are included in interest income.  
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Revenue Recognition  
   
Ampyra  
 

Ampyra is available only through a network of specialty pharmacy providers that provide the medication to patients by mail; Kaiser 
Permanente (Kaiser), which distributes Ampyra to patients through a closed network of on-site pharmacies; and ASD Specialty Healthcare, Inc. 
(an AmerisourceBergen affiliate), which is the exclusive specialty pharmacy distributor for Ampyra to the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 
(VA). Ampyra is not available in retail pharmacies. The Company does not recognize revenue from product sales until there is persuasive 
evidence of an arrangement, delivery has occurred, the price is fixed and determinable, the buyer is obligated to pay the Company, the obligation 
to pay is not contingent on resale of the product, the buyer has economic substance apart from the Company, the Company has no obligation to 
bring about the sale of the product, the amount of returns can be reasonably estimated and collectability is reasonably assured. The Company 
recognizes product sales of Ampyra following shipment of product to a network of specialty pharmacy providers, Kaiser, and the specialty 
distributor to the VA. The specialty pharmacy providers, Kaiser, and the specialty distributor to the VA are contractually obligated to hold no 
more than 30 days of inventory.  
 

The Company’s net revenues represent total revenues less allowances for customer credits, including estimated rebates, discounts and 
returns. These allowances are recorded for cash consideration given by a vendor to a customer that is presumed to be a reduction of the selling 
prices of the vendor’s products or services and, therefore, are characterized as a reduction of revenue. At the time product is shipped to specialty 
pharmacies, Kaiser and the specialty distributor to the VA, an adjustment is recorded for estimated rebates, discounts and returns. These 
allowances are established by management as its best estimate based on available information and will be adjusted to reflect known changes in 
the factors that impact such allowances. Allowances for rebates, discounts and returns are established based on the contractual terms with 
customers, communications with customers and the levels of inventory remaining in the distribution channel, as well as expectations about the 
market for the product and anticipated introduction of competitive products.  Product shipping and handling costs are included in cost of sales.  
 

Based on the Company’s specialty distribution model where it sells to only specialty pharmacies, Kaiser and the specialty distributor to 
the VA, the inventory and prescription data it receives from these distributors, and returns experience of other specialty products with similar 
selling models, the Company has been able to make a reasonable estimate for product returns. The Company will accept returns of Ampyra for 
two months prior to and six months after the product expiration date. The Company will provide a credit for such returns to customers with 
whom we have a direct relationship. Once product is prescribed, it cannot be returned. The Company does not exchange product from inventory 
for the returned product.  
   
Zanaflex  
   

The Company applies the revenue recognition guidance in Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 605-15-25, which among other 
criteria requires that future returns can be reasonably estimated in order to recognize revenue. The amount of future tablet returns is uncertain 
due to generic competition and customer conversion to Zanaflex Capsules. The Company has accumulated some sales history with Zanaflex 
Capsules; however, due to existing and potential generic competition and customer conversion from Zanaflex tablets to Zanaflex Capsules, we 
do not believe we can reasonably determine a return rate at this time. As a result, the Company accounts for these product shipments using a 
deferred revenue recognition model. Under the deferred revenue model, the Company does not recognize revenue upon product shipment. For 
these product shipments, the Company invoices the wholesaler, records deferred revenue at gross invoice sales price, and classifies the cost basis 
of the product held by the wholesaler as a component of inventory. The Company recognizes revenue when prescribed to the end-user, on a first-
in first-out (FIFO) basis. The Company’s revenue to be recognized is based on (1) the estimated prescription demand, based on pharmacy sales 
for its products; and (2) the Company’s analysis of third-party information, including third-party market research data. The Company’s estimates 
are subject to the inherent limitations of estimates that rely on third-party data, as certain third-party information is itself in the form of estimates, 
and reflect other limitations. The Company’s sales and revenue recognition reflects the Company’s estimates of actual product prescribed to the 
end-user. The Company expects to be able to apply a more traditional revenue recognition policy such that revenue is recognized following 
shipment to the customer when it believes it has sufficient data to develop reasonable estimates of expected returns based upon historical returns 
and greater certainty regarding generic competition.  
   

The Company’s net revenues represent total revenues less allowances for customer credits, including estimated discounts, rebates, and 
chargebacks. These allowances are recorded for cash consideration given by a vendor to a customer  
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that is presumed to be a reduction of the selling prices of the vendor’s products or services and, therefore, should be characterized as a reduction 
of revenue when recognized in the vendor’s statement of operations. Adjustments are recorded for estimated chargebacks, rebates, and discounts. 
These allowances are established by management as its best estimate based on available information and are adjusted to reflect known changes 
in the factors that impact such allowances. Allowances for chargebacks, rebates and discounts are established based on the contractual terms 
with customers, analysis of historical levels of discounts, chargebacks and rebates, communications with customers and the levels of inventory 
remaining in the distribution channel, as well as expectations about the market for each product and anticipated introduction of competitive 
products. In addition, the Company records a charge to cost of goods sold for the cost basis of the estimated product returns the Company 
believes may ultimately be realized at the time of product shipment to wholesalers. The Company has recognized this charge at the date of 
shipment since it is probable that it will receive a level of returned products; upon the return of such product it will be unable to resell the 
product considering its expiration dating; and it can reasonably estimate a range of returns. This charge represents the cost basis for the low end 
of the range of the Company’s estimated returns. Product shipping and handling costs are included in cost of sales.  
   
Milestones and royalties  
 

In order to determine the revenue recognition for contingent milestones, the Company evaluates the contingent milestones using the 
criteria as provided by the Financial Accounting Standards Boards (FASB) guidance on the milestone method of revenue recognition. At the 
inception of a collaboration agreement the Company evaluates if payments are substantive.  The criteria requires that (i) the Company 
determines if the milestone is commensurate with either its performance to achieve the milestone or the enhancement of value resulting from the 
Company’s activities to achieve the milestone, (ii) the milestone be related to past performance, and (iii) the milestone be reasonable relative to 
all deliverable and payment terms of the collaboration arrangement.  If these criteria are met then the contingent milestones can be considered as 
substantive milestones and will be recognized as revenue in the period that the milestone is achieved. Royalties are recognized as earned in 
accordance with the terms of various research and collaboration agreements.  
 
Collaborations  
   

The Company recognizes collaboration revenues and expenses by analyzing each element of the agreement to determine if it shall be 
accounted for as a separate element or single unit of accounting. If an element shall be treated separately for revenue recognition purposes, the 
revenue recognition principles most appropriate for that element are applied to determine when revenue shall be recognized. If an element shall 
not be treated separately for revenue recognition purposes, the revenue recognition principles most appropriate for the bundled group of elements 
are applied to determine when revenue shall be recognized. Payments received in excess of revenues recognized are recorded as deferred 
revenue until such time as the revenue recognition criteria have been met.  
   
Concentration of Risk  
   

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of investments in cash, 
cash equivalents, restricted cash and accounts receivable. The Company maintains cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, short-term and long-
term investments with approved financial institutions. The Company is exposed to credit risks and liquidity in the event of default by the 
financial institutions or issuers of investments in excess of FDIC insured limits. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative 
credit standing of these financial institutions and limits the amount of credit exposure with any institution.  
   
Segment Information  
   

The Company is managed and operated as one business. The entire business is managed by a single management team that reports to 
the chief executive officer. The Company does not operate separate lines of business with respect to any of its products or product candidates. 
Accordingly, the Company does not prepare discrete financial information with respect to separate products or product candidates or by location 
and does not have separately reportable segments.  
   
Reclassification  
   

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation.  
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

   
In June 2011, the FASB issued an accounting standards update regarding the presentation of comprehensive income in financial 

statements. The provisions of this standard provide an option to present the components of net income and other comprehensive income either as 
one continuous statement of comprehensive income or as two separate but consecutive statements. The Company reports components of 
comprehensive income in two separate consecutive statements in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standard Board’s amended guidance 
on the presentation of comprehensive income. The new guidance was effective for the Company January 1, 2012.  
   

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-04, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common Fair 
Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs” (ASU 2011-04). This newly issued accounting standard clarifies 
the application of certain existing fair value measurement guidance and expands the disclosures for fair value measurements that are estimated 
using significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs. The provisions of this new disclosure standard are effective January 1, 2012.  This accounting 
standard update did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial statements.  
 
(3) Share-based Compensation  
   

During the three-month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company recognized share-based compensation expense of $4.2 
million and $3.8 million, respectively. Activity in options and restricted stock during the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 and related 
balances outstanding as of that date are reflected below. The weighted average fair value per share of options granted to employees for the three-
month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 were approximately $14.15 and $12.41, respectively.  
   

The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense included within the consolidated statements of operations:  
   

 
   

A summary of share-based compensation activity for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 is presented below:  
   
Stock Option Activity  
   

   
 
   
 

  

  For the three-month    

  period ended March 31,    
(In millions)  2012    2011    

              
Research and development    $ 1.0     $ 1.1   
Selling, general and administrative      3.2       2.7   

 Total    $ 4.2     $ 3.8   

    
Number of Shares  

(In thousands)      
Weighted Average  

Exercise Price      

Weighted Average  
Remaining  
Contractual  

Term      
Intrinsic Value  
(In thousands)    

Balance at January 1, 2012      4,793     $ 21.31               
Granted      914       26.36               
Cancelled      (22 )     28.61               
Exercised      (94 )     20.65               
Balance at March 31, 2012      5,591     $ 22.12       7.1     $ 31,867   
Vested and expected to vest at March 31, 2012      5,499     $ 22.06       7.1     $ 31,733   
Vested and exercisable at March 31, 2012      3,106     $ 18.87       5.6     $ 27,458   
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Restricted Stock Activity  
   

 
   

As of March 31, 2012, there was $48.5 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested options and restricted stock 
awards that the Company expects to recognize over a weighted average period of approximately 2.8 years.  
   
(4) Earnings Per Share  
   

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the three-month periods ended March 31, 
2012 and 2011:  
   

 
   

The difference between basic and diluted shares is that diluted shares include the dilutive effect of outstanding securities. The 
Company’s stock options and unvested shares of restricted common stock could have the most significant impact on diluted shares.  
   

Securities that could potentially be dilutive are excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share when a loss from 
continuing operations exists or when the exercise price exceeds the average closing price of the Company’s common stock during the period, 
because their inclusion would result in an anti-dilutive effect on per share amounts.  
   

The following amounts were not included in the calculation of net income per diluted share because their effects were anti-dilutive:  
   

 
   
 

  

(In thousands)  
Restricted Stock    

Number of Shares  
Nonvested at January 1, 2012    377 
Granted    290 
Vested    —
Forfeited    (2) 
Nonvested at March 31, 2012    665 

(In thousands, except per share data)    

Three-month  
period ended  

March 31, 2012      

Three-month  
period ended  

March 31, 2011    

Basic and diluted              
Net income (loss)    $ 7,846     $ (672 ) 
Weighted average common shares outstanding used in computing net income (loss) per share—basic      39,340       38,781   
Plus: net effect of dilutive stock options and restricted common shares      1,067       —  
Weighted average common shares outstanding used in computing net income (loss) per share—

diluted      40,407       38,781   
Net income (loss) per share—basic    $ 0.20     $ (0.02 ) 
Net income (loss) per share—diluted    $ 0.19     $ (0.02 ) 

(In thousands)  

Three-month  
period ended  

March 31, 2012  
  Three-month  

period ended  
March 31, 2011  

Denominator        
Dilutive stock options and restricted common shares  5,189   5,523 
Convertible note  67   67 
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  (5) Income Taxes  
   

The Company had available federal net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards of approximately $215.6 million and $230.4 million and 
state NOL carryforwards of approximately $175.0 million and $205.9 million as of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 respectively which 
may be available to offset future taxable income, if any. The federal losses are expected to expire between 2022 and 2030 while the state losses 
are expected to expire between 2018 and 2030. The Company also has research and development tax credit carryforwards of approximately $4.0 
million as of March 31, 2012, for federal income tax reporting purposes that may be available to reduce federal income taxes, if any, and expire 
in future years beginning in 2019.  The Company is no longer subject to federal or state income tax audits for tax years prior to 2006; however, 
such taxing authorities can review any net operating losses utilized by the Company in years subsequent to 1999. The Company also has 
Alternative Minimum Tax credit carryforwards of $1.4 million and $1.1 million as of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, 
respectively.  Such credits can be carried forward indefinitely and have no expiration date.  
   

At March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company had a deferred tax asset of $143.9 million and $147.6 million, respectively, 
offset by a full valuation allowance. Since inception, the Company has incurred substantial losses and may incur losses in future periods. The 
Tax Reform Act of 1986 (the “Act”) provides for a limitation of the annual use of NOL and research and development tax credit carryforwards 
(following certain ownership changes, as defined by the Act) that could significantly limit the Company’s ability to utilize these 
carryforwards.  The Company has experienced various ownership changes as a result of past financings. Accordingly, the Company’s ability to 
utilize the aforementioned carryforwards may be limited. Additionally, because U.S. tax laws limit the time during which these carryforwards 
may be applied against future taxes, the Company may not be able to take full advantage of these attributes for federal income tax purposes. 
Because of the above-mentioned factors, the Company has not recognized its gross deferred tax assets as of and for all periods presented. As of 
March 31, 2012, management believes that it is more likely than not that the gross deferred tax assets will not be realized based on future 
operations and reversal of deferred tax liabilities. Accordingly, the Company has provided a full valuation allowance against its gross deferred 
tax assets and no tax benefit has been recognized relative to its pretax losses.  
   
 
(6) Fair Value Measurements  
   

The following table presents information about the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of 
March 31, 2012 and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized to determine such fair value. In general, fair values 
determined by Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Fair values determined by 
Level 2 inputs utilize data points that are observable, such as quoted prices, interest rates and yield curves. Fair values determined by Level 3 
inputs utilize unobservable data points for the asset or liability. The Company’s Level 1 assets consist of time deposits and investments in a 
Treasury money market fund and high-quality government bonds and are valued using market prices on the active markets.  Level 1 instrument 
valuations are obtained from real-time quotes for transactions in active exchange markets involving identical assets. The Company’s Level 3 
liability represents our put/call liability related to the Paul Royalty Fund (PRF) transaction. No changes in valuation techniques or inputs 
occurred during the three months ended March 31, 2012. No transfers of assets between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value measurement 
hierarchy occurred during the three-month period ended March 31, 2012.  
   

   
 
   
 

  

(In thousands)    Level 1      Level 2      Level 3    

Assets Carried at Fair Value:                    
Cash equivalents    $ 42,287     $ —    $ —  
Short-term investments      222,945       —      —  
Long-term investments      17,046       —      —  
Liabilities Carried at Fair Value:                          
Put/call liability      —      —      495   

  
10 



 
   

The following table presents additional information about assets and/or liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and for 
which the Company utilizes Level 3 inputs to determine fair value.  
   

 
   

The Company currently estimates the fair value of our put/call liability using a discounted cash flow valuation technique. Using this 
approach, historical and expected future cash flows are calculated over the expected life of the PRF agreement, are discounted, and then exercise 
scenario probabilities are applied. Some of the more significant assumptions made in the valuation include (i) the estimated Zanaflex revenue 
forecast and (ii) the likelihood of put/call exercise trigger events such as bankruptcy and change of control. The valuation is performed 
periodically when the significant assumptions change.  Realized gains and losses are included in sales, general and administrative expenses.  
   

The put/call liability has been classified as a Level 3 asset as its valuation requires substantial judgment and estimation of factors that 
are not currently observable in the market due to the lack of trading in the security. If different assumptions were used for the various inputs to 
the valuation approach including, but not limited to, assumptions involving the estimated Zanaflex revenue forecast and the likelihood of trigger 
events, the estimated fair value could be significantly higher or lower than the fair value we determined. The Company may be required to record 
losses in future periods, which may be significant.  
   
(7) Investments  
 

The Company has determined that all of its investments are classified as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried at 
fair value with interest on these securities included in interest income and are recorded based primarily on quoted market prices. Available-for-
sale securities consisted of the following:  
   

   
The contractual maturities of short-term available-for-sale debt securities at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 are within one 

year. The contractual and intended maturities of long-term available-for-sale debt securities at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 are 
greater than one year. The Company has determined that there were no other-than-temporary declines in the fair values of its investments as of 
March 31, 2012. Short-term investments with maturity of three months or less from date of purchase have been classified as cash equivalents, 
and amounted to $42.3 million and $38.3 million   as of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.  
   
(8) Collaborations, Alliances, and Other Agreements  
   
Biogen  
   

On June 30, 2009, the Company entered into an exclusive collaboration and license agreement with Biogen Idec International GmbH 
(Biogen Idec) to develop and commercialize Ampyra (known as Fampyra outside the U.S.) in markets outside the United States (the 
“Collaboration Agreement”). Under the Collaboration Agreement, Biogen Idec was granted the exclusive right to commercialize Ampyra and 
other products containing aminopyridines developed under that agreement in all countries outside of the United States, which grant includes a 
sublicense of the Company’s rights under an existing license agreement between the Company and Alkermes plc (Alkermes), formerly Elan 
Corporation, plc (Elan). Biogen Idec has responsibility for regulatory activities and future clinical development of Fampyra in ex-U.S. markets 
worldwide. The  
 

  

(In thousands)    
Balance as of  

December 31, 2011      

Realized (gains)  
losses included  

in net loss      

Unrealized  
(gains) losses included 

in other  
comprehensive  

loss      
Balance as of  

March 31, 2012    

Liabilities Carried at Fair Value:                          
Put/call liability    $ 1,030     $ (535 )   $ —    $ 495   

(In thousands)    
Amortized  

Cost      

Gross  
unrealized  

gains      

Gross  
unrealized  

losses      

Estimated  
fair  

value    

March 31, 2012                          
US Treasury bonds    $ 240,027     $ 9     $ (45 )   $ 239,991   

December 31, 2011                                  
US Treasury bonds      237,887       72       (6 )     237,953   
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Company also entered into a related supply agreement with Biogen Idec (the “Supply Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company will supply 
Biogen Idec with its requirements for the licensed products through the Company’s existing supply agreement with Alkermes.  
 

Under the Collaboration Agreement, the Company was entitled to an upfront payment of $110.0 million as of June 30, 2009, which was 
received in July 2009, and a $25 million milestone payment upon approval of the product in the European Union, which was received in August 
2011. The Company is also entitled to receive additional payments of up to $10 million based on the successful achievement of future regulatory 
milestones and up to $365 million based on the successful achievement of future sales milestones. Due to the uncertainty surrounding the 
achievement of the future regulatory and sales milestones, these payments will not be recognized as revenue unless and until they are earned. 
The Company is not able to reasonably predict if and when the milestones will be achieved. Under the Collaboration Agreement, Biogen Idec 
will be required to make double-digit tiered royalty payments to the Company on ex-U.S. sales. In addition, the consideration that Biogen Idec 
will pay for licensed products under the Supply Agreement will reflect the price owed to the Company’s suppliers under its supply arrangements 
with Alkermes or other suppliers for ex-U.S. sales. The Company and Biogen Idec may also carry out future joint development activities 
regarding licensed product under a cost-sharing arrangement. Under the terms of the Collaboration Agreement, the Company, in part through its 
participation in joint committees with Biogen Idec, will participate in overseeing the development and commercialization of Ampyra and other 
licensed products in markets outside the United States pursuant to that agreement. Acorda will continue to develop and commercialize Ampyra 
independently in the United States.  
 

As of June 30, 2009, the Company recorded a license receivable and deferred revenue of $110.0 million for the upfront payment due to 
the Company from Biogen Idec under the Collaboration Agreement. Also, as a result of such payment to Acorda, a payment of $7.7 million 
became payable by Acorda to Alkermes and was recorded as a cost of license payable and deferred expense. The payment of $110.0 million was 
received from Biogen Idec on July 1, 2009 and the payment of $7.7 million was made to Alkermes on July 7, 2009.  
 

The Company considered the following deliverables with respect to the revenue recognition of the $110.0 million upfront payment:  (1) 
the license to use the Company’s technology, (2) the Collaboration Agreement to develop and commercialize licensed product in all countries 
outside the U.S., and (3) the Supply Agreement. Due to the inherent uncertainty in obtaining regulatory approval, the applicability of the Supply 
Agreement is outside the control of the Company and Biogen Idec. Accordingly, the Company has determined the Supply Agreement is a 
contingent deliverable at the onset of the agreement.  As a result, the Company has determined the Supply Agreement does not meet the 
definition of a deliverable that needs to be accounted for at the inception of the arrangement. The Company has also determined that there is no 
significant and incremental discount related to the supply agreement since Biogen Idec will pay the same amount for inventory that the Company 
would pay and the Company effectively acts as a middle man in the arrangement for which it adds no significant value due to various factors 
such as the Company does not have any manufacturing capabilities or other knowhow with respect to the manufacturing process.  
 

The Company has determined that the identified non-contingent deliverables (deliverables 1 and 2 immediately preceding) would have 
no value on a standalone basis if they were sold separately by a vendor and the customer could not resell the delivered items on a standalone 
basis, nor does the Company have objective and reliable evidence of fair value for the deliverables. Accordingly, the non-contingent deliverables 
are treated as one unit of accounting.  As a result, the Company will recognize the non-refundable upfront payment from Biogen Idec as revenue 
and the associated payment to Alkermes as expense ratably over the estimated term of regulatory exclusivity for the licensed products under the 
Collaboration Agreement as the Company had determined this was the most probable expected benefit period. The Company recognized $2.3 
million in license revenue, a portion of the $110.0 million received from Biogen Idec, and $159,000 in cost of license revenue, a portion of the 
$7.7 million paid to Alkermes, during the three-month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  
 

On January 21, 2011 Biogen Idec announced that the European Medicines Agency’s (EMA) Committee for Medicinal Products for 
Human Use (CHMP) decided against approval of Fampyra to improve walking ability in adult patients with multiple sclerosis.  Biogen Idec, 
working closely with the Company, filed a formal appeal of the decision.  In May 2011, the CHMP recommended conditional marketing 
authorization, and in July 2011 Biogen Idec received conditional approval from the European Commission for, Fampyra (prolonged-release 
fampridine tablets) for the improvement of walking in adult patients with MS with walking disability (Expanded Disability Status Scale of 4-7). 
The Company changed the amortization period on a prospective basis during the three-month period ended March 31, 2011 by five months and 
currently estimates the recognition period to be approximately 12 years from the date of the Collaboration Agreement.  
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As part of its ex-U.S. license agreement, Biogen Idec owes Acorda royalties based on ex-U.S. net sales, and milestones based on ex-

U.S. regulatory approval, new indications, and ex-U.S. net sales.  These milestones included a $25 million payment for approval of the product 
in the European Union which was recorded and paid in the three month period ended September 30, 2011. Based on Acorda’s worldwide license 
and supply agreement with Alkermes, Alkermes received 7% of this milestone payment from Acorda during the same period.  For revenue 
recognition purposes, the Company has determined this milestone to be substantive in accordance with applicable accounting guidance related to 
milestone revenue.  Substantive uncertainty existed at the inception of the arrangement as to whether the milestone would be achieved because 
of the numerous variables, such as the high rate of failure inherent in the research and development of new products and the uncertainty involved 
with obtaining regulatory approval. Biogen leveraged Acorda’s U.S. Ampyra study results that contributed to the regulatory approval process. 
Therefore, the milestone was achieved based in part on Acorda’s past performance.  The milestone was also reasonable relative to all deliverable 
and payment terms of the collaboration arrangement. Therefore, the payment was recognized in its entirety as revenue and the cost of the 
milestone revenue was recognized in its entirety as an expense during the three-month period ended September 30, 2011.  
 

Cost of license revenue includes $159,000 in cost of license revenue, which represents the amortized portion of the $7.7 million paid to 
Alkermes in 2009, for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  
 
Watson  
   

The Company has an agreement with Watson Pharma, Inc., a subsidiary of Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc., to market tizanidine 
hydrochloride capsules, an authorized generic version of Zanaflex Capsules, which was launched in February 2012.  In accordance with the 
Watson agreement, the Company receives a royalty based on Watson’s gross margin, as defined by the agreement, of the authorized generic 
product. During the three-month period ended March 31, 2012, the Company recognized royalty revenue of $1.5 million related to the gross 
margin of the Zanaflex Capsule authorized generic.  During the three-month period ended March 31, 2012, the Company also recognized 
revenue and a corresponding cost of sales of $1.1 million, respectively, related to the purchase and sale of the related Zanaflex Capsule 
authorized generic product to Watson, which is recorded in net product revenues and cost of sales.  
 
Neuronex  
   

In February 2012, the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary ATI Development Corp. (ATI) entered into an agreement to acquire 
(the Agreement) Neuronex, Inc., a privately-held development stage pharmaceutical company (Neuronex).  Neuronex is developing Diazepam 
nasal spray, or DZNS, under Section 505(b)(2) of the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act as a rescue treatment for certain seizures.      
 

Under the terms of the Agreement, upon closing of the acquisition, Acorda would pay $6.8 million in cash, subject to adjustment in 
accordance with the provisions of the Agreement.  After closing, the former equity holders of Neuronex will be entitled to receive from Acorda 
up to an additional $18 million in contingent earnout payments upon the achievement of specified regulatory and manufacturing-related 
milestones with respect to the DZNS product, and up to $105 million upon the achievement of specified sales milestones with respect to the 
DZNS product.  The former equity holders of Neuronex will also be entitled to receive tiered royalty-like earnout payments, ranging from the 
upper single digits to lower double digits, on worldwide net sales of DZNS products.  These payments are payable on a country-by-country basis 
until the earlier to occur of ten years after the first commercial sale of a product in such country and the entry of generic competition in such 
country as defined in the Agreement.  
 

Neuronex licenses the patent and other intellectual property and other rights relating to the DZNS product from SK Biopharmaceuticals 
Co., Ltd. (SK).  Pursuant to the SK license, which grants worldwide rights to Neuronex, except certain specified Asian countries, Neuronex is 
obligated to pay SK up to $8 million upon the achievement of specified development milestones with respect to the DZNS product and up to $3 
million upon the achievement of specified sales milestones with respect to the DZNS product.  Also, Neuronex is obligated to pay SK a tiered, 
mid-single digit royalty on net sales of DZNS products.  Upon the potential closing of the acquisition, Acorda will be responsible for these 
milestone payments and royalties, in addition to the earnout payments described above.  
 

Consummation of the acquisition is subject to certain conditions, including (i) Acorda’s receipt of the official minutes (the “FDA 
Minutes”) from a meeting contemplated by the Agreement to be held among Acorda, Neuronex, and the U.S. Food and Drug Administration 
with respect to the DZNS product and a contemplated filing of the New Drug Application for the product, (ii) consent of SK to the transactions 
contemplated by the Agreement, and (iii) other conditions customary for a transaction of this type.  
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Consummation of the acquisition is also subject to the parties not exercising their rights to terminate the Agreement.  Under the 

Agreement, (i) Acorda has the right to terminate the Agreement at any time prior to closing, even if the closing conditions have been satisfied, 
and Neuronex can terminate the Agreement after a specified time period has elapsed after receipt of the FDA Minutes, and (ii) both Acorda and 
Neuronex have termination rights in the event of certain breaches of representations or covenants by the other party.  
 

Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company made an upfront payment of $2.0 million and paid $500,000 during the three-month 
period ended March 31, 2012 of the up to $1.2 million in research funding to prepare for the diazepam nasal spray pre-NDA meeting with the 
FDA.  Following the pre-NDA meeting, if the conditions described above have been met and termination rights are not exercised, the Company 
will complete the acquisition of Neuronex by paying the $6.8 million closing payment referred to above.  
 

The Company evaluated the transaction based upon the guidance of ASC 805, Business Combinations , and concluded that it will only 
acquire inputs and will not acquire any processes.  The Company will need to develop its own processes in order to produce an output.  
Therefore the Company expects to account for the transaction as an asset acquisition and accordingly the $2.0 million upfront payment and the 
$500,000 research funding were expensed as research and development expense during the three-month period ended March 31, 2012.  
   
(9) Commitments and Contingencies  
   

A summary of the Company’s commitments and contingencies was included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
twelve-month period ended December 31, 2011. The Company’s long-term contractual obligations include commitments and estimated purchase 
obligations entered into in the normal course of business.     
   

The Company may be, from time to time, a party to various disputes and claims arising from normal business activities. The Company 
accrues for loss contingencies when information available indicates that it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of such 
loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on 
the Company’s financial condition or liquidity. However, adjustments, if any, to the Company’s estimates could be material to operating results 
for the periods in which adjustments to the liability are recorded. As of March 31, 2012, there have been no accruals for loss contingencies aside 
from payments related to litigation itself.  
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Item 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  
   

The following discussion and analysis of our consolidated financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction 
with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.  
   
Background  
   

We are a commercial-stage biopharmaceutical company dedicated to the identification, development and commercialization of novel 
therapies that improve neurological function in people with multiple sclerosis, or MS, spinal cord injury, SCI, and other disorders of the nervous 
system .  
   
Ampyra  
   

General  
   

Ampyra was approved by the FDA in January 2010 for the improvement of walking in people with MS. To our knowledge, Ampyra is 
the first and only product approved for this indication. Efficacy was shown in people with all four major types of MS (relapsing remitting, 
secondary progressive, progressive relapsing and primary progressive).  Ampyra was made commercially available in the United States in March 
2010.  Net revenue for Ampyra was $57.4 million for the three-months ended March 31, 2012 and $46.8 million for the three-months ended 
March 31, 2011.  As of February 2012, approximately 70% of all people with MS who were prescribed Ampyra received a first refill, and 
approximately 40% of all people with MS who were prescribed Ampyra received a sixth refill, consistent with previously reported trends.  
   

Ampyra is marketed in the United States through our own specialty sales force and commercial infrastructure. We currently have 
approximately 90 sales representatives in the field calling on a priority target list of approximately 7,000 physicians.  We also have established 
teams of Regional Scientific Managers, Regional Reimbursement Directors, and Managed Markets account managers who provide information 
and assistance to payers and physicians on Ampyra.  
   

Pursuant to our REMS approved by the FDA, Ampyra is distributed in the United States exclusively through:  a limited network of 
specialty pharmacy providers that deliver the medication to patients by mail; Kaiser Permanente, which distributes Ampyra to patients through a 
closed network of on-site pharmacies; and ASD Specialty Healthcare, Inc. (an AmerisourceBergen affiliate), which is the exclusive specialty 
pharmacy distributor for Ampyra to the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, or VA.  All of these customers are contractually obligated to hold 
no more than 30 days of inventory.  
   

We have contracted with a third party organization with extensive experience in coordinating patient benefits to run Ampyra Patient 
Support Services, or APSS, a dedicated resource that coordinates the prescription process among healthcare providers, people with MS, and 
insurance carriers.  Processing of most incoming requests for prescriptions by APSS begins within 24 hours of receipt. Patients will experience a 
range of times to receive their first shipment based on the processing time for insurance requirements. As with any prescription product, patients 
who are members of benefit plans that have restrictive prior authorizations may experience delays in receiving their prescription.  
   

Three of the largest national health plans in the U.S. – Aetna, United Healthcare and Cigna – have listed Ampyra in the lowest branded 
co-pay tier of their commercial preferred drug list or formulary.  
   

License and Collaboration Agreement with Biogen Idec  
   

Ampyra is marketed as Fampyra outside the U.S. by Biogen Idec International GmbH, or Biogen Idec, under a license and collaboration 
agreement that we entered into in June 2009.     Biogen Idec has received conditional approval from the European Commission for Fampyra, and 
to date Biogen Idec has launched Fampyra in Germany, the United Kingdom, Denmark, Norway and Iceland.  Launch in most of the remaining 
EU countries is expected by the end of 2012.  Also, in May 2011, Fampyra was approved for use in Australia by the Australian Therapeutic 
Goods Administration, and has been launched there.  In November 2011, Biogen received approval from the New Zealand Medicines and 
Medical Devices Safety Authority (MEDSAFE), and in February 2012 Biogen Idec received approval from Health Canada and has launched 
Fampyra in Canada.  Biogen Idec plans to submit regulatory filings for Fampyra in more than 30 countries in 2012.  We received a $25 million 
milestone payment from Biogen Idec in 2011, which was triggered by Biogen Idec’s receipt of conditional approval from the European 
Commission for Fampyra.  The next expected milestone payment would be $15 million, due when ex-U.S. net sales exceed $100 million over 
four consecutive quarters.  
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Ampyra Development Programs  

   
We believe there is potential for Ampyra to be applied to other indications within MS and also in other neurological conditions.  For 

example, in December 2011, we initiated a Phase 2 proof-of-concept clinical study of dalfampridine in adults with cerebral palsy, and we expect 
to announce initial study results by the end of 2012.  Also, we plan to begin a Phase 2 proof-of-concept trial of dalfampridine in post-stroke 
deficits in the second quarter of 2012, earlier than previously expected.  This study is expected to enroll patients who have experienced a stroke 
and who have stabilized with chronic neurologic deficits, which may include walking impairment and arm weakness.  Over the first few months 
following a stroke, patients typically show some degree of spontaneous recovery of function, which may be enhanced by rehabilitation and 
physical therapy.  This trial will target motor impairments that remain after such recovery.  We also are providing grants for investigator-initiated 
studies looking for potential benefits on a range of functional deficits in MS and other neurological disorders.  
   

Patent Update Related to Ampyra  
   

On August 30, 2011, the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, issued U.S. Patent No. US 8,007,826 with claims 
relating to methods to improve walking in patients with MS by administering 10 mg of sustained release 4-aminopyridine (dalfampridine) twice 
daily. Based on the USPTO’s final patent term adjustment calculation this patent will extend into 2027.  This patent is listed in the Orange Book. 
   

On August 10, 2011, we announced that the USPTO had allowed U.S. Patent Application No. 11/102,559 with claims relating to 
methods to improve walking, walking speed, lower extremity muscle tone and lower extremity muscle strength in patients with MS by 
administering 10 mg of sustained release 4-aminopyridine (dalfampridine) twice daily. Also in 2011,   the European Patent Office, or EPO, 
granted the counterpart European patent with claims relating to, among other things, use of a sustained release aminopyridine composition, such 
as dalfampridine, to increase walking speed.  In March 2012, Synthon B.V. and neuraxpharm Arzneimittel GmBH filed oppositions with the 
EPO challenging this granted European patent.  We intend to vigorously defend the European patent, although the outcome of opposition 
proceedings is unpredictable.  In light of the European oppositions, in April 2012, the Company requested further review by the USPTO of the 
U.S. patent which was allowed but had not yet issued. The USPTO has conducted its further review and issued a new Notice of Allowance.  
   
Zanaflex  
   

Zanaflex Capsules and Zanaflex tablets are FDA-approved as short-acting drugs for the management of spasticity, a symptom of many 
central nervous system, or CNS, disorders, including MS and SCI. These products contain tizanidine hydrochloride, one of the two leading drugs 
used to treat spasticity.  We launched Zanaflex Capsules in April 2005 as part of our strategy to build a commercial platform for the potential 
market launch of Ampyra.  Combined net revenue of Zanaflex Capsules and Zanaflex tablets was $7.2 million for the three-months ended March 
31, 2012 and $12.2 million for the three-months ended March 31, 2011.  The commercial launch of generic tizanidine hydrochloride capsules in 
February 2012 by Apotex and potentially others, including our own authorized generic product being marketed by Watson Pharma, has caused a 
decline in sales of Zanaflex Capsules and is expected to cause the Company’s net revenue from Zanaflex Capsules to decline significantly in 
2012 and beyond.  
   
Research & Development Programs  
   

Our lead research and development programs include three distinct therapeutic approaches to restoring neurologic and cardiac function 
and a fourth program, initiated in 2011, to develop an acute treatment for neurological trauma. We believe that these programs have broad 
applicability and have the potential to be first-in-class therapies. While our existing programs have been focused on MS and SCI, we believe 
they may be applicable across a number of CNS disorders, including stroke and TBI, because many of the mechanisms of tissue damage and 
repair are similar. In addition, we believe that some of our research and development programs may have applicability beyond the nervous 
system, including in the field of cardiology.  
   

Glial Growth Factor 2  
   

We are conducting a Phase 1 clinical trial of GGF2 in heart failure patients and expect to announce preliminary trial results in the 
second half of 2012.  If we are able to establish a proof of concept for treatment of heart failure through human  
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clinical studies, we may decide to develop the product independently or to enter into a partnership, most likely with a cardiovascular-focused 
company.  
   

Remyelinating Antibodies  
   

We previously announced that we expected to file an IND for one of the remyelinating antibodies, rHIgM22, for the treatment of MS in 
the first half of 2012 and that we expected to begin a Phase 1 clinical trial by the end of 2012.  However, we have delayed the IND filing pending 
resolution of issues with a bioactivity assay, and the timing of a Phase 1 clinical trial is now uncertain.  In preparation for the IND filing, we 
worked with a contract manufacturer to complete the scale-up manufacturing and purification processes and completed formal preclinical safety 
and toxicity studies.  The manufacturing data, clinical plans and preclinical safety profile will be subject to FDA review as part of our IND filing, 
if and when we successfully complete the bioactivity release assay.  
   

Chondroitinase Program  
   

We are continuing research, which has been funded in part by federal and state grants, on the potential use of chondroitinases for the 
treatment of injuries to the brain and spinal cord, as well as other neurotraumatic indications.  The chondroitinase program is in the research and 
translational development phase and has not yet entered formal preclinical development.  We are exploring the possibility of obtaining additional 
research grants from the National Institutes of Health, or NIH, as well as potential partnerships with other companies to support our efforts.  
   

AC 105  
   

In June 2011, we entered into a License Agreement with Medtronic, Inc. and one of its affiliates, pursuant to which we acquired 
worldwide development and commercialization rights to certain formulations of magnesium with a polymer such as polyethylene glycol (which 
we refer to as AC105).  Pursuant to the License Agreement, we paid Medtronic an upfront fee of $3 million and are obligated to pay up to an 
additional $32 million upon the achievement of specified regulatory and development milestones.  If we commercialize AC105, we will also be 
obligated to pay a single-digit royalty on sales. We plan to study AC105 as an acute treatment for patients who have suffered neurological 
trauma, such as SCI and TBI. We expect to begin enrollment in a Phase 2 clinical trial in patients with acute SCI in the second half of 2012.  
   
Ardsley Lease  
   

In June 2011, we entered into a 15 year lease for an aggregate of approximately 138,000 square feet of office and laboratory space in 
Ardsley, New York.  Base rent will initially be $3.4 million per year, subject to a 2.5% annual increase. We have options to extend the lease term 
for three additional five-year periods, and may terminate the lease after 10 years, subject to payment of an early termination fee.  We also have 
the right to lease up to approximately 120,000 additional square feet of space in additional buildings at the same location.  We anticipate taking 
possession of the new space in June 2012, subject to completion of certain improvements that must be finished prior to our occupancy.  
   
Outlook for 2012  
   
Financial Guidance for 2012  
 

We are providing the following guidance with respect to our 2012 financial performance. The following does not reflect any potential 
expenditures related to the Neuronex transaction described below .  
 

 

 

 

  

•   We expect 2012 net revenue from the sale of Ampyra to range from $255 million to $275 million.  

•   We expect combined net revenues from sales of Zanaflex Capsules (including from sales of authorized generic tizanidine hydrochloride 
under our agreement with Watson Pharma) and Zanaflex tablets, and royalty revenue from sales by Biogen Idec of Fampyra outside the 
U.S., of at least $25 million.  

•   Research and development expenses are expected to range from $50 million to $60 million, excluding share-based compensation 
charges.  These expenses will include post-marketing studies for Ampyra, Phase 2 proof-of-concept studies in cerebral palsy and post-
stroke deficits, and sponsorship of investigator-initiated studies of Ampyra.  
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The range of SG&A and R&D expenditures for 2012 are non-GAAP financial measures because they exclude share-based 

compensation charges.  Non-GAAP financial measures are not an alternative for financial measures prepared in accordance with 
GAAP.  However, we believe the presentation of these non-GAAP financial measures, when viewed in conjunction with actual GAAP results, 
provides investors with a more meaningful understanding of our projected operating performance because they exclude non-cash charges that are 
substantially dependent on changes in the market price of our common stock.  We believe that non-GAAP financial measures that exclude share-
based compensation charges help indicate underlying trends in our business, and are important in comparing current results with prior period 
results and understanding expected operating performance.  Also, our management uses non-GAAP financial measures that exclude share-based 
compensation charges to establish budgets and operational goals, and to manage our business and to evaluate its performance.  
   
Key 2012 Initiatives and Expected Developments  
 

Our key initiatives and expected developments during 2012 are as follows:  
   
Targeted Development Milestones  
   

Our goals with respect to our development pipeline in 2012 are as follows:  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Neuronex Acquisition Agreement and Development of DZNS  
   

On February 15, 2012, we entered into an agreement with Neuronex, Inc., which is preparing a 505(b)(2) type NDA for a proprietary 
nasal spray formulation of Diazepam, or DZNS, as a rescue treatment for certain epilepsy patients.  We made an upfront payment of $2 million 
upon signing the agreement and will fund up to $1.2 million (of which we paid $500,000 during the three-month period ended March 31, 2012) 
in research and development costs prior to closing.  
   

The closing is subject to a number of conditions including our satisfaction with the results of a meeting to be held with the FDA 
regarding Neuronex’s expected NDA filing.  Following the pre-NDA meeting, we can, at our option, complete the acquisition by paying an 
additional $6.8 million in consideration.  If we do not complete the transaction, other than as a result of a breach by Neuronex, Neuronex is 
entitled to retain all amounts previously paid by us as a break-up fee and we have no further obligations to Neuronex.  
   

If we consummate the acquisition and the Neuronex product is approved by the FDA, additional potential payments would include up to 
$18 million to the former Neuronex equity holders in earnout payments upon the achievement of  
 

  

•   Selling, general and administrative expenses are expected to range from $145 million to $160 million, excluding share-based 
compensation charges.  The principal factors affecting SG&A will be commercial and administrative costs related to Ampyra.  

•   We expect to be cash flow positive in 2012.  

•   Our Phase 2 proof-of-concept clinical trial of dalfampridine in adults with cerebral palsy, which was commenced in December 2011, is 
ongoing.  We expect to announce initial study results by the end of 2012.  

•   A Phase 2 proof-of-concept clinical trial of dalfampridine in post stroke deficits is expected to begin in the second quarter of 2012, 
earlier than previously expected.  

•   Initial study results from our ongoing GGF2 Phase 1 clinical trial are expected to be announced in the second half of 2012.  

•   A Phase 2 clinical trial of AC105 in patients with acute SCI is expected to begin in the second half of 2012.  

•   We previously announced that we planned to submit an IND for rHIgM22 with the FDA in the first half of 2012, and that we planned to 
begin a Phase 1 clinical trial by the end of 2012.  However, we have delayed the IND filing pending resolution of issues with a 
bioactivity assay, and the timing of a Phase 1 clinical trial is now uncertain.  

•   Funding of investigator-initiated studies of Ampyra in MS, focused on a range of neurological functions and other neurological 
disorders, will be ongoing in 2012.  

  

18 



 
specified regulatory and manufacturing-related milestones and up to $105 million upon the achievement of specified sales milestones.  The 
former Neuronex equity holders would also be entitled to receive milestone and royalty-like earnout payments from us based on worldwide net 
sales, ranging from the upper single digits to lower double digits.  
   

In addition to the potential payments to former Neuronex equity holders, if we consummate the acquisition, we would be obligated to 
pay certain amounts to SK Biopharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (“SK”), the licensor of the patent and other intellectual property and other rights 
relating to the DZNS product, under its license agreement with Neuronex.  Pursuant to this license, Neuronex is obligated to pay SK up to $8 
million upon the achievement of specified development milestones with respect to the DZNS product (including $1 million upon the FDA’s 
acceptance of the NDA for the DZNS product), and up to $3 million upon the achievement of specified sales milestones with respect to the 
DZNS product.  Also, Neuronex is obligated to pay SK a tiered, mid-single digit royalty on net sales of DZNS products.  
   

If the acquisition is completed, we will assume oversight and financial responsibility for Neuronex’s development and regulatory 
programs for diazepam nasal spray.  We expect that these expenses would not exceed $8 million in 2012.  
   
Ardsley Lease  
   

We expect to move into our new facility in Ardsley, New York in June 2012, subject to completion of certain improvements, which are 
being funded in part by us and in part by the owner of the facility.  
   
Results of Operations  
   
Three-Month Period Ended March 31, 2012 Compared to March 31, 2011  
   
Net Product Revenues  
   
Ampyra  
   

We recognize product sales of Ampyra following shipment of product to our network of specialty pharmacy providers, Kaiser and the 
specialty distributor to the VA.  We recognized net revenue from the sale of Ampyra to these customers of $57.4million and $46.8 million for 
the three-month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  This net revenue of Ampyra reflected a 7.5% increase in our sale price 
effective March 4, 2011 and a 15% increase in our sale price effective January 3, 2012.  
   

Discounts and allowances which are included as an offset in net revenue consists of allowances for customer credits, including 
estimated chargebacks, rebates, discounts and returns. Discounts and allowances are recorded following shipment of Ampyra tablets to our 
network of specialty pharmacy providers, Kaiser and the specialty distributor to the VA.  Adjustments are recorded for estimated chargebacks, 
rebates, and discounts.  Discounts and allowances also consist of discounts provided to Medicare beneficiaries whose prescription drug costs 
cause them to be subject to the Medicare Part D coverage gap (i.e., the “donut hole”).  Payment of coverage gap discounts is required under the 
Affordable Care Act, the health care reform legislation enacted in 2010.  Discounts and allowances may increase as a percentage of sales as we 
enter into managed care contracts in the future.  
   
Zanaflex  
   

We recognize product sales of Zanaflex Capsules and Zanaflex tablets using a deferred revenue recognition model where shipments to 
wholesalers are recorded as deferred revenue and only recognized as revenue when end-user prescriptions of the product are reported. We also 
recognize product sales on the transfer price of product sold for an authorized generic of Zanaflex Capsules launched during the three-month 
period ended March 31, 2012.  We recognized net revenue from the sale of Zanaflex Capsules and Zanaflex tablets and the product sales of the 
authorized generic version of Zanaflex Capsules of $7.2 million for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012, as compared to $12.2 million 
for the three-month period ended March 31, 2011. The decrease was due to the commercial launch of generic versions of tizanidine 
hydrochloride capsules in February 2012.  Net product revenues also include $1.1 million, which represents the sale of Zanaflex Capsules 
authorized generic product to Watson for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012.  Generic competition has caused a decline in sales of 
Zanaflex Capsules and is expected to cause the Company’s net revenue from Zanaflex Capsules to decline significantly in 2012 and beyond.  
   

Discounts and allowances, which are included as an offset in net revenue, consist of allowances for customer credits, including 
estimated chargebacks, rebates, and discounts.  Adjustments are recorded for estimated chargebacks, rebates, and  
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discounts.  
   
License Revenue  
   

The Company recognized $2.3 million in license revenue for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2011related to the 
$110.0 million received from Biogen Idec in 2009 as part of our collaboration agreement. We currently estimate the recognition period to be 
approximately 12 years from the date of the Collaboration Agreement.  
   
Royalty Revenues  
   

The Company recognized $1.8 million and $96,000 in royalty revenue for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively related to ex-U.S. sales of Fampyra by Biogen Idec.  
   

The Company recognized $1.5 million in royalty revenue for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 related to the authorized 
generic sale of Zanaflex Capsules which started in February 2012.  
   
Cost of Sales  
   
Ampyra  
   

We recorded cost of sales of $10.3 million for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 as compared to $9.7 million for the three-
month period ended March 31, 2011. Cost of sales for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 consisted primarily of $8.8 million in 
inventory costs related to recognized revenues.  The cost of Ampyra inventory is based on a percentage of net product sales of the product in the 
quarter shipped to Acorda by Alkermes or our alternative manufacturer.  In a quarter when there is a price increase, such as the three-month 
period ended March 31, 2012, inventory costs as a percentage of net product revenue will be slightly lower for a period of time until all of our 
inventory on hand before the price increase is sold.  Due to this, we expect our inventory costs to increase slightly later in 2012.  Cost of sales for 
the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 also consisted of $1.2 million in royalty fees based on net sales, $147,000 in amortization of 
intangible assets, and $56,000 in period costs related to freight and stability testing.  

   
Cost of sales for the three-month period ended March 31, 2011 consisted primarily of $8.5 million in inventory costs related to 

recognized revenues.  Cost of sales for the three-month period ended March 31, 2011 also consisted of $970,000 in royalty fees based on net 
sales, $225,000 in amortization of intangible assets, and $32,000 in period costs related to freight and stability testing.  
   
Zanaflex  
   

We recorded cost of sales of $1.1 million for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 as compared to $2.3 million for the three-
month period ended March 31, 2011. Cost of sales for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 consisted of $628,000 in inventory costs 
primarily related to recognized revenues, $449,000 in royalty fees based on net product shipments, and $12,000 in period costs related to 
packaging, freight and stability testing. Cost of sales also includes $1.1 million, which represents the cost of Zanaflex Capsules authorized 
generic product sold for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012.  
   

Cost of sales for the three-month period ended March 31, 2011 consisted of $1.1 million in inventory costs primarily related to 
recognized revenues, $800,000 in royalty fees based on net product shipments, $321,000 in amortization of intangible assets, which is unrelated 
to either the volume of shipments or the amount of revenue recognized, and $67,000 in period costs related to freight and stability 
testing.  Payments to and interest expense related to the PRF transaction discussed below in the section titled “Liquidity and Capital Resources” 
do not impact the Company’s cost of sales.  
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Cost of License Revenue  
   

We recorded cost of license revenue of $159,000 for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  Cost of 
license revenue represents the recognition of a portion of the deferred $7.7 million paid to Elan in 2009 in connection with the $110.0 million 
received from Biogen Idec as a result of our collaboration agreement.  
   
Research and Development  
   

Research and development expenses for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 were $11.0 million as compared to $10.7 million 
for the three-month period ended March 31, 2011, an increase of approximately $300,000, or 3%. The increase was attributable to an increase in 
overall research and development staff and compensation of $662,000 to support the various research and development initiatives.  The increase 
was also attributable to a $2.5 million charge for Neuronex expenses representing a $2.0 million upfront payment plus a payment of $500,000 for 
research funding per the terms of the agreement we entered into with Neuronex during the first quarter of 2012.  These were offset by a decrease 
in our external clinical trial costs for Ampyra studies of $1.9 million and a decrease of $976,000 primarily resulting from a decrease in 
preclinical expenses for the remyelinating antibodies, rHIgM22, program.  
   
Selling, General and Administrative  
   

Sales and marketing expenses for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 were $25.1 million compared to $22.4 million for the 
three-month period ended March 31, 2011, an increase of approximately $2.7 million, or 12%.  The increase was attributable to an increase in 
overall marketing, selling, distribution, and market research expenses for Ampyra of $1.9 million.  The increase was also related to an increase in 
overall compensation, benefits, and other selling expenses attributable to Ampyra of $940,000. These increases were partially offset by a 
decrease in selling, marketing, and distribution expenses for Zanaflex Capsules of $153,000 due to the introduction of generic competition in the 
marketplace.  
   

General and administrative expenses for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 were $13.7 million compared to $15.5 million 
for the three-month period ended March 31, 2011, a decrease of approximately $1.8 million, or 12%. This decrease was primarily related to a 
decrease in expenses related to the Zanaflex Capsule patent infringement litigation of $1.6 million, a decrease in medical affairs educational 
programs of $713,000, a gain on our put/call liability related to the PRF revenue interest agreement of $535,000 and a decrease in depreciation 
and amortization of $300,000. The overall decrease in general and administrative expenses was partially offset by an increase in staff and 
compensation expenses to support the overall growth of the organization of $1.2 million and an increase in safety and regulatory expenses 
related to Ampyra of $473,000.  
   
Other Expense  
   

Other expense was $637,000 for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 compared to $996,000 for the three-month period ended 
March 31, 2011, a decrease of approximately $359,000, or 36%. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in interest expense of $370,000 
principally related to the PRF revenue interest agreement.  
   
Provision for Income Taxes  
   

We recorded a provision for income taxes of $372,000 and $117,000 for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively which represents Federal AMT and gross receipts taxes for certain states.  
   
Liquidity and Capital Resources  
   

Since our inception, we have financed our operations primarily through private placements and public offerings of our common stock 
and preferred stock, payments received under our collaboration and licensing agreements, sales of Ampyra and Zanaflex Capsules, and, to a 
lesser extent, from loans, government grants and our financing arrangement with PRF.  
   

We were cash flow positive in 2011 and, at March 31, 2012, we had $295.3 million of cash, cash equivalents and short-term and long-
term investments, compared to $295.9 million at December 31, 2011.  We expect to be cash flow positive in 2012. We believe that we have 
sufficient cash, cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments on hand, in addition to cash expected to be generated from operations, to 
fund our business plan for the next twelve months, including  
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our currently anticipated development pipeline activities in for the next twelve months and our anticipated payment commitments to Neuronex.  
   

Our future capital requirements will depend on a number of factors, including the amount of revenue generated from sales of Ampyra 
and Zanaflex Capsules, the continued progress of our research and development activities, the amount and timing of milestone or other payments 
payable under collaboration, license and acquisition agreements, the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and 
enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights, and the extent to which we acquire or in-license new products and compounds 
including the development costs relating to those products or compounds.  To the extent our capital resources are insufficient to meet future 
operating requirements we will need to raise additional capital, reduce planned expenditures, or incur indebtedness to fund our operations. If we 
require additional financing in the future, we cannot assure you that it will be available to us on favorable terms, or at all.  
   
Financing Arrangements  
   

In January 1997, Elan International Services, Ltd. (EIS) loaned us an aggregate of $7.5 million pursuant to two convertible promissory 
notes to partly fund our research and development activities. On December 23, 2005, Elan transferred these promissory notes to funds affiliated 
with Saints Capital.  As of March 31, 2012, $5.3 million of these promissory notes was outstanding, which amount includes accrued interest. The 
second of seven annual payments on this note was due and paid on the two year anniversary of Ampyra approval on January 22, 2012 and will 
continue to be paid annually until paid in full.  
   

On December 23, 2005, we entered into a revenue interest assignment agreement with PRF, a dedicated healthcare investment fund, 
pursuant to which we assigned to PRF the right to a portion of our net revenues (as defined in the agreement) from Zanaflex Capsules, Zanaflex 
tablets and any future Zanaflex products including the authorized generic version of Zanaflex Capsules being sold by Watson effective in 
February 2012. To secure our obligations to PRF, we also granted PRF a security interest in substantially all of our assets related to Zanaflex. 
Our agreement with PRF covers all Zanaflex net revenues generated from October 1, 2005 through and including December 31, 2015, including 
the authorized generic version of Zanaflex Capsules revenue, unless the agreement terminates earlier. In November 2006, we entered into an 
amendment to the revenue interest assignment agreement with PRF. Under the terms of the amendment, PRF paid us $5.0 million in November 
2006. An additional $5.0 million was due to us if net revenues during the fiscal year 2006 equaled or exceeded $25.0 million. This milestone was 
met and the receivable was reflected in our December 31, 2006 financial statements. Under the terms of the amendment, we repaid PRF 
$5.0 million on December 1, 2009 and an additional $5.0 million on December 1, 2010 since the net revenues milestone was met.  
   

Under the agreement and the amendment, PRF is entitled to the following portion of Zanaflex net revenues:  
   

   

   

   
Notwithstanding the foregoing, once PRF has received and retained payments under the agreement that are at least 2.1 times the 

aggregate amount PRF has paid us under the agreement, PRF will only be entitled to 1% of Zanaflex net revenues. In connection with the 
transaction, we recorded a liability as of March 31, 2012, referred to as the revenue interest liability, of approximately $3.1 million. We impute 
interest expense associated with this liability using the effective interest rate method and record a corresponding accrued interest liability. The 
effective interest rate is calculated based on the rate that would enable the debt to be repaid in full over the life of the arrangement. The interest 
rate on this liability may vary during the term of the agreement depending on a number of factors, including the level of Zanaflex sales. We 
currently estimate that the imputed interest rate associated with this liability will be approximately 5.6%. Payments made to PRF as a result of 
Zanaflex sales levels will reduce the accrued interest liability and the principal amount of the revenue interest liability.  
   

Upon the occurrence of certain events, including if we experience a change of control, undergo certain bankruptcy events, transfer any 
of our interests in Zanaflex (other than pursuant to a license agreement, development, commercialization,  
   
 

  

   •  with respect to Zanaflex net revenues up to and including $30.0 million for each fiscal year during the term of the agreement, 15% 
of such net revenues;  

   •  with respect to Zanaflex net revenues in excess of $30.0 million but less than and including $60.0 million for each fiscal year 
during the term of the agreement, 6% of such net revenues; and  

   •  with respect to Zanaflex net revenues in excess of $60.0 million for each fiscal year during the term of the agreement, 1% of such 
net revenues.  
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co-promotion, collaboration, partnering or similar agreement), transfer all or substantially all of our assets, or breach certain of the covenants, 
representations or warranties we make under the agreement, PRF may (i) require us to repurchase the rights we sold them at the “put/call price” 
in effect on the date such right is exercised or (ii) foreclose on the Zanaflex assets that secure our obligations to PRF. Except in the case of 
certain bankruptcy events, if PRF exercises its right, which we refer to as PRF’s put option, to cause us to repurchase the rights we assigned to it, 
PRF may not foreclose unless we fail to pay the put/call price as required. If we experience a change of control we have the right, which we refer 
to as our call option, to repurchase the rights we sold to PRF at the “put/call price” in effect on the date such right is exercised. The put/call price 
on a given date is the greater of (i) all payments made by PRF to us as of such date, less all payments received by PRF from us as of such date, 
and (ii) an amount that would generate an internal rate of return to PRF of 25% on all payments made by PRF to us as of such date, taking into 
account the amount and timing of all payments received by PRF from us as of such date. We have determined that PRF’s put option and our call 
option meet the criteria to be considered an embedded derivative and should be accounted for as such. Therefore, we recorded a net liability of 
$495,000 as of March 31, 2012 related to the put/call option to reflect its current estimated fair value. This liability is revalued on an as needed 
basis to reflect any changes in the fair value and any gain or loss resulting from the revaluation is recorded in earnings.  
   

During any period during which PRF has the right to receive 15% of Zanaflex net revenues (as defined in the agreement), then 8% of 
the first $30.0 million in payments from Zanaflex sales we receive from wholesalers will be distributed to PRF on a daily basis. Following the 
end of each fiscal quarter, if the aggregate amount actually received by PRF during such quarter exceeds the amount of net revenues PRF was 
entitled to receive, PRF will remit such excess to us. If the amount of net revenues PRF was entitled to receive during such quarter exceeds the 
aggregate amount actually received by PRF during such quarter, we will remit such excess to PRF.  
   
Investment Activities  
   

At March 31, 2012, cash, cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments were approximately $295.3 million, as compared to 
$295.9 million at December 31, 2011. Our cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less at date of purchase and consist of time deposits and investments in a Treasury money market fund and high-quality government 
bonds. Also, we maintain cash balances with financial institutions in excess of insured limits. We do not anticipate any losses with respect to 
such cash balances. As of March 31, 2012, our cash and cash equivalents were $55.3 million, as compared to $58.0 million as of December 31, 
2011. Our short-term investments consist of US Treasury bonds with original maturities greater than three months and less than one year. The 
balance of these investments was $223.0 million as of March 31, 2012, as compared to $238.0 million as of December 31, 2011. Our long-term 
investments consist of US Treasury bonds with original maturities greater than one year. The balance of these investments was $17.0 million as 
of March 31, 2012, as compared to zero as of December 31, 2011.  
   
Net Cash Provided by/(Used in) Operations  
   

Net cash provided by (used in) operations was $3.0 million and $(12.1) million for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 
2011, respectively. Cash provided by operations for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 was primarily attributable to net income of 
$7.8 million principally resulting from license and royalty revenues, a non-cash share-based compensation expense of $4.2 million, amortization 
of net premiums and discounts on investments of $1.5 million, a decrease in accounts receivable of $1.3 million, and depreciation and 
amortization of $912,000.  Cash provided by operations was partially offset by a net decrease of $9.7 million due to changes in working capital 
items primarily due to the payment of 2011 accrued expenses and prepaid items during the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 and a 
decrease in deferred product revenue of $444,000.  These working capital decreases were partially offset by an increase in other current 
liabilities of $1.8 million related to the build out of our future corporate headquarters in Ardsley, New York, plus an increase in our revenue 
interest liability related to PRF of $421,000.  The offset to cash provided by operations was also attributable to a decrease in non-current portion 
of deferred license revenue of $2.3 million due to the amortization of the upfront collaboration payment received during the three-month period 
ended September 30, 2009, a decrease in the loss on our put/call liability of $535,000, and an increase in inventory held by the Company  
   

Cash used in operations for the three-month period ended March 31, 2011 was primarily attributable to a net decrease of $8.2 million 
due to changes in working capital items.  It was also attributable to an increase in inventory held by the Company of $6.4 million, an increase in 
accounts receivable of $1.5 million resulting from an increase in Ampyra and Zanaflex gross sales, a decrease in the non-current portion of 
deferred license revenue of $1.9 million due to the amortization of the upfront collaboration payment received during the three-month period 
ended September 30, 2009, a net loss of $672,000, and a decrease in the current portion of this deferred license revenue of $371,000.  Cash used 
in operations for the three-month period ended March 31, 2011 was partially offset by a non-cash share-based compensation expense of $3.8  
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million, amortization of net premiums and discounts on short-term investments of $1.9 million, and depreciation and amortization of $1.1 
million.  
   
Net Cash Used in Investing  
   

Net cash used in investing activities for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 was $7.4 million, primarily due to $65.4 million 
in purchases of investments, purchases of intangible assets of $656,000 and purchases of property and equipment of $3.1 million, partially offset 
by $61.8 million in proceeds from maturities and sales of investments.  
   
Net Cash Provided by Financing  
   

Net cash provided by financing activities for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 was $1.7 million, primarily due to 
$1.9 million in net proceeds from the issuance of common stock and exercise of stock options partially offset by $209,000 in repayments to PRF. 
   
Contractual Obligations and Commitments  
   

A summary of our minimum contractual obligations related to our major outstanding contractual commitments is included in our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. Our long-term contractual obligations include commitments and estimated 
purchase obligations entered into in the normal course of business. Under certain supply agreements and other agreements with manufacturers 
and suppliers, we are required to make payments for the manufacture and supply of our clinical and approved products. During the three-month 
period ended March 31, 2012, commitments related to the purchase of inventory consistent with our normal course of business increased as 
compared to December 31, 2011. As of March 31, 2012, we have inventory-related purchase commitments totaling approximately $16.0 million. 
   

Under certain license agreements, we are required to pay royalties for the use of technologies and products in our R&D activities and in 
the commercialization of products. The amount and timing of any of the foregoing payments are not known due to the uncertainty surrounding 
the successful research, development and commercialization of the products.  
   

Under certain license agreements, we are also required to pay license fees and milestones for the use of technologies and products in 
our R&D activities and in the commercialization of products. We have committed to make potential future milestone payments to third parties of 
up to approximately $64 million as part of our various collaborations, including licensing and development programs as well as potentially an 
additional $700,000 in research and development funding payments to Neuronex. Payments under these agreements generally become due and 
payable only upon achievement of certain developmental, regulatory or commercial milestones. Because the achievement of these milestones 
had not occurred as of March 31, 2012, such contingencies have not been recorded in our financial statements. Amounts related to contingent 
milestone payments are not considered contractual obligations as they are contingent on the successful achievement of certain development, 
regulatory approval and commercial milestones. There is uncertainty regarding the various activities and outcomes needed to reach these 
milestones, and they may not be achieved. This also excludes any potential payments as part of the Neuronex transaction as these are not yet 
commitments to us until the transaction is consummated.  
   
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  
   

Our critical accounting policies are detailed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. As of March 
31, 2012, our critical accounting policies have not changed materially from December 31, 2011.  
   
Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk  
   

Our financial instruments consist of cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments, grants receivable, convertible notes 
payable, accounts payable, and put/call liability. The estimated fair values of all of our financial instruments approximate their carrying amounts 
at March 31, 2012.  
   

We have cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments at March 31, 2012, which are exposed to the impact of interest rate 
changes and our interest income fluctuates as our interest rates change. Due to the nature of our investments in money market funds and US 
Treasury bonds, the carrying value of our cash equivalents and investments approximate their fair value at March 31, 2012. At March 31, 2012, 
we held $295.3 million in cash, cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments which had an average interest rate of approximately 
0.03%.  
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We maintain an investment portfolio in accordance with our investment policy. The primary objectives of our investment policy are to 

preserve principal, maintain proper liquidity and to meet operating needs. Although our investments are subject to credit risk, our investment 
policy specifies credit quality standards for our investments and limits the amount of credit exposure from any single issue, issuer or type of 
investment. Our investments are also subject to interest rate risk and will decrease in value if market interest rates increase. However, due to the 
conservative nature of our investments and relatively short duration, interest rate risk is mitigated. We do not own derivative financial 
instruments. Accordingly, we do not believe that there is any material market risk exposure with respect to derivative or other financial 
instruments.  
   
Item 4.  Controls and Procedures  
   
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures  
   

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) we carried out an evaluation of the 
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the end of the 
first quarter of 2012, the period covered by this report. This evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the participation of our 
management, including our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer. Based on that evaluation, these officers have concluded that, 
as of March 31, 2012, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to achieve their stated purpose.  
   

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be 
disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 
specified in the SEC’s rules, regulations, and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures 
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and 
communicated to management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions 
regarding disclosure.  
   
Change in internal control over financial reporting  
   

In connection with the evaluation required by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(d), our management, including our chief executive officer and 
chief financial officer, concluded that there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 
2012 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  
   
Limitations on the effectiveness of controls  
   

Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of our disclosure 
control system are met. Because of inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all 
control issues, if any, within a company have been detected.  
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION  

   
Item 1.  Legal Proceedings  
   

In August 2007, we received a Paragraph IV Certification Notice from Apotex Inc., advising that it had submitted an ANDA to the 
FDA seeking marketing approval for generic versions of Zanaflex Capsules.  In response to the filing of the ANDA, in October 2007, we filed a 
lawsuit against Apotex in the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey asserting infringement of our U.S. Patent No. 6,455,557 relating 
to multiparticulate tizanidine compositions, including those sold by us as Zanaflex Capsules.  The patent expires in 2021.  
   

In November 2007, Apotex answered our complaint, asserting patent invalidity and non-infringement.  Apotex also counterclaimed, 
seeking a declaratory judgment of patent invalidity and non-infringement.  We denied those counterclaims.  A bench trial was held in May 
2011.  On September 7, 2011, we announced that the Court had ruled against us in the litigation.  The Court held that the claims of U.S. Patent 
No. 6,455,557 covering use of multiparticulate tizanidine compositions are invalid as not enabled and not infringed by Apotex.  We are 
appealing the decision.  
   

On September 6, 2011, we filed a citizen petition with the FDA requesting that the FDA not approve Apotex’s ANDA because of 
public-safety concerns about Apotex’s proposed drug.  On December 2, 2011, Apotex filed suit against us in the U.S. District Court for the 
Southern District of New York.  In that suit, Apotex alleges, among other claims, that we engaged in anticompetitive behavior and false 
advertising in connection with the development and marketing of Zanaflex Capsules, including that the citizen petition we filed with the FDA 
delayed FDA approval of Apotex’s generic tizanidine capsules.  On January 26, 2012, we moved to dismiss or stay Apotex’s suit.  On February 
3, 2012, the FDA denied the citizen petition that we filed and approved Apotex’s ANDA for a generic version of Zanaflex Capsules.  On 
February 21, 2012, Apotex filed an amended complaint that incorporated the FDA action, but otherwise makes allegations similar to the original 
complaint.  Requested judicial remedies include monetary damages, disgorgement of profits, recovery of litigation costs, and injunctive relief.  
We intend to defend ourselves vigorously in the litigation.  
   
Item 1A.  Risk Factors  
   

In addition to the other information set forth in this report, you should carefully consider the risk factors discussed in Part I, “Item 1A. 
Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, all of which could materially affect our business, 
financial condition or future results. The risks described or referred to herein are not the only risks facing our Company. Additional risks and 
uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and/or operating results.  Following is the restated text of individual risk factors with changes that have occurred since our publication 
of risk factors in our 2011 Annual Report.  
   
Our products and product candidates may not gain market acceptance among physicians, patients and the medical community, thereby 
limiting our potential to generate revenue.  
   

Market acceptance of our products and product candidates depends on the benefits of our products in terms of safety, efficacy, 
convenience, ease of administration and cost effectiveness and our ability to demonstrate these benefits to physicians and patients. We believe 
market acceptance also depends on the pricing of our products and the reimbursement policies of government and third-party payers, as well as 
on the effectiveness of our sales and marketing activities. Physicians may not prescribe our products, and patients may determine, for any reason, 
that our products are not useful to them.  For example, physicians may not believe that the benefits of Zanaflex Capsules outweigh their higher 
cost in relation to Zanaflex tablets or generic tizanidine hydrochloride tablets, or that the benefits of Ampyra are meaningful for patients.  As 
described above in these risk factors, FDA-approved product labeling for Ampyra is limited and may harm its market acceptance.  Also, if 
Ampyra is not listed on the preferred drug lists of third-party payers, or Ampyra is on the preferred drug list but subject to unfavorable 
limitations or preconditions or in disadvantageous positions on tiered formularies, our sales may suffer.  
   

In the U.S., the federal government has provided significantly increased funding for comparative effectiveness research, which may 
compare our products with other treatments and may result in published findings that would, in turn, discourage use of our products by 
physicians and payments for our products by payers.  Similar research is funded in other countries, including in Europe. The failure of any of our 
products or product candidates, once approved, to achieve market  
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acceptance would limit our ability to generate revenue and would harm our results of operations.  
   

If our products are approved in the EU, their success there will also depend largely on obtaining and maintaining government 
reimbursement because, in many European countries, patients will not use prescription drugs that are not reimbursed by their governments.  In 
addition, negotiating prices with governmental authorities can delay commercialization by one year or more.  Even if reimbursement is available, 
reimbursement policies may harm sales of our products and therefore our ability or that of our partners, such as Biogen Idec, to sell our products 
on a profitable basis.  For example, in response to the recent downturn in global economic conditions, governments in a number of international 
markets have announced or implemented austerity measures aimed at reducing healthcare costs to constrain the overall level of government 
expenditures.  This includes Germany and other countries in the EU, where Biogen Idec has obtained approval for Fampyra.  The measures vary 
by country and include, among other things, mandatory rebates and discounts, price reductions and suspensions on pricing increases on 
pharmaceuticals.  These measures may harm net revenue from Biogen Idec sales of Fampyra and therefore the amount of the royalty we receive 
from Biogen Idec.  
   
   

Several additional factors may limit the market acceptance of products, including:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   
   
If market acceptance of our products in the U.S., EU, or other countries does not meet expectations, our revenues or royalties from product sales 
would suffer and this could cause our stock price to decline .  
   
 

  

•   rate of adoption by healthcare practitioners;  

•   rate of a product’s acceptance by the target population,  

•   timing of market entry relative to competitive products,  

•   availability of alternative therapies,  

•   perceived advantages of alternative therapies,  

•   price of product relative to alternative therapies,  

•   extent of marketing efforts,  

•   unavailability of adequate reimbursement by third parties, and  

•   side effects or unfavorable publicity concerning the products or similar products.  
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Item 6.  Exhibits  
   

 
* Portions of this exhibit were redacted pursuant to a confidential treatment request filed with the Secretary of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  
 
** In accordance with Regulation S-T, the XBRL-related information in Exhibit 101 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q shall be deemed to 
be “furnished” and not “filed.”  
 

  

Exhibit No .    Description  
10.1*    Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 15, 2012, among the Registrant, ATI Development Corp., Neuronex, 

Inc., and Moise A. Khayrallah, Ph.D., solely as the Stockholders’  Representative as set forth therein.  
10.2*    Amendment #1 to the License Agreement, dated March 15, 2012, by and between the Registrant and Paion Holdings UK Ltd 

(formerly CeNeS Pharmaceuticals, plc) .  
31.1    Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  
31.2    Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  
32.1    Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  
32.2    Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  
101.INS**    XBRL Instance Document  
101.SCH**    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document  
101.CAL**    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document  
101.DEF**    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document  
101.LAB**    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document  
101.PRE**    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document  

  
28 



 
SIGNATURES  

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf 

by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.  
   

 
 

 
   
 

  

     
ACORDA THERAPEUTICS , INC.  
   
   

  By:  /s/ RON COHEN  
   
   
Date:  May 9, 2012  

  Ron Cohen, M.D.  
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director  

(Principal Executive Officer)  

    
  By:  /s/ DAVID  LAWRENCE  
   
   
Date:  May 9, 2012  

  David Lawrence, M.B.A.  
Chief Financial Officer  

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER  

   

among:  
   

ACORDA THERAPEUTICS , INC. ,  
   

a Delaware corporation;  
   

ATI D EVELOPMENT  CORP. ,  
   

a Delaware corporation;  
   

NEURONEX, INC. ,  
   

a Delaware corporation;  
   

and  
   

MOISE A. KHAYRALLAH   
   

as the Stockholders’ Representative  
   

 
   

Dated as of February 15, 2012  
   

 
   
 

Certain portions of this Exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidentiality. Such 
omitted portions, which are marked with brackets [     ] and an asterisk*, have been separately filed 
with the Commission.  
 
 
  

  



 
 
   

   
   

  

TABLE OF CONTENTS  
Page 

1.  Description of Transaction  1  
  1.1  Merger of Merger Sub into the Company.  1  
  1.2  Closing; Effective Time.  2  
  1.3  Treatment of Company Options and Company Warrants.  3  
  1.4  Withholding  3  
  1.5  Working Capital Adjustment  4  
  1.6  Surrender of Certificates; Payment.  4  
  1.7  Contingent Payments.  7  
  1.8  Hold-back Amount  16  
2.  Representations and Warranties of the Company.  17  
  2.1  Due Organization; Organizational Documents  17  
  2.2  Capitalization; Stockholder Information.  17  
  2.3  Financial Statements; Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities.  18  
  2.4  Absence of Changes  19  
  2.5  Tangible Personal Property  21  
  2.6  Real Property; Lease Agreements  21  
  2.7  Intellectual Property.  21  
  2.8  Contracts.  25  
  2.9  Suppliers  27  
  2.10  Compliance with Laws  27  
  2.11  Permits.  28  
  2.12  Tax Matters.  28  
  2.13  Employees and Consultants  31  
  2.14  Employee and Labor Matters; Benefit Plans.  31  
  2.15  Environmental Matters.  35  
  2.16  Insurance  36  
  2.17  Transactions with Affiliates  36  
  2.18  Legal Proceedings  36  
  2.19  Regulatory Compliance.  37  
  2.20  Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement; Non-Contravention  39  
  2.21  Stockholder Approval  40  
  2.22  Board Approval; Other Approvals  40  
  2.23  Financial Advisor  40  
  2.24  Distribution of Merger Consideration  40  
  2.25  Hart-Scott-Rodino Status  41  
  2.26  Accuracy of Representations and Warranties  41  
  2.27  Closing Allocation Certificate  41  
  2.28  Bank Accounts  41  
3.  Representations and Warranties of Parent and Merger Sub.  41  
  3.1  Due Organization  41  
  3.2  Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement  41  
  3.3  Merger Sub  42  
  3.4  No Authorizations  42  



  
i 



   

   
   

  

  3.5  Litigation.  42 

  3.6  No Other DZNS Products  42 

  3.7  Adequacy of Funds  43 

  3.8  No Brokers  43 

  3.9  SEC Filings.  43 

  3.10  Controls and Procedures; NASDAQ Compliance.  44 

4.  Covenants and Agreements. 44 

  4.1  Conduct of Business of the Company  44 

  4.2  Access to Information  47 

  4.3  Public Disclosure  47 

  4.4  Regulatory Approval; Further Assurances.  48 

  4.5  Indemnification of Officers and Directors of the Company.  48 

  4.6  Employee Arrangements.  49 

  4.7  No Solicitation.  49 

  4.8  Section 280G Approvals.  50 

  4.9  Notifications to Parent  50 

  4.10  Data Room  50 

  4.11  Transition of Facilities and Operations.  50 

  4.12  Transition Services Agreement  51 

  4.13  Signing Payment; Research and Development Support  51 

  4.14  FDA Meeting  51 

  4.15  SK Agreement  52 

  4.16  Patent Prosecution and [***]  52 

  4.17  Financial Statement Audit  52 

5.  Conditions to the Merger.  52 

  5.1  Conditions to Each Party’s Obligation to Effect the Merger  53 

  5.2  Conditions to Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub  53 

  5.3  Conditions to Obligation of the Company  54 

6.  Termination.    55 

  6.1  Termination  55 

  6.2  Effect of Termination.  56 

  6A Tax Returns and Tax Contests  57 

7.  Indemnification   60 

  7.1  Expiration of Representations, Warranties and Covenants  60 

  7.2  Indemnification  61 

  7.3  Choice of Remedies; Limitations on Liability.  62 

  7.4  Defense of Third Party Claims.  63 

  7.5  Exclusivity  65 

  7.6  Direct Indemnification Claims.  65 

8.  Miscellaneous Provisions.  66 

  8.1  Stockholders’ Representative.  66 

  8.2  Expenses  68 

  
ii 



   

 
Exhibits And Schedules  
   

Exhibit A                      -           Certain Definitions  
Exhibit B                      -           Form of Certificate of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation  
Exhibit C                      -           Form of Transition Services Agreement  
Exhibit D                      -           Form of Officer and Director Resignation Letter  
Exhibit E                      -           Form of Opinion  

   
 

  

  8.3  Amendment; Waiver.  68  
  8.4  Entire Agreement; Counterparts; Exchanges by Facsimile  68  
  8.5  Governing Law  68  
  8.6  Assignability; Third Party Rights.  69  
  8.7  Disclosure Schedule  69  
  8.8  Notices  69  
  8.9  Severability  71  
  8.10  Enforcement  71  
  8.11  Construction.  71  

  
iii 



 
AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER  

   

THIS AGREEMENT  AND PLAN  OF MERGER (“ Agreement ”) is made and entered into as of February 15, 2012, 
by and among: Acorda Therapeutics, Inc. , a Delaware corporation (“ Parent ”); ATI Development Corp. , a 
Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (“ Merger Sub ”); Neuronex, Inc. , a Delaware 
corporation (the “ Company ”); and Moise A. Khayrallah, Ph.D., a resident of North Carolina, solely as the 
Stockholders’ Representative as set forth herein.  Certain capitalized terms used in this Agreement are defined in Exhibit 
A .  
   

RECITALS   
   

A.            Parent, Merger Sub and the Company intend to effect a merger of Merger Sub with and into the 
Company in accordance with this Agreement and the DGCL (the “ Merger ”).  Upon the consummation of the Merger, 
Merger Sub will cease to exist, and the Company will become a wholly-owned Subsidiary of Parent.  
   

B.            The respective boards of directors of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company have approved this 
Agreement and the Merger.  
   

C.            Immediately after the execution and delivery of this Agreement, each stockholder of the Company shall 
execute and deliver an irrevocable written consent approving the Agreement and the Merger.  
   

AGREEMENT   
   

For good and valuable consideration, including covenants, representations and warranties being made herein, the 
parties to this Agreement, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:  
   

   

1.1            Merger of Merger Sub into the Company.  
   

(a)           Upon the terms and subject to the provisions set forth in this Agreement, at the Effective Time 
(as defined in Section 1.2), Merger Sub shall be merged with and into the Company.  By virtue of the Merger, at the 
Effective Time, the separate existence of Merger Sub shall cease and the Company shall continue as the surviving 
corporation in the Merger (the “ Surviving Corporation ”).  
   

(b)           The Merger shall have the effects set forth in this Agreement and in the applicable provisions of 
the DGCL.  The certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended and restated as of the 
Effective Time to conform to Exhibit B and the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended and restated as of 
the Effective Time to conform to the bylaws of Merger Sub as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time. The 
directors and officers of the Surviving Corporation immediately after the Effective Time shall be the respective 
individuals who were directors and officers of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time.  
   
 

  

1.  DESCRIPTION OF TRANSACTION  

  
1 



 
1.2            Closing; Effective Time.  
   

(a)           The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “ Closing ”) shall 
take place as soon as practicable, but no later than five Business Days after the satisfaction or waiver of the last of the 
conditions set forth in Section 5 (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but 
subject to the satisfaction or waiver of such conditions), unless another time or date, or both, are agreed to in writing by 
the parties hereto.  The date on which the Closing is held is herein referred to as the “ Closing Date .”  The Closing will 
be held at the offices of WilmerHale in New York, New York, unless another place is agreed to in writing by the parties 
hereto.  
   

(b)           Subject to the terms of this Agreement, on the Closing Date, a certificate of merger satisfying 
the applicable requirements of the DGCL shall be filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.  The Merger 
shall become effective at the time of the filing of such certificate of merger with the Secretary of State of the State of 
Delaware (the time as of which the Merger becomes effective being referred to as the “ Effective Time ”).  
   

(c)           Subject to Section 1.5(a), at the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any further 
action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub, the Company or any stockholder of the Company:  
   

(1)           to the extent not converted to Company Common Stock prior to the Effective Time, 
each share of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be 
canceled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash equal to: (A) the Merger Price Per Series A Share; 
plus (B) any amounts required to be paid by Parent with respect to such share to the Former Holder thereof in 
accordance with the terms of Sections 1.7 and 8.1(c), as and when such payments are required to be made; provided, that 
the aggregate per-share payment to be made pursuant to this Section 1.2(c)(1) with respect to each share of Series A 
Preferred Stock outstanding as of the Effective Time shall not exceed $0.98328 (such aggregate amount actually paid to 
the Series A Preferred Stock pursuant to this Section 1.2(c)(1) being referred to herein as the “ Series A Preferred 
Merger Consideration ”);  
   

(2)           except as provided in clause (4) below, each share of Company Common Stock 
outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be canceled and converted into the right to receive: (A) an 
amount in cash equal to the Merger Price Per Common Share; plus (B) any amounts required to be paid by Parent with 
respect to such share to the Former Holder thereof in accordance with the terms of Sections 1.7 and 8.1(c), as and when 
such payments are required to be made (collectively, the “ Common Merger Consideration ”);  
   

(3)           each share of the common stock, $0.001 par value per share, of Merger Sub outstanding 
immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into one share of common stock of the Surviving 
Corporation; and  
   

(4)           each share of Company Capital Stock that is held by the Company as treasury stock, and 
each share of Company Capital Stock owned by Parent or Merger Sub or  
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any other wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent, shall be automatically canceled and shall cease to exist and no 
consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor.  
   

1.3            Treatment of Company Options and Company Warrants.  
   

(a)           Prior to the Effective Time, (i) the board of directors of the Company shall resolve and take all 
actions necessary pursuant to the plans and agreements governing the Company Options such that at the Effective Time: 
(A) each Company Option shall thereafter be entitled solely to the consideration set forth herein and (B) upon the 
Closing, each Company Option shall be canceled and be converted into the right to receive the consideration specifically 
set forth herein and (ii) the Company shall send holders of Company Options timely notice pursuant to the plans and 
agreements governing the Company Options of the foregoing in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Parent and 
obtain the written consent of holders of at least 95% of the Company Options for the cancellation and conversion of the 
Company Options as set forth above.  
   

(b)           At the Effective Time, each Company Option that is outstanding immediately prior to the 
Effective Time, whether or not then currently vested or exercisable, shall be canceled and shall entitle the Former Holder 
thereof to receive an amount in cash equal to: (i) the Merger Price Per Common Share, minus the exercise price per 
share of Company Common Stock into which such Company Option is exercisable; plus (ii) any amounts required to be 
paid by Parent with respect to such option share to the Former Holder thereof in accordance with the terms of 
Sections 1.7 and 8.1(c), as and when such payments are required to be made (collectively, the “ Option Consideration 
”).  The amount payable, if any, pursuant to clause (i) of the preceding sentence shall be paid as promptly as reasonably 
practicable after the receipt of a Letter of Transmittal (as defined below).  
   

(c)           To the extent not exercised prior to the Effective Time, at the Effective Time, each Company 
Warrant to purchase shares of Series A Preferred Stock that is outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time 
shall be canceled and shall entitle the Former Holder thereof to receive an amount in cash equal to:  (i) the Merger Price 
Per Common Share, minus the exercise price per share of Series A Preferred Stock subject to such Company Warrant; 
plus (ii) any amounts required to be paid by Parent with respect to such share to the Former Holder thereof in accordance 
with the terms of Sections 1.7 and 8.1(c), as and when such payments are required to be made (the “ Warrant 
Consideration ”).  The amount payable, if any, pursuant to clause (i) of the preceding sentence shall be paid as promptly 
as reasonably practicable after the receipt of a Letter of Transmittal (as defined below).  
   

1.4            Withholding.  Each of Parent, the Surviving Corporation, or an Affiliate thereof and Paying 
Agent shall be entitled to withhold from any consideration payable pursuant to this Agreement to any Person 
such amounts as Parent, the Surviving Corporation, or an Affiliate thereof or Paying Agent are required to 
withhold from such consideration under any provision of Tax Law, including, without limitation, any 
employment taxes, payroll taxes, or taxes due under Section 409A of the Code, in each case only the extent 
applicable.  Parent, Surviving Corporation, or an Affiliate thereof and Paying Agent shall be entitled to take any 
and all actions that may be necessary to ensure  
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that any such amounts are timely withheld and promptly and properly remitted to the appropriate Governmental 
Authority.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, any payments to be made under this 
Agreement that are subject to withholding shall be made through the payroll systems of the Company, Surviving 
Corporation or an Affiliate thereof, and any such withholdings, excluding any employer’s share of taxes relating 
to such payments, will be deducted from the applicable payment.  As part of the Closing Allocation Certificate, 
the Company shall provide to Parent a schedule showing which payments to be made under this Agreement are 
subject to compensatory withholding.  
   

1.5            Working Capital Adjustment.   Within 90 days after the Closing Date, the Surviving Corporation 
shall determine the Net Cash Amount immediately after the Effective Time (the “ Actual Net Cash Amount ”) and 
shall as promptly as reasonably practicable, following such determination, deliver to the Stockholders’ Representative a 
certificate, executed by an executive officer of the Parent, stating the Actual Net Cash Amount. Thereafter, either (i) the 
next occurring Contingent Payment shall be increased by the amount the Actual Net Cash Amount exceeds the Targeted 
Net Cash Amount (if such difference is a positive number), or (ii) the Hold-back Amount payable shall be decreased by 
the amount the Actual Net Cash Amount is less than the Targeted Net Cash Amount (if such difference is a negative 
number), as applicable.  If the Stockholders’ Representative disputes the Actual Net Cash Amount as calculated by the 
Surviving Corporation, then the Stockholders’ Representative shall have the right, for a period of 30 days from receipt of 
the calculation of the Actual Net Cash Amount, to request an independent third-party audit of the calculation.  Such 
audit shall take place at the headquarters of Parent and shall be completed as promptly as reasonably practicable 
thereafter, and in any event to be completed within 180 days, by an independent accounting firm mutually agreed upon 
by the Parent and the Stockholders’ Representative.  The determination of the Actual Net Cash Amount by the 
independent accounting firm shall be binding on the parties, absent manifest error, and the costs of such review shall be 
borne by the Stockholders’ Representative, unless the independent review reveals an increase in the Actual Net Cash 
Amount in excess of ten percent (10%), in which case the costs shall be borne by the Surviving Corporation.  For 
purposes of this Section 1.5, the “ Targeted Net Cash Amount ” shall equal zero dollars ($0.00), after giving effect to 
the Debt Payment.  
   

1.6            Surrender of Certificates; Payment.  
   

(a)            Paying Agent .  At least five (5) days prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall either notify the 
Stockholders’ Representative in writing that the Parent will serve as the paying agent pursuant to this Agreement, or 
designate a bank or trust company reasonably acceptable to the Company to act as agent (such designated party or 
Parent, as applicable, being referred to herein as the “ Paying Agent ”) for payment of (i) the applicable Merger 
Consideration upon surrender of the certificates that immediately prior to the Effective Time represented shares of 
Company Capital Stock (each such certificate, a “ Certificate ”), (ii) the Option Consideration (other than with respect 
to Former Holders of Company Options who are or were employees of the Company or are otherwise subject to 
withholding) and (iii) the Warrant Consideration, and enter into an agreement with the Paying Agent providing for such 
services.  Any fees payable to a third party Paying Agent for providing these services shall be paid by Parent.  On the 
Closing  
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Date, Parent shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, with the Paying Agent cash sufficient to pay the aggregate Merger 
Consideration payable pursuant to Section 1.2(c) (other than payments to be made pursuant to Sections 1.7 and 8.1(c)) to 
Former Holders of Capital Stock upon surrender of Certificates representing outstanding shares of Company Capital 
Stock and cash sufficient to pay the aggregate Warrant Consideration and Option Consideration (other than with respect 
to Former Holders of Company Options who are or were employees of the Company or are otherwise subject to 
withholding) payable pursuant to Section 1.3 (other than payments to be made pursuant to Sections 1.7 and 8.1
(c)).  Such funds provided to the Paying Agent, together with any funds deposited with the Paying Agent pursuant to 
Sections 1.7 or 8.1, are referred to herein as the “ Payment Fund .”  For the avoidance of doubt, the Option 
Consideration with respect to Former Holders of Company Options who are or were employees or are otherwise subject 
to withholding shall be made through the payroll systems of the Company, Surviving Corporation, or an Affiliate thereof 
rather than through the Payment Fund.  
   

(b)            Exchange Procedures .  Prior to the Closing, Parent and the Company shall agree on the form 
of: (i) instructions for use in effecting the surrender of the Certificates; and (ii) a letter of transmittal in exchange for the 
right to receive the applicable Merger Consideration, Option Consideration or Warrant Consideration, as applicable, 
with respect to each share of Company Capital Stock, Company Option or Company Warrant (together, the “ Letter of 
Transmittal ”).  Prior to the Closing, the Company may provide such Letter of Transmittal and other relevant materials 
agreed to by Parent and the Company to Former Holders directly, with a copy to the Stockholders’ Representative, and 
shall inform Parent, the Stockholders’ Representative and Paying Agent of the Former Holders to which Letters of 
Transmittal have been delivered.  Promptly (and in any event within five Business Days) after the later of the Effective 
Time and delivery of all information necessary to mail the Letters of Transmittal, the Paying Agent shall mail a Letter of 
Transmittal to each Former Holder to which the Company had not previously delivered a Letter of Transmittal.  Upon 
delivery to the Paying Agent of a duly completed and validly executed Letter of Transmittal (in accordance with the 
instructions and such other customary documents as may reasonably be required by the Paying Agent), with 
accompanying Certificates which shall be tendered for cancellation, the Former Holder of such Capital Stock, Company 
Option or Company Warrant, as applicable, shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor the applicable Merger 
Consideration, Option Consideration or Warrant Consideration, with respect to each share of Company Capital Stock, 
Company Option or Company Warrant, as applicable, and the Certificates so surrendered shall forthwith be 
canceled.  Former Holders of Company Warrants and Company Options shall be required to return only a duly 
completed and validly executed Letter of Transmittal, but shall not be required to deliver any Certificates in respect of 
Company Options or Company Warrants.  In the event of a transfer of ownership of shares of Company Capital Stock 
that is not registered in the transfer records of the Company, the proper amount of cash may be paid in exchange therefor 
to a Person other than the Person in whose name the Certificate so surrendered is registered if such Certificate shall be 
properly endorsed or shall otherwise be in proper form for transfer and the Person requesting such payment shall pay any 
transfer and other taxes required by reason of the payment to a Person other than the registered holder of such Certificate 
or establish to the reasonable satisfaction of the Surviving Corporation that such tax either has been paid or is not 
applicable.  Until surrendered as contemplated by this Section 1.6(b), each Certificate shall be deemed at any time after 
the Effective Time to represent only the right to receive upon such  
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surrender the applicable Merger Consideration with respect to each share of Company Capital Stock evidenced by such 
Certificate.  If a Letter of Transmittal is delivered and a Certificate is properly surrendered to the Paying Agent 
following the Closing, then Parent shall cause the Merger Consideration or Warrant Consideration, as applicable (in each 
case other than payments to be made pursuant to Sections 1.7 and 8.1(c)) to be paid by the Paying Agent to the 
applicable Former Holder in immediately available funds as promptly as reasonably practicable after such delivery and 
surrender and Parent shall cause the Option Consideration (other than payments to be made pursuant to Sections 1.7 and 
8.1(c)) to be paid by the Paying Agent or through the payroll systems of the Company, Surviving Corporation, or an 
Affiliate thereof (as applicable) as soon as practicable after such delivery and surrender.  
   

(c)            Closing Payments .  At least five Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall 
provide Parent and the Stockholders’ Representative with the Closing Allocation Certificate.  In addition, at least five 
Business Days prior to Closing, the Company shall also deliver to the Parent true, correct and complete payoff letters 
with respect to any and all Indebtedness (other than Retained Indebtedness) otherwise outstanding at the Closing and 
final invoices from any Person to receive payment of Sellers’ Expenses.  At the Closing, Parent shall pay or cause to be 
paid the following payments: (i) to the holders of Indebtedness (other than Retained Indebtedness), the amount set forth 
in the Closing Allocation Certificate, such amount to include the outstanding principal amount, together with all accrued 
and unpaid interest through immediately prior to the Effective Time and prepayment or other penalties or premiums, if 
any, owed with respect thereto (the amount so paid to the holders of Indebtedness at the Closing and the amount of the 
Retained Indebtedness, the “ Debt Payment ”); (ii) to the Persons entitled thereto, the amount of all Sellers’ Expenses as 
set forth in the Closing Allocation Certificate; (iii) to the Stockholders’ Representative, the Reserve Amount; and (iv)  to 
the Paying Agent, the Payment Fund.  
   

(d)            Reliance .  In calculating and paying the consideration payable under Sections 1.6(c), 1.7(d) or 
8.1(c), or any other payment contemplated by this Agreement, Parent, Surviving Corporation and Paying Agent shall be 
entitled to rely conclusively on information contained in (i) the Closing Allocation Certificate or a Contingent Allocation 
Certificate, as applicable, and other certificates or instructions delivered pursuant to this Agreement, including the 
amounts of outstanding Indebtedness, Sellers’ Expenses, PJSC Contingent Fees to be offset, and amounts payable to any 
Former Holder, (ii) the Letters of Transmittal, (iii) representations, warranties and other information contained in this 
Agreement including the Disclosure Schedule, and (iv) any other instructions and certificates delivered by Stockholders’
Representative or the Company as contemplated by this Agreement.  
   

(e)            Transfer Books; No Further Ownership Rights in Company Stock .  At the Effective Time: 
(i) all shares of Company Capital Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall automatically be 
canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and all holders of Certificates representing shares of Company Capital 
Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall cease to have any rights as stockholders of the 
Company, except the right to receive the applicable Merger Consideration with respect to each share of Company 
Capital Stock evidenced by such Certificate upon surrender thereof in accordance with Section 1.6(b); and (ii) the stock 
transfer books of the Company shall be closed  
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and there shall be no further registration of transfers on the stock transfer books of the Surviving Corporation of the 
shares of Company Capital Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time.  
   

(f)            Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates .  If any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or 
destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or 
destroyed and, if required by Parent, the posting by such Person of a bond, in such reasonable amount as Parent may 
direct, as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such Certificate, the Paying Agent will 
pay the applicable Merger Consideration to such Person in exchange for each share of Company Capital Stock 
evidenced by such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate.  
   

(g)            Termination of Fund .  Any portion of the Payment Fund (including the proceeds of any 
investments thereof) that remains undistributed to the Former Holders one year after the deposit thereof by Parent or the 
Stockholders’ Representative into the Payment Fund shall be delivered by the Paying Agent to the Surviving 
Corporation upon demand.  Any Former Holders who have not theretofore complied with this Section 1.6 shall 
thereafter look only to Parent or the Surviving Corporation for payment of the Merger Consideration, Option 
Consideration, Warrant Consideration or Contingent Payment payable with respect thereto, subject to applicable laws of 
escheat.  
   

(h)            No Liability .  Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, none of 
Parent, the Surviving Corporation, an Affiliate thereof or the Paying Agent shall be liable to any Person for any amount 
delivered to a public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar Law.  
   

(i)            Taking of Further Action .  If, at any time after the Effective Time, any further action is 
necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement and to vest the Surviving Corporation with full right, 
title and possession to all assets, property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of the Company, Parent and the 
Surviving Corporation are fully authorized in their respective names to take, and will take all such lawful and necessary 
or desirable action, so long as such action is not inconsistent with this Agreement.  
   

1.7            Contingent Payments.  
   

(a)            Definitions .  For purposes of this Agreement:  
   

(1)           “ Contingent Payment ” means a Milestone Payment, an Earn-out Payment or a Sales 
Milestone Payment.  
   

(2)           “ Contingent Payment Event ” means a Milestone Event, a Sales Milestone Event or 
an obligation to make an Earn-out Payment.  
   

(3)           “ Diligent Efforts ” shall mean [***].  
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(4)           “ DZNS Product ” shall mean any product (a) that meets the definition of the term 

“Product” in the SK License, as such term is defined as of the Closing Date, or (b) comprises or otherwise involves the 
use of a formulation described in Schedule 1.7(a)(4) or a formulation claimed in, or otherwise covered by a claim in, a 
Neuronex Patent.  
   

(5)           “ Earn-Out Payment ” shall mean any payment that becomes due and payable pursuant 
to Section 1.7(c).  
   

(6)           “ FDA ” shall mean the United States Food and Drug Administration or any successor 
agency thereto.  
   

(7)           “ Generic Competition ” shall mean such time as the sales (by volume) in the United 
States (or other applicable country in the Territory) by a third party (not authorized by Parent or any of its Affiliates, 
successors or licensees) of a DZNS Product which identifies as the reference listed drug a DZNS Product for which 
Parent has paid one or more milestone payments pursuant to Section 1.7(b) below exceed [***]).  
   

(8)           “ Launch ” shall mean the date of first commercial sale in the United States of any 
DZNS Product.  
   

(9)           “ Marketing Approval ” shall mean the final approval of the FDA necessary for the 
lawful marketing and sale in the U.S. of the DZNS Product.  
   

(10)           “ Milestone Event ” shall mean, as the context requires, each event referred to in the 
chart in Section 1.7(b)(1) under the heading “Milestone Event.”  
   

(11)           “ Milestone Event Occurrence Date ” shall mean, with respect to each Milestone 
Event, the date of occurrence of the event comprising such Milestone Event.  
   

(12)           “ Milestone Payment ” shall mean any payment that becomes due and payable upon 
the occurrence of a Milestone Event pursuant to Section 1.7(b)(i).  
   

(13)           “ NDA ” shall mean a New Drug Application or Abbreviated New Drug Application 
filed by the Company, Parent, Surviving Corporation or any of their respective Affiliates, successors or licensees with 
the FDA as defined under Title 21 of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations.  
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(14)           “ Net Sales ”   means the gross sales of DZNS Products made by Parent, the Surviving 

Corporation or any of their Affiliates or licensees of rights to DZNS Product to unaffiliated third parties in the Territory 
less the following, as accrued and adjusted for amounts actually taken: (i) trade, cash or quantity discounts, allowances, 
adjustments and rejections; (ii) rebates, chargebacks, recalls and returns; (iii) price reductions or rebates imposed by 
governmental authorities; (iv) price reductions or rebates accorded to managed care systems; (v) sales, excise and similar 
taxes assessed on the sale of such DZNS Product, but not including any income tax or franchise tax of any kind; and (vi) 
to the extent separately itemized on the applicable invoice, transportation, importation, shipping, insurance and other 
handling expenses; in each case as calculated in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles 
or such other accounting principles as Parent shall apply on a consistent basis.  Net Sales excludes commercial samples, 
charitable donations and clinical supply.  
   

(15)           “ Neuronex Patent ” shall mean any Patent Rights  that are derived from or claim 
priority to [***], specifically including all divisions, continuations and continuations-in-part, that claim priority to, or 
common priority with, such [***], and all patents that have issued or in the future issue from any of the foregoing [***], 
including utility, model and design patents and certificates of invention, together with any reissues, renewals, extensions 
or additions thereto.  
   

(16)           “[***]” shall mean that a DZNS Product shall have been [***].  
   

(17)           “ Sales Milestone Event ” shall mean each calendar quarter with respect to which 
Sales Milestone Payments become due and payable in accordance with Section 1.7(b)(2).  
   

(18)           “ Sales Milestone Payment ” shall mean any payment that becomes due and payable 
pursuant to Section 1.7(b)(2).  
   

(19)           “ Sales Milestone Payment Occurrence Date ” shall mean, with respect to Sales 
Milestone Payments the last day of the calendar quarter with respect to such Sales Milestone Payments.  
   

(20)           “ Territory ” shall mean all of the world, except for the following countries, which 
constitute the “SK Territory”:  Korea, Japan, China, Taiwan, Singapore, Indonesia, India, Philippines, Thailand, 
Malaysia, Vietnam and Hong Kong.  
   

(b)            Contingent Payment Events and Contingent Payments.  
   

(1)           Upon the first occurrence of any of the Milestone Events set forth in the chart below 
under the heading “ Milestone Event ,” the Milestone Payment set forth opposite such Milestone Event in the chart 
below shall become due and payable in accordance with and subject to Section 1.7(d) and shall be treated by all of the 
parties to this Agreement as an additional purchase price paid for the Company Capital Stock, Company Warrants and 
Company Options for all income Tax purposes (except to the extent required by applicable Law).  
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(2)           Upon the first occurrence of each of the Sales Milestone Events set forth in the chart 

below under the heading “ Sales Milestone Event ,” the Sales Milestone Payment set forth opposite such Sales 
Milestone Event in the chart below shall become due and payable in accordance with and subject to Section 1.7(d) and 
shall be treated by all of the parties to this Agreement as an additional purchase price paid for the Company Capital 
Stock, Company Warrants and Company Options for all income Tax purposes (except to the extent required by 
applicable Law).  Annual Net Sales reflected below in the following table shall be determined with reference to any 
period of four consecutive calendar quarters.  For the avoidance of doubt, the Sales Milestone Payments shall be due 
only once upon the achievement of a Sales Milestone Event.  Net Sales in any calendar quarter may count towards at 
most one Sales Milestone Event (so that Net Sales that count towards one Sales Milestone Event cannot be counted 
towards another Sales Milestone Event), and, following achievement of a Sales Milestone Event, Net Sales start 
accruing toward the next Sales Milestone Event no earlier than after the end of the last calendar quarter included in the 
Annual Net Sales period which achieved such prior Sales Milestone Event.  By way of example and not limitation, if the 
first time that the Sales Milestone Event of “Annual Net Sales of at least $[***]” is achieved with respect to sales made 
in the four (4) consecutive calendar quarter period ending in the third calendar quarter of 2015, then the Sales Milestone 
Event of “Annual Net Sales of at least $[***]” cannot be deemed achieved until at least the end of the third calendar 
quarter of 2016 (i.e., the end of the next succeeding four calendar quarter period).  
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Execution of an agreement with a commercial device manufacturer; provided such 
agreement [***] (an “ [***] Manufacturing Agreement ” )  

$[***]  

Approval of the DZNS Product by the European Medicines Agency (or any successor 
agency thereto).  

$[***]  
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(c)            Earn-out Payments.  
   

(1)           During the Earn-out Term, an Earn-out Payment at the applicable rate set forth below 
shall become due and payable in accordance with and subject to Section 1.7(d).  
   

   

Such Earn-out Payments shall be calculated and payable on all Net Sales of DZNS Product in the Territory.  “ Earn-out 
Term ” shall mean on a country-by-country basis the time period commencing with the first commercial sale of DZNS 
Product in such country and ending on the earliest of: (i) Generic Competition for the DZNS Product and (ii) the tenth 
(10 th ) anniversary of such first commercial sale.  

   

(2)           If the manufacture or sale of a DZNS Product that gives rise to an Earn-out Payment 
obligation (A) requires, in the opinion of legal counsel to Parent, the Surviving Corporation, its Affiliates or any 
sublicensees, a license to third party patent rights (excluding patent rights licensed under the SK License and excluding 
patent rights covering any device or delivery system) or (B) includes the payment of royalties on sales of DZNS Product 
to secure [***] from a third-party manufacturer pursuant to an [***] Manufacturing Agreement, and Parent, the 
Surviving Corporation, its Affiliates or any sublicensees pays royalties on sales of DZNS Product in respect of such 
rights under such a license or such [***] Manufacturing Agreement, then the Surviving Corporation and Parent shall 
have the right to credit against the payments otherwise owing to Former Holders under Section 1.7(c)(1) an amount 
equal to [***] percent ([***]%) of (A) such royalties paid to such Person for sales of DZNS Product in the same quarter 
minus (B) the amount of any credit taken with respect to such  
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Sales Milestone Event  Sales Milestone Payment  
Annual Net Sales of at least $[***]  $[***] 
Annual Net Sales of at least $[***]  $[***] 
Annual Net Sales of at least $[***]  $[***] 
Annual Net Sales of at least $[***]  $[***] 
Annual Net Sales of at least $[***]  $[***] 

Calendar Year Net Sales  Earn-out Rate  
Portion of calendar year Net Sales between $0 to $[***]  [***]%  
Portion of calendar year Net Sales above $[***]  [***]%  
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third party royalties against amounts that would otherwise be payable pursuant to the SK License; provided, that the 
Surviving Corporation and Parent shall not reduce the amount of the Earn-out Payments due to the Former Holders by 
reason of this Section 1.7(c)(2), with respect to sales of the DZNS Product in the applicable country, by more than [***] 
percent ([***]%) (i.e., below [***]% with respect to calendar year Net Sales of up to $[***] million and below [***]% 
with respect to that portion of calendar year Net Sales of more than $[***] million).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
[***].  
   

(3)           All Earn-out Payments shall be treated by all of the parties to this Agreement as an 
additional purchase price paid for the Company Capital Stock, Company Warrants and Company Options for all income 
Tax purposes (except to the extent required by applicable Law).  
   

(d)            Distribution of Contingent Payments .  If a Contingent Payment becomes due and payable 
pursuant to Section 1.7(b) or (c), Parent shall, as promptly as reasonably practicable after determination of the 
applicability of such payment, give written notice of such occurrence date to the Stockholders’
Representative.  Following any such occurrence date, and at least five Business Days prior to the date that such 
Contingent Payment is due, the Stockholders’ Representative shall deliver to Parent a Contingent Allocation Certificate, 
which shall include a deduction from the Contingent Payment for any PJSC Contingent Fees due in connection with 
such Contingent Payment (which Parent shall pay or cause to be paid to PJSC).  Parent shall pay or cause to be paid such 
Contingent Payment in accordance with the Contingent Allocation Certificate within the following time periods: (A) 
thirty (30) days following the Milestone Event Occurrence Date for a Milestone Event, or (B) within sixty (60) days 
following the end of each relevant calendar quarter for any Sales Milestone Payment or Earn-out Payment.  
   

(e)            Contingent Payment Rights Not Transferable .  The right of any Former Holder to receive 
any Contingent Payment: (i) does not give the Former Holder dividend rights, voting rights, liquidation rights, 
preemptive rights or other rights of holders of capital stock of the Company or Parent; (ii) shall not be evidenced by a 
certificate or other instrument; (iii) shall not be assignable or otherwise transferable by such Former Holder, except in 
the case of a natural person, on death, by will or intestacy or by instrument to an inter vivos or testamentary trust in 
which any Contingent Payment is passed to beneficiaries upon the death of the trustee or by operation of law or, if such 
Former Holder is a partnership or limited liability company, to one or more partners or members of such Former Holder 
or to one or more Affiliates of such Former Holders, partners or members; (iv) shall not accrue or pay interest on any 
portion thereof, except as provided by this Agreement; and (v) does not represent any right other than the right to receive 
the consideration set forth in this Section 1.7.  Any attempted transfer of the right to any Contingent Payment by any 
holder thereof (other than as specifically permitted by the immediately preceding sentence) shall be null and void.  
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(f)            Diligent Efforts .  Commencing upon the Closing, Parent and Surviving Corporation (and any 

subsequent acquirer of either Parent or Surviving Corporation) shall use Diligent Efforts to achieve the Milestone 
Events.  If the Stockholders’ Representative in good faith believes that Parent is not using the Diligent Efforts required 
hereby to fulfill any of the Milestone Events , then the Stockholders’ Representative may provide Parent with written 
notice thereof specifying in reasonable detail the reasons for such belief.  If such notice is given, Parent shall have [***] 
days from receipt of notice to cure such alleged deficiencies.  If, after such cure period, the Stockholders’ Representative 
reasserts in writing substantially the same deficiencies (a “ Diligence Notice ”), then [***].  
   

If Parent and Surviving Corporation or any of their respective Affiliates are no longer engaging in the activities 
required to achieve the Milestone Events, then Parent shall send written notice thereof to the Stockholders’
Representative within 60 calendar days of the date on which Parent and Surviving Corporation or any of their respective 
Affiliates first cease engaging in the  
   
 

  
Certain portions of this Exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidentiality. Such omitted  
portions, which are marked with brackets [     ] and an asterisk*, have been separately filed with the Commission.  
 

  
13 



 
required activities. Following a Successor’s acquisition of Parent or the Surviving Corporation, as applicable; such 
Successor shall, for a period of at least [***] following such acquisition, exercise Diligent Efforts at least equal to those 
that Parent devoted to the DZNS Product in the year preceding the acquisition.  
   

Failure of Parent or Surviving Corporation to fulfill or perform its obligation to use Diligent Efforts under this 
Agreement shall not subject such party to any liability to the extent such failure is caused or occasioned by acts of God, 
acts of terrorism, fire, explosion, flood, drought, war, riot, sabotage, embargo, strikes or other labor disputes (which 
strikes or disputes need not be settled), compliance with any order, regulation, or request of government, or by any other 
event or circumstance of like character to the foregoing beyond the reasonable control and without the fault or 
negligence of such party, (a “ Force Majeure Event ”), provided such party uses reasonable efforts to remove such 
Force Majeure Event, gives the Stockholders’ Representative prompt notice of the existence of such Force Majeure 
Event and as promptly as reasonably practicable resumes Diligent Efforts after the Force Majeure Event is alleviated.  
   

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, at any time after the Effective Time Parent may 
provide written notice to the Stockholders’ Representative of Parent’s intent to discontinue development and 
commercialization of the DZNS Products, in which case the obligations of Parent and its Affiliates under this 
Agreement, including this Section 1.7, shall terminate immediately upon issuance of such notice (except (i) Section 4.3 
shall survive for three (3) years after the Closing and (ii) Parent’s obligation to pay any unpaid amounts under this 
Agreement which were earned prior to the issuance of such notice shall survive).  Following the Stockholder’s 
Representative’s receipt of such written notice from Parent, then, at the subsequent written request of the Stockholders’
Representative, Parent shall, subject to the terms and conditions of the SK License and to the extent permitted by the SK 
License and SK Bio, assign to the Stockholders’ Representative or its nominee, on behalf of the Former Holders, all 
assets of Parent and its Affiliates (including intellectual property rights and contracts) solely related to the DZNS 
Product (specifically including, to the extent permitted under the SK License or otherwise approved in writing by SK 
Bio, all rights under the SK License, all Neuronex Patents, all data solely related to the DZNS Product developed by or 
on behalf of the Company prior to Closing, all regulatory filings and approvals solely related to the DZNS Product, and 
all inventory of DZNS Product (with the Stockholders’ Representative promptly reimbursing Parent’s actual costs for 
such inventory)), with the Parent and the Stockholders’ Representative working together in good faith to facilitate and 
effectuate such assignment.  
   

(g)            Information Sharing.  
   

(1)           For so long as one or more Milestone Payments remains unpaid and still potentially 
payable, Parent shall provide, on an [***] basis commencing [***] months after [***], a written report to the 
Stockholders’ Representative or its designee in reasonable detail regarding Parent’s development efforts with respect to 
the DZNS Product, including the development status of the DZNS Product, regulatory status of the DZNS Product, the 
significant development efforts undertaken since the last report, the significant development efforts that are anticipated 
to be undertaken in the following twelve-month period and the status of efforts to achieve the Milestone Events (each 
such report, an  
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“ Update Report ”).  Within [***] ([***] days after receipt of an Update Report, if the Stockholders’ Representative 
requests a meeting with representatives of Parent to discuss such report, Parent shall make available for such a meeting 
(in person or by phone) senior medical and regulatory personnel responsible for the applicable activities set forth in the 
Update Report at a reasonable time and location and on reasonable prior notice.  
   

(2)           From the Closing Date until the expiration of the Earn-out Term, Parent shall upon the 
reasonable request of Stockholders’ Representative (or his designee) not more than [***] per year (or not more than 
[***] per calendar quarter during the period from the Closing Date until such time as Parent has paid the Milestone 
Payment payable upon approval of the FDA of the NDA for the DZNS Product) make available for a meeting (in person 
or by phone) senior sales and marketing personnel responsible for establishing and implementing sales and marketing 
strategy with respect to DZNS Product at a reasonable time and location and on reasonable prior notice.  Parent shall 
give due consideration to reasonable input provided by Stockholders’ Representative or his designee.  
   

(3)           Following Launch and for so long as one or more Earn-out Payments may be payable 
pursuant to this Agreement, Parent shall provide to the Stockholders’ Representative within [***] days after the end of 
each [***] (or [***] ([***]) days in the case of [***]) a statement setting forth in reasonable detail the calculation of the 
Earn-Out Payment for the applicable quarter, which information may be contained in the Update Report.  
   

(h)            Abandonment and Bankruptcy.  
   

(1)           In the event that Parent or Surviving Corporation determines that a Milestone Event or 
Sales Milestone is no longer achievable following the exercise of Diligent Efforts, it shall as promptly as reasonably 
practicable notify the Stockholders’ Representative in writing of such determination (a “ Milestone Abandonment 
Notice ”) specifying in reasonable detail the reasons the applicable determination was made.  In the event that the 
Stockholders’ Representative disputes any determination set forth in a Milestone Abandonment Notice (a “ Milestone 
Abandonment Dispute ”), the Stockholders’ Representative shall deliver a written notice (a “ Milestone 
Abandonment Objection Notice ”) to Parent and Surviving Corporation within [***] ([***]) days of receipt by the 
Stockholders’ Representative of the Milestone Abandonment Notice, specifying in reasonable detail the reasons the 
Stockholders’ Representative disputes the allegations set forth in the Milestone Abandonment Notice.  During the [***] 
([***]) day period following the delivery of any Milestone Abandonment Objection Notice, Parent and the 
Stockholders’ Representative shall attempt, in good faith, to resolve such dispute.  In attempting to resolve such dispute, 
Parent shall provide the Stockholders’ Representative and its representatives access to any information related to the 
applicable milestone, even if any inspection has occurred in accordance with Section 1.7 at any time during the twelve 
(12) preceding months.  If at the end of the [***] ([***]) day period following the delivery of any Milestone 
Abandonment Objection Notice, Parent and the Stockholders’ Representative shall not have reached agreement with 
respect to the dispute, either may cause such dispute to be finally resolved in accordance with Section 8.6.  If the 
Stockholders’ Representative does not deliver a Milestone Abandonment Objection Notice within [***] ([***])  
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days following receipt by the Stockholders’ Representative of a Milestone Abandonment Notice, [***].  
   

(2)           Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, immediately upon the 
occurrence of any proceeding by Surviving Corporation or Parent under any bankruptcy or similar law, or placement of 
Surviving Corporation’s or Parent’s assets in the hands of a trustee or receiver, to the extent not previously paid, [***] 
shall become due and payable; provided, however, that in a case under title 11 of the United States Code, if Parent 
assumes this Agreement in accordance with section 365 of title 11 of the United States Code and cures any and all 
outstanding defaults, including any and all monetary and non-monetary defaults, within five Business Days of entry of 
an order authorizing such assumption, then [***] shall not be deemed accelerated in accordance with this Section 1.7(h), 
but shall remain due and payable in accordance with the deadlines and subject to the conditions set forth in Section 1.7.  
   

(i)            Audit Rights.  
   

Once per [***] following Launch and until [***] ([***]) [***] after Earn- out Payments become payable 
pursuant to this Agreement, the Stockholders’ Representative shall have the right to retain and cause an independent, 
certified public accountant reasonably acceptable to Parent to conduct an audit of relevant records of Parent, its 
Affiliates and any licensees, sublicensees or relevant third parties in order to confirm Net Sales of the DZNS Product and 
the amount of Sales Milestone Payments and Earn-out Payments payable during the prior [***] [***] period pursuant to 
Section 1.7.  Such audits may be conducted during normal business hours at the headquarter offices of Parent upon 
reasonable prior written notice to Parent or such other party. Parent shall include in any relevant agreement audit rights 
in favor of the Stockholders’ Representative. The Stockholders’ Representative and/or Former Holders shall bear the full 
cost of such audit unless such audit discloses that Sales Milestone Payments or Earn-out Payments have been underpaid 
for the applicable period by [***]% or more, in which case, Parent shall bear the full cost of such audit.  Parent shall as 
promptly as reasonably practicable remit any underpayment of Sales Milestone Payments and Earn-out Payments in 
accordance with Section 1.7(d).  Any over-payment of Sales Milestone Payments or Earn-out Payments may be 
recovered by Parent solely by deducting the amount thereof from any future Sales Milestone Payments or Earn-out 
Payments.  
   

1.8            Hold-back Amount.   Within ten (10) Business Days after the first anniversary of the Effective Time, 
Parent shall deliver to the Stockholders’ Representative written notice of the current Hold-back Amount, as adjusted to 
date in accordance with Section 1.5 and Article 7.  Within three (3) Business Days of receipt of the notice, Stockholders’
Representative shall deliver to Parent a Hold-back Allocation Certificate.  Parent shall pay or cause to be paid the Hold-
back Amount in accordance with the Hold-back Allocation Certificate within thirty (30) days following receipt of the 
Hold-back Allocation Certificate.  
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2.            REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY.  
   

The Company represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub that, except as disclosed in the Disclosure 
Schedule:  
   

2.1            Due Organization; Organizational Documents.   The Company is a corporation duly organized, 
validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the state of Delaware and has all necessary corporate power and 
authority to own and lease its assets and properties and to conduct its business in the manner in which its business is 
currently being conducted  (the “ Current Company Business ”).  The Company is duly qualified to do business as a 
foreign corporation and is in good standing (if such concept is applicable in the relevant jurisdiction) under the Laws of 
all jurisdictions where the operation of the Current Company Business by the Company requires such qualification.  The 
Company has provided to Parent true, correct and complete copies of the certificate of incorporation (the “ Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation ”) and bylaws of the Company (the “ Bylaws ”), in each case including all amendments 
thereto, as in effect as of the date of this Agreement.  The minute books of the Company have been provided to Parent 
and contain a complete and accurate summary of all meetings of directors and stockholders or actions by written consent 
since inception through the date of this Agreement.  The Company is not in violation of any of the provisions of its 
Restated Certificate or Bylaws.  The Company has no Subsidiaries, and the Company does not directly or indirectly own 
any equity or similar interest in, or any interest convertible or exchangeable or exercisable for, any equity or similar 
interest in, any corporation, partnership, joint venture or other business association or entity.  
   

2.2            Capitalization; Stockholder Information.  
   

(a)           The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of:  (i) 13,525,350 shares of Company 
Common Stock, of which 8,020,000 shares are issued and outstanding as of the date hereof and no shares are held by the 
Company as treasury shares; and (ii) 1,703,482 shares of Company Preferred Stock, all of which are designated Series A 
Preferred Stock, of which 1,576,356 are issued and outstanding as of the date hereof.  All outstanding shares of 
Company Common Stock and Company Preferred Stock (i) are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-
assessable, (ii) are free of any liens or encumbrances created by the Company, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, 
free of any liens or encumbrances created by or imposed upon the holders thereof, and (iii) were not issued in violation 
of any preemptive rights or rights of first refusal created by statute, the Restated Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws 
or any agreement to which the Company is a party or by which it is bound. As of the date of this Agreement, there are 
2,200,000 shares of Company Common Stock reserved for issuance under the Company Stock Plans, of which 
1,201,480 shares of Company Common Stock are subject to outstanding options and 998,520 shares of Company 
Common Stock are reserved for future option grants.  The Company has provided to Parent true, correct and complete 
copies of each form of stock option agreement and each Company Stock Plan evidencing outstanding Company 
Options.  As of the date of this Agreement, there are 127,126 shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock subject 
to outstanding Company Warrants.  The Company has provided to Parent true, correct and complete copies of each 
agreement and form of instrument associated with or evidencing Company Warrants.  All shares of Company Common 
Stock issuable upon  
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conversion of the outstanding shares of Company Preferred Stock or upon exercise of the Company Options or 
Company Warrants described in this Section 2.2 will be, when issued pursuant to the respective terms of such Company 
Preferred Stock, Company Options or Company Warrants duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.  
   

(b)           Part 2.2 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth, as of the date of this Agreement:  (i) the number 
of shares of Company Capital Stock that each current stockholder of the Company holds of record; and (ii) to the 
Knowledge of the Company, the address and state of residence of such stockholder.  
   

(c)           Part 2.2 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth the following information with respect to each 
outstanding Company Option and Company Warrant: (i) the name of the holder of the Company Option or Company 
Warrant, as applicable; (ii) the number of shares of Company Capital Stock subject to such Company Option or 
Company Warrant, and the date of grant, exercise price, number of shares vested as of the date hereof, vesting schedule, 
and, in the case of Company Options, the type of Company Option (i.e., an incentive stock option described in 
Section 422 of the Code or a nonstatutory stock option) as of the date the Company Option was granted and the 
Company Stock Plan or other plan under which such Company Options were granted; (iii) the exercise price; 
(iv) whether, in the case of a Company Option, such Company Option is subject to a Company Stock Plan; and (v) to the 
Knowledge of the Company, the address and state of residence of each such holder.  
   

(d)           Except for the rights created pursuant to this Agreement, the Company Options, the Company 
Warrants, the Company Preferred Stock and as set forth in Part 2.2 of the Disclosure Schedule, there are no options, 
warrants, calls, rights, commitments or agreements that are outstanding to which the Company is a party or by which it 
is bound, obligating the Company to issue, deliver, sell, repurchase or redeem, or cause to be issued, delivered, sold, 
repurchased or redeemed, any shares of Company Capital Stock or other equity security of the Company or obligating 
the Company to grant, extend, accelerate the vesting of, change the price of, or otherwise amend or enter into any option, 
warrant, call, right, commitment or agreement regarding shares of Company Capital Stock or other equity security of the 
Company.  Except as set forth in Part 2.2 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company does not have outstanding any 
bonds, debentures, notes or other obligations the holders of which have the right to vote (or convertible into or 
exercisable for securities having the right to vote) with the stockholders on any matter.  There are no declared or 
accumulated but unpaid dividends on any share of Company Capital Stock and no dividends or payments in lieu of 
dividends shall become payable as a result of the Merger or transactions contemplated hereby.  Other than as set forth in 
Part 2.2 of the Disclosure Schedule, there are no other contracts, commitments or agreements relating to the voting, 
purchase or sale of the Company’s capital stock: (A) between or among the Company and any of its stockholders; or 
(B) to the Knowledge of the Company, between or among any of the Company’s stockholders.  
   

2.3            Financial Statements; Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities.  
   

(a)           The Company has provided to Parent the unaudited balance sheet of the Company as of and for 
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011  (the “ Company Balance  
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Sheet ”) and the statement of operations and statement of cash flows for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 
(collectively, the “ Company Financial Statements ”).  The Company Financial Statements have been prepared in 
accordance with GAAP (except as disclosed in the notes thereto and except that the unaudited Company Financial 
Statements do not contain footnotes and are subject to normal year-end audit adjustments which are not material in scope 
or amount or that relate to non-cash charges for options or warrants or any potential consolidation of the Company with 
Aerial Biopharma) applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods covered.  The Company Financial Statements 
fairly present, in all material respects and in accordance with GAAP, the consolidated financial condition of the 
Company as of the dates indicated therein and the consolidated results of operations and cash flows of the Company for 
the periods indicated therein, except that the financial statements are subject to year-end audit adjustments and they do 
not contain footnotes.  No financial statement of any Person other than the Company is required by GAAP to be 
included in the Company Financial Statements.  The Company Financial Statements were derived from the books and 
records of the Company, have been maintained in all material respects in accordance with sound business practices, 
including the maintenance of an adequate system of internal controls.  
   

(b)           The Company does not have any contingencies, obligations or liabilities of any nature (whether 
absolute, accrued, matured or unmatured, fixed or contingent), other than: (i) those set forth or adequately provided for 
in the Company Balance Sheet; (ii) those not required to be reflected in the liabilities column of a balance sheet prepared 
in accordance with GAAP; (iii) those incurred in the ordinary course of business since the date of the Company Balance 
Sheet; and (iv) those incurred pursuant to or in connection with the execution, delivery or performance of this 
Agreement.  The Company does not have any factored receivables or other off-balance sheet obligations.  
   

2.4            Absence of Changes.   Except as set forth in Part 2.4 of the Disclosure Schedule, between December 
31, 2011 and the date of this Agreement the Company has conducted its business in the ordinary course consistent with 
past practice, and (a) there has not occurred any event, occurrence, development or state of circumstances or facts that 
has had or would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect; 
(b) there has been no material damage, destruction, or loss (whether or not covered by insurance) affecting the 
Company’s properties or business; (c) the Company has not declared or paid any dividend, stock, split, subdivision, 
exchange, combination, reclassification or other distribution (whether in cash, stock or property) with respect to shares 
of Company Capital Stock; (d) the Company has not incurred, outside the ordinary course of business, any liability, 
except for liabilities incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; 
(e) the Company has not has acquired, leased, transferred or sold any assets, except in the ordinary course of business, 
nor has the Company acquired the capital stock or assets, whether material individually or in the aggregate, of any third 
party; (f) the Company has not been party to any merger or consolidation with any third party, or any consolidation, 
restructuring, recapitalization, partial liquidation or dissolution, or other reorganization; (g) the Company has not 
implemented any material change in any accounting principles, method or practice, except as required by concurrent 
changes in GAAP, or changes in its fiscal year end; (h) the Company has not (i) granted rights with respect to any 
severance or termination pay (unless required by law) to any director, officer or employee, except for  
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payments and benefits made pursuant to existing agreements that are disclosed on Part 2.4 of the Disclosure Schedule, 
(ii) increased the benefits payable under any existing severance or termination pay policies or Employment Agreements 
to which the Company is a party except where the resulting benefits payable are set forth on Part 2.14 of the Disclosure 
Schedule, or (iii) entered into any employment, deferred compensation, or other similar agreement or materially 
increased the compensation, bonus, bonus opportunity or other benefits (except payments and benefits made pursuant to 
existing written agreements that are disclosed on Part 2.4 of the Disclosure Schedule) payable by the Company to 
directors, officers, or employees, in each case, other than those required by written contractual agreements or made in 
the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; (i) the Company has not terminated or modified the 
employment terms of any officer of the Company; (j) the Company has not entered into any joint venture, partnership, 
license or limited liability company or operating agreement with any Person, or agreement requiring the sharing of 
profits or revenues with any Person; (k) the Company has not made any capital expenditure, capital addition, capital 
improvement or acquisition of any property, plant, or equipment by the Company, in each case for a cost in excess of 
$10,000 in the aggregate; (l) the Company has not delayed or postponed in any material respect of the payment of 
accounts payable or other liabilities outside the ordinary course of business; (m) the Company has not incurred any lien 
on any assets, tangible or intangible, other than Permitted Encumbrances; (n) the Company has not issued, granted or 
sold any shares of capital stock (other than in connection with the exercise of outstanding options, warrants and 
preferred stock) or any other securities convertible into, or options, warrants or rights to purchase or subscribe for, or 
entered into any arrangement or contract with respect to any such issuance or sale; (o) the Company has not canceled, 
compromised, or released any material debts owed or waived or released or assigned any material claims or rights, or 
settled, compromised or terminated any existing lawsuit, legal claim or dispute, or the commenced any new lawsuit other 
than for the routine collection of bills; (p) the Company has not discharged or satisfied any Encumbrance, or paid any 
material obligation or liability other than liabilities incurred as of December 31, 2011 and liabilities incurred since 
December 31, 2011 in the ordinary course of business; (q) there has not occurred any breach, termination, modification, 
amendment or rescission of any Material Contract, or cancellation, waiver, assignment or release of any rights or claims 
under any Material Contract; (r) there has not occurred any Tax election (or change or revocation thereof), any adoption 
or change of any method of Tax accounting or Tax accounting period, any closing agreement, surrender of any rights to 
claim a Tax refund, any agreement, settlement or compromise of any audit, claim or assessment by any Tax authority, 
the filing of any amended Tax return, consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable to any 
Taxes; (s) there has not occurred any cancellation or termination of any insurance policy naming the Company as a 
beneficiary or a loss payee without obtaining comparable substitute insurance coverage; (t) there has not occurred any 
termination, modification or alteration in any material respect, practices or procedures with respect to clinical studies or 
trials of the products or product candidates, including protocol therefor, of any the Company; (u) the Company has not 
amended its Restated Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws or equivalent organizational documents; (v)  the Company 
has not incurred any additional Indebtedness, issued or sold any debt securities, or guaranteed any debt securities of 
others; and (w) the Company has not entered into any agreement, authorization or commitment, whether in writing or 
otherwise, to take any action described in this Section 2.4.  There is no investigation,  
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audit or review pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company or its properties or its 
officers or directors (in their capacities as such), by any Governmental Authority.  There is no judgment, decree, 
decision, injunction, ruling, subpoena or order against the Company or its assets or, to the Knowledge of the Company, 
against any of its directors or officers (in their capacities as such), that specifically names the Company or such directors 
or officers or that: (i) restricts in any material manner the use, transfer or licensing by the Company of any right or 
interest of the Company in any Company IP Right; or (ii) otherwise materially and adversely affects the conduct of the 
Current Company Business.  
   

2.5            Tangible Personal Property.   The Company has good and valid title to all of the items of tangible 
owned personal property reflected on the Company Balance Sheet or acquired after the date of the Company Balance 
Sheet, except for assets disposed of in the ordinary course of business since the date of the Company Balance Sheet, and 
all tangible personal property owned by the Company is owned free and clear of all mortgages, liens, pledges, security 
interests, adverse claims or other encumbrances, except for the following (which are referred to as the “ Permitted 
Encumbrances ”): (a) liens identified in Part 2.5 of the Disclosure Schedule; (b)  liens for current Taxes not yet due and 
payable or, to the extent identified in Part 2.12 of the Disclosure Schedule, that are being contested in good faith by 
appropriate proceedings and that are not material;(c) liens securing debt that is reflected on the Company Balance Sheet 
and that will be terminated at Closing; (d) statutory or common Law encumbrances to secure obligations to landlords, 
lessors or renters under leases or rental agreements; (e) deposits or pledges made in connection with, or to secure 
payment of, workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance or similar programs mandated by applicable Law; and 
(f) statutory or common Law liens in favor of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics and materialmen, to secure claims for 
labor, materials or supplies, and other like liens, which do not materially impair the ownership of the Company’s assets 
or properties.  
   

2.6            Real Property; Lease Agreements.   The Company does not own any real property or interests in real 
property.  Part 2.6 of the Disclosure Schedule contains a list of all lease agreements pursuant to which any real property 
is currently leased to the Company (the “ Real Property Lease Agreements ”).  Other than the Real Property Lease 
Agreements, the Company does not hold any leasehold interest or other interest in real property, and the Company is not 
party to any agreement obligating any of them to enter into any lease of real property or to acquire any other interest in 
real property.  Other than by the instruments referred to in Part 2.6 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Real Property Lease 
Agreements have not been amended or modified and no material consent or waiver has been granted with respect to any 
of the terms thereof.  
   

2.7            Intellectual Property.  
   

(a)           For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall be defined as follows:  
   

(1)           “ IP Rights ” means any and all of the following in any country: (A) Copyrights, Patent 
Rights, Trademark Rights, Know-How, domain name registrations, moral rights, Trade Secrets, industrial property 
rights, and other intellectual property rights and  
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intangible assets and all goodwill associated therewith; and (B) the right (whether at Law, in equity, by contract or 
otherwise) to use, enforce or otherwise exploit any of the foregoing.  
   

(2)           “ Copyrights ” means all copyrights and copyrightable works, including all rights of 
authorship, use, publication, reproduction, distribution, performance, transformation, moral rights and rights of 
ownership of copyrightable works, all copyright registrations and applications for copyright registration, and all rights to 
register and obtain renewals and extensions of registrations, together with all other interests accruing by reason of 
international copyright.  
   

(3)           “ Know-How ” means any unpublished inventions (whether patentable or not), 
invention disclosures, discoveries, improvements, Trade Secrets, proprietary or confidential information, know how, 
technology, processes, data, supplier and customer lists, databases and data collection, and any other proprietary rights 
of the Company, and all documentation relating to any of the foregoing.  
   

(4)           “ Patent Rights ” means all issued patents and pending patent applications (which for 
purposes of this Agreement shall include any and all patent rights, including utility models, design patents, certificates of 
invention and applications for certificates of invention and priority rights) in any country, including all provisional 
applications, substitutions, continuations, continuations-in-part, divisions, renewals, reissues, re-examinations and 
extensions thereof and all patents of addition, restorations, extensions, supplementary protection certificates, registration 
or confirmation patents, and all patents and applications claiming priority thereto.  
   

(5)           “ Company IP Rights ” means all IP Rights owned solely by the Company or jointly by 
the Company and one or more third parties, or in which the Company has any right, title or interest, including all IP 
Rights licensed to the Company.  
   

(6)           “ Trade Secret ” means shall mean any, confidential unpatented or unpatentable 
inventions, processes, formulae, developments, discoveries, technology, compounds, technical information, methods, 
materials, assays, molecules, protocols, reagents, experiments, lab results, test, know-how, concepts, ideas, research and 
development, business plans, strategies or other confidential information or materials which the owner or possessor 
thereof determines confers competitive advantage due to its being generally undisclosed or not disseminated to the 
public.  
   

(7)           “ Trademark Rights ” means all trademarks, including common law trademarks, 
registered trademarks, applications for registration of trademarks, service marks, registered service marks, applications 
for registration of service marks, brand names, trade names, certification marks, design marks, logos, trade dress, 
registered trade names, applications for registration of trade names, internet domain name registrations, and any 
goodwill associated therewith, and including any renewal of any of the foregoing.  
   

(b)           Part 1 of Part 2.7(b) of the Disclosure Schedule lists all of the Patent Rights and all registered 
Trademark Rights (or Trademark Rights for which applications for  
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registration have been filed) owned solely by the Company, setting forth in each case the jurisdictions in which patents 
have been issued, patent applications have been filed and/or published, trademarks have been registered and trademark 
applications have been filed, copyrights have been registered and copyright registration applications have been filed, or 
common law trademarks exist, along with the respective application, registration or filing number.  Part 2 of Part 2.7(b) 
of the Disclosure Schedule lists, as of the date hereof, all of the Patent Rights, Copyrights and all registered Trademark 
Rights (or Trademark Rights for which applications for registration have been filed) in which the Company has any joint 
ownership interest, other than those owned solely by the Company, setting forth in each case the jurisdictions in which 
patents have been issued, patent applications have been filed and/or published, copyrights have been registered and 
copyright registration applications have been filed or contemplated to be used in connection with the research, 
development, use, manufacture, promotion, sale, commercialization or importation of any of DZNS Product, trademarks 
have been registered and trademark applications have been filed, along with the respective application, registration or 
filing number.  Part 3 of Part 2.7(b) of the Disclosure Schedule lists, to the Knowledge of Company as of the date 
hereof, all of the Patent Rights and all registered Trademark Rights (or Trademark Rights for which applications for 
registration have been filed) which are material with respect to the research, development, use, manufacture, promotion, 
sale, commercialization or importation of any DZNS Product and in which the Company has any express right, title or 
interest, other than those owned solely or jointly by the Company, and other than rights arising under “shrink wrap” or 
“click through” license agreements accompanying widely available computer software that has not been modified or 
customized for the Company.  
   

(c)           Part 2.7(c) of the Disclosure Schedule lists all oral or written contracts, agreements, licenses and 
other arrangements in effect under which any third party has licensed, granted or conveyed to the Company any right, 
title or interest in or to any Company IP Rights, and other than rights arising under “shrink wrap” or “click through”
license agreements accompanying widely available computer software that has not been modified or customized for the 
Company.  
   

(d)           Part 2.7(d) of the Disclosure Schedule lists all oral and written contracts, agreements, licenses 
or other arrangements in effect under which the Company has licensed, granted or conveyed to any third party any right, 
title or interest in or to any Company IP Rights.  
   

(e)           The Company owns, solely or jointly or otherwise possesses legally enforceable rights in and to 
all necessary IP Rights that are currently used or currently contemplated to be used in connection with the research, 
development, use, manufacture, promotion, sale, commercialization or importation in the Territory of any DZNS 
Product under development by Company.  No party has challenged or is challenging (nor is there any basis for such 
challenge) the right, title or interest of the Company in, to or under the Company IP Rights, or the validity, 
enforceability or claim construction of any Patent Rights owned (solely or jointly) or exclusively licensed to the 
Company.  The Company IP Rights constitute all material IP Rights necessary for the research, development, use, 
manufacture, promotion, sale, commercialization and/or importation of DZNS Product in the Territory as currently 
contemplated.  
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(f)           Each of the Company’s current policies and procedures to protect and maintain the 

confidentiality of the proprietary Know-How and Trade Secrets included in the Company IP Rights are listed on Part 2.7
(f) of the Disclosure Schedule and such policies and procedures have been in effect since the Company’s 
incorporation.  All current and former officers and employees of, and service providers, consultants and independent 
contractors to, the Company who have contributed to the creation or development of any Company IP Right have 
executed and delivered to the Company an agreement regarding the protection of proprietary information and the 
assignment to the Company of any IP Rights arising from services performed for the Company by such persons, the 
current forms of which agreements have been provided to Parent.  No current or former officers and employees of, or 
consultants or independent contractors to, the Company have breached in any material respect any term of any such 
agreements, and no employee, independent contractor, service provider, consultant or agent of the Company is in 
material default or breach of any term of any employment agreement, non-disclosure agreement, assignment of 
invention agreement or similar agreement, contract or company policy or practice relating in any way to the protection, 
ownership, development, use or transfer of the Company IP Rights.  
   

(g)           To the Knowledge of the Company, the research, development, use, manufacture, promotion, 
sale, commercialization and/or importation of DZNS Product in the Territory as currently contemplated by the Company 
does not and will not infringe, constitute contributory infringement, or inducement to infringe any Patent Rights, Trade 
Secrets or Know-How of any other Person.  The Company has not received any notice or other communication asserting 
any of the foregoing.  No current or former employee, consultant, service provider or other independent contractor of the 
Company has misappropriated or unlawfully used any Trade Secrets or Know-How of any Person in connection with 
their provision of services to the Company.  
   

(h)           To the Knowledge of the Company, no Company IP Rights are being or have been infringed or 
misappropriated by any third party.  
   

(i)           Neither the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement by the Company nor the 
consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will contravene, conflict with or 
result in any limitation on the Company’s right, title or interest in, to or under any of the Company IP Rights.  
   

(j)           The Company has not received notice of and to its Knowledge there is no reasonable basis for 
any claim by any third party against the Company, and no third party has threatened any claim against the Company, in 
each case that would (i) adversely affect the ownership rights of the Company in, under or to (A) any of the Company IP 
Rights or (B) any oral or written contract, agreement, license or other arrangement under which the Company has any 
right, title or interest in, under or to any of the Company IP Rights or (ii) adversely affect the ability of the Company to 
research, develop, use, manufacture, promote, sell, commercialize or import any DZNS Product.  To the Knowledge of 
the Company, no third party is asserting any suit, action or claim against any Person (including the Company) or their 
respective Affiliates, nor is any such claim being asserted or, being threatened against any such Person, which would 
adversely affect the ownership rights of the Company in, to or under (1) any of the Company IP  
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Rights or (2) any contract, agreement, license or other arrangement under which the Company has any right, title or 
interest in, under or to any of the Company IP Rights.  
   

(k)           The Company does not jointly own any Company IP Rights with any Person, except as 
disclosed in Part 2 of Part 2.7(b) of the Disclosure Schedule.  No current or former officer, manager, director or 
employee of the Company, and no stockholder, consultant or independent contractor of the Company, has any right, title 
or interest in, to or under any Company IP Rights that has not been exclusively assigned, to the Company.  
   

(l)           The Company is not party to any oral or written contract, agreement, license or other 
arrangement that restricts the use, transfer, delivery or licensing of the Company IP Rights (or any tangible embodiment 
thereof).  
   

(m)           The Company has instituted the policies and procedures listed in Part 2.7 of the Disclosure 
Schedule to protect and maintain the confidentiality and proprietary nature of the Know-How that constitutes a Trade 
Secret.  The Company has not granted, licensed or conveyed to any third party, pursuant to any written or oral contract, 
agreement, license or other arrangement, any license or other right, title or interest in, to or under any Company IP 
Rights (or any tangible embodiment thereof).  There are no outstanding obligations to pay any amounts or provide other 
material consideration to any other Person in connection with any Company IP Rights (or any tangible embodiment 
thereof).  
   

(n)           The Company is not currently a party to any written or oral contract, agreement, license or other 
arrangement to indemnify, hold harmless or otherwise assume any liability of any other Person against any charge of 
infringement or misappropriation of any IP Rights.  
   

(o)           With respect to each Company IP Right, payment of all necessary registration, maintenance, 
annuities and renewal fees in connection with such Company IP Right has been made and all necessary documents and 
certificates in connection with such Company IP Right have been filed with the relevant Governmental Authorities in the 
United States and elsewhere in the Territory as applicable for the purposes of maintaining such Company IP Right and 
no information material to patentability under applicable Law has been withheld from the examining office.  
   

2.8            Contracts.  
   

(a)           Part 2.8 of the Disclosure Schedule identifies each Material Contract (as defined below) that is 
in effect as of the date of this Agreement, other than Material Contracts described in clause “(ix)” of the definition of 
Material Contract that are disclosed on Part 2.13 of the Disclosure Schedule. For purposes of this Agreement, “ Material 
Contract ” shall mean any oral or written contract, agreement, license or commitment to which the Company is a party: 
(i) (A) under which future receipts or expenditures required to be made by the Company in the current or any future 
fiscal year could exceed $50,000 or (B) in which the Company has granted manufacturing rights, “most favored nation”
pricing provisions or marketing or distribution rights relating to any services, products or territory or has agreed to 
purchase a minimum  
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quantity of goods or services or has agreed to purchase goods or services exclusively from a certain party; (ii) pursuant 
to which the Company has licensed from any Person any Company IP Rights; (iii) pursuant to which the Company has 
granted rights to any third party to any Company IP Rights; (iv) evidencing Indebtedness for, or a guarantee by the 
Company of Indebtedness of $50,000 or more; (v) creating or relating to any partnership, limited liability company or 
joint venture between the Company and any third party or providing for any sharing of profits or losses by the Company 
with any third party; (vi) containing covenants limiting the freedom of the Company or their Affiliates to compete in any 
line of business, in any geographic region or with any third party; (vii) that constitutes a Real Property Lease 
Agreement; (viii) providing for earn-out payments by the Company; (ix)(A) relating to the employment of, or the 
performance of services by, any employee or consultant other than at-will employment arrangements terminable at any 
time without the payment of any penalty, (B) pursuant to which the Company is or may become obligated to make any 
severance, termination, or similar payment to any current or former employee, officer, consultant or director, 
(C) pursuant to which the Company is or may become obligated to make any bonus or similar payment to any current or 
former employee, officer, consultant or director, or (D) pursuant to which the Company may be required to provide, or 
accelerate the vesting of, any payments, benefits, or equity rights upon the occurrence of any of the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement; (x) that provides for indemnification of any officer, director, employee, or agent of the 
Company; (xi) imposing any of the following:  (A) a restriction on the right or ability of the Company or its Affiliates to 
manufacture, research, develop or commercialize any products, (B) a restriction on the right or ability of the Company or 
its Affiliates to solicit for employment or hire any employees of any other Person or (C) a restriction on the right or 
ability of the Company or its Affiliates to transact any particular business; (xii) any union contract or collective 
bargaining agreement; (xiii) any lease for personal property in which the amount of payments which the Company is 
required to make in the aggregate exceeds $10,000; (xiv) any agreement relating to a merger, acquisition of assets or any 
capital stock of any business enterprise; (xv) any nondisclosure or confidentiality agreements other than those entered 
into in the ordinary course of business; (xvi) any contract or group of related contracts with the same party for the 
purchase or sale of supplies, equipment or other personal property or for the furnishing or receipt of services under 
which the undelivered balance of such products and/or services has a selling price in excess of $50,000; (xvii) any 
contract or agreement with a Governmental Authority under which goods, services or financing are provided or are to be 
provided to or by such Governmental Authority; (xviii) any settlement, conciliation or similar agreement; (xix) any 
contract with a “material supplier” (as defined in Section 2.9 below); or (xx) any other contract, agreement, or 
commitment not otherwise listed in Part 2.8 of the Disclosure Schedule, (A) the termination of which would reasonably 
be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, or (B) that, if no required consent regarding the transactions 
contemplated hereby is obtained, would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.  The 
Company has provided to Parent a copy of each Material Contract (or, in the case of an oral agreement, a written 
description of the material terms of such oral agreement).  
   

(b)           Each Material Contract is valid and in full force and effect and, with respect to each party 
thereto, other than the Company, is binding and enforceable against such party, subject to: (i) Laws of general 
application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors; and (ii) rules of Law governing specific 
performance, injunctive relief and other  
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equitable remedies. To the Knowledge of the Company, no party is in breach or in default under any Material 
Contract.  No event has occurred that with notice or lapse of time would constitute a material breach or material default 
thereunder by the Company or would permit the modification or premature termination of such Material Contract by any 
other party thereto.  No written notice of any claim of breach, default or violation that has not been cured or settled has 
been given to the Company.  
   

(c)           The Company is not in breach or default of its obligations under that certain License Agreement 
dated July 6, 2010 between the Company and SK Biopharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., as assignee of SK Holdings Co., Ltd. 
(such agreement referred to as the “ SK License ” and such party referred to herein as “ SK Bio ”), and the Company 
has not received a notification of breach or default from SK Bio or any of its agents or affiliates, nor is the Company 
aware of any events, facts or circumstances that could be reasonably expected to give rise to such a breach or 
default.  To the Company’s Knowledge, SK Bio has complied in all material respects with its obligations under the SK 
License. The SK License is valid and in full force and effect with respect to each party thereto and is binding and 
enforceable against each such party, subject to (i) Laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the 
relief of debtors; and (ii) rules of Law governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable 
remedies.  The Company has provided a true, correct and complete copy of the SK License to Parent.  The Company has 
provided true, correct and complete copies of the written development plan most recently agreed upon between the 
Company and SK Bio and minutes (approved by both the Company and SK Bio, in one case as redacted) of all meetings 
of the JDC (as such term is defined in the SK License) at which amendments or updates to such most recently agreed 
upon written development plan were reviewed and discussed, and collectively such written development plan and 
redacted minutes (the “ Development Plan Documentation ”) represent the development plan for the DZNS Product as 
currently agreed upon by the Company and SK Bio, and the Company is in full compliance with such development plan. 
   

2.9            Suppliers.   No current material supplier of services or supplies to the Company has canceled or 
otherwise terminated, or to the Knowledge of the Company made any threat to the Company to cancel or otherwise 
terminate, its relationship with the Company or has at any time on or after the date of the Company Balance Sheet, 
decreased its services or supplies to the Company.  To the Knowledge of the Company, no such supplier has indicated to 
the Company that such supplier intends to cancel or otherwise terminate its relationship with the Company or to 
decrease in any material respect its delivery of services or supplies to the Company.  
   

2.10            Compliance with Laws.   The Company is, and at all times since its inception has been, in 
compliance with all Laws which are applicable to the operation of the Current Company Business.  The Company has 
not received, at any time any written notice or other written communication from any Governmental Authority or any 
other Person or to the Knowledge of the Company any oral communication from any Governmental Authority regarding 
(a) any actual, alleged, possible or potential material violation of, or material failure to comply with, any applicable Law, 
or (b) any actual, alleged, possible or potential material obligation on the part of the Company to undertake, or to bear all 
or any portion of the cost of, any remedial action of any nature in connection with such a violation of any applicable 
Law.  No event has occurred or circumstance exists that (with or without notice or lapse of time) would reasonably be 
expected  
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to (A) constitute or result in a material violation by the Company of, or a failure on the part of the Company to comply 
with applicable Laws, or (B) give rise to any material obligation on the part of the Company to undertake, or to bear all 
or any portion of the cost of, any remedial action of any nature.  
   

2.11            Permits.  
   

(a)           The Company has obtained all permits, approvals, licenses and registrations (“ Governmental 
Approvals ”) from U.S. federal, state and local as well as foreign Governmental Authorities that are applicable to the 
conduct of the Current Company Business.  All such Governmental Approvals are valid and in full force and effect.  Part 
2.11 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of each material Governmental Approval that is 
held by the Company or is necessary in connection with the conduct of the Current Company Business and the 
ownership of the properties and assets of the Company.  The Company is, and at all times since its inception has been, in 
material compliance with all of the terms and requirements of each such Governmental Approval.  The Company has not 
received any written notice or other communication from any Governmental Authority regarding (i) any actual, alleged, 
possible or potential violation of or failure to comply with any term or requirement of any Governmental Approval or 
(ii) any actual, proposed, possible or potential revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation, termination of or 
modification to any Governmental Approval.  
   

(b)           No event has occurred or circumstance exists that would reasonably be expected to (with or 
without notice or lapse of time) (i) constitute or result directly or indirectly in a material violation of or a failure to 
comply with any term or requirement of any Governmental Approval listed or required to be listed in Part 2.11 of the 
Disclosure Schedule or (ii) result directly or indirectly in the revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation or 
termination of, or any modification to, any Governmental Approval listed or required to be listed in Part 2.11 of the 
Disclosure Schedule.  
   

(c)           All applications required to have been filed for the renewal of the Governmental Approvals 
listed or required to be listed in Part 2.11 of the Disclosure Schedule have been duly filed on a timely basis with the 
appropriate Governmental Authorities, and all other filings required to have been made with respect to such 
Governmental Approval have been duly made on a timely basis with the appropriate Governmental Authorities.  
   

(d)           The Governmental Approvals listed in Part 2.11 of the Disclosure Schedule collectively 
constitute all of the Governmental Approvals necessary to permit the Company Current Business to be lawfully 
conducted and operated and to permit the Company to own and use its assets.  
   

2.12            Tax Matters.  
   

(a)           All Tax Returns required to be filed on or before the Closing Date with any Taxing Authority 
(determined without regard to extensions) by or on behalf of the Company, either separately or as a member of a 
combined or affiliated group of corporations, have been  
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duly and timely filed on or before the applicable due date (determined with regard to extensions) in material compliance 
with all Laws.  All such Tax Returns filed by or on behalf of the Company were true, correct and complete in all 
material respects, and the Company has timely paid, or withheld and remitted to the appropriate Taxing Authority, all 
Taxes owed by the Company (whether or not shown, or required to be shown, on any Tax Return).  No written claim has 
ever been received by the Company from a Taxing Authority representing a jurisdiction where the Company does not 
file Tax Returns or does not pay and collect Taxes in respect of a particular type of Tax imposed by such jurisdiction, 
that the Company is or may be subject to Tax in that jurisdiction, or is or may be required to pay and collect Taxes, in 
respect of such Tax in that jurisdiction.  
   

(b)           The Company has not:  (i) been granted or requested any extension of time within which to file 
any Tax Return or pay any Tax; (ii) been granted or requested any extension of time with respect to a Tax assessment or 
deficiency or (iii) been granted or requested any extension or waiver of the statute of limitations period applicable to any 
Tax or Tax Return, which period (after giving effect to such extension or waiver) has not yet expired.  There are no 
requests for rulings or determinations in respect of any Tax pending as of the date of this Agreement between the 
Company and any Taxing Authority.  The Company has not received from any Taxing Authority any (A) written notice 
concerning any disputes, investigations, proceedings, claims, audit or other review; (B) written request for information 
related to Tax matters; or (C) written notice of deficiency or proposed adjustment for any amount of Tax proposed, 
asserted or assessed by any Taxing Authority against the Company.  To Company’s Knowledge, no dispute, audit, 
investigation, proceeding or claim related to Tax matters is pending, being conducted or claimed.  The Company has not 
filed any amended Tax Return, entered into or received any advance pricing agreement, closing agreement, private letter 
ruling, technical advice memoranda or other ruling or other agreement relating to Tax, settled any Tax claim or 
assessment, or surrendered any right to claim a Tax refund, offset or other reduction in Tax liability.  
   

(c)           Except for Permitted Encumbrances, there are no encumbrances for Taxes upon the assets of the 
Company.  
   

(d)           The Company has timely and properly withheld and paid to the appropriate Governmental 
Authority all Taxes required to have been withheld and paid in connection with any amounts paid or deemed paid or 
owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, shareholder or other third party and the Company has 
complied with all reporting and recordkeeping requirements with respect thereto.  
   

(e)           Except as set forth on Part 2.12(e) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company has not been a 
member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group, and the Company is not party to any Tax Sharing 
Agreement and does not have any liability for the Taxes of any other Person as a transferee or successor, or under 
Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law).  
   

(f)           The Company: (i) is not a party to any understanding or arrangement described in Section 6662
(d)(2)(C)(ii) of the Code; (ii) has not participated in a “reportable  
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transaction” within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4 (or any similar provision of state, local or 
foreign Law); (iii) during the five-year period ending on the date of this Agreement, was not a distributing corporation or 
a controlled corporation in a transaction intended to be governed by Section 355 of the Code; (iv) has not taken a 
position on any Tax Return that could give rise to a substantial understatement of Tax within the meaning of 
Section 6662 of the Code (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law) and (v) has not participated in or 
cooperated with an international boycott within the meaning of Section 999 of the Code or has not been requested to do 
so in connection with any transaction or proposed transaction.  
   

(g)           The Company is not and will not be required to: (i) make any adjustment for any Post-Closing 
Tax Period under Section 481 or Section 263A of the Code (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law) as a 
result of a change in method of accounting for a Pre-Closing Tax period; (ii) include for a Post-Closing Tax Period 
taxable income attributable to income economically realized in a Pre-Closing Tax Period, including any income 
attributable to any prepaid amount and any income that would be includible in a Post-Closing Tax Period as a result of 
the installment method or the look-back method (as defined in Section 460(b) of the Code (or any similar provision of 
state, local or foreign law)); or (iii) include any amount in income or exclude any item of deduction or loss in a Post-
Closing Tax Period as a result of entering into any “closing agreement” within the meaning of Section 7121 of the Code 
(or any similar provision of applicable state, local or foreign Law) on or prior to the Closing Date.  
   

(h)           The Company has not incurred a “dual consolidated loss” as that term is defined in 
Section 1503 of the Code and the corresponding Treasury Regulations issued thereunder.  
   

(i)           The Company has not been a United States real property holding corporation within the meaning 
of Code Section 897(c)(2) during the applicable period described in Code Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii).  
   

(j)           No election has been made under Treasury Regulations Section 301.7701-3 or any similar 
provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law to treat the Company as an association, corporation or partnership, and the 
Company is not disregarded as an entity for Tax purposes.  No election has been made under Section 1362 of the Code 
to treat the Company as an “S Corporation.”  
   

(k)           Except as set forth on Part 2.12(k) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company does not enjoy any 
Tax exemption, Tax holiday or reduced Tax rate granted by a Taxing Authority outside of the United States with respect 
to the Company that is not generally available to Persons without specific application therefor (each, a “ Tax Grant 
”).  The Company has complied in all material respects with the conditions stipulated in each Tax Grant, no submissions 
made to any Taxing Authority in connection with obtaining any Tax Grant contained any material misstatement or 
omission, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, the transactions expressly contemplated by this Agreement will not 
materially and adversely affect the eligibility of the Company for any Tax Grant.  
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(l)           The Company does not own, directly or indirectly, any interests in an entity that is or has been a 
“passive foreign investment company” within the meaning of Section 1297 of the Code or a “controlled foreign 
corporation” within the meaning of Section 957 of the Code.  
   

(m)           The Company has made available to Parent correct and complete copies of all Tax Returns, 
examination reports and statements of deficiencies assessed against or agreed to by the Company, or filed by or received 
by the Company, on or after April 1, 2010 until the date of this Agreement.  
   

(n)           The Company has not executed any power of attorney with respect to Tax, other than powers of 
attorney that are no longer in force.  
   

(o)           The unpaid Taxes of the Company (i) did not as of December 31, 2011 exceed the reserve for 
Taxes (excluding any reserve for deferred Taxes established to reflect timing differences between book and Tax income) 
set forth on the face of the Company Balance Sheet (rather than the notes thereto) and (ii) as of the Closing Date, will 
not exceed that reserve as adjusted for ordinary course operations through the Closing Date in accordance with the past 
custom and practice of the Company in filing its Tax Returns.  
   

(p)           The Company does not have and has never had any Subsidiaries.  
   

2.13            Employees and Consultants.   The Company has made available to Parent or Parent’s legal or 
financial advisor a list, as of the date of this Agreement, containing (a) the names of all current employees (including 
part-time employees and temporary employees), current leased employees, current independent contractors and current 
consultants of the Company, and (b) their current respective salaries or wages, other compensation, dates of 
employment, positions and all written agreements (other than written agreements that constitute Employee Benefit 
Plans) between the Company and such individuals or entities. Each written employment agreement (other than at-will 
offer letters with no severance, change in control benefits or guaranteed term or payments) in effect as of the date of this 
Agreement is set forth in Part 2.13 of the Disclosure Schedule and a copy of each written Employment Agreement and 
any written amendment thereto, and a description of any oral Employment Agreement or oral amendment to an 
Employment Agreement, has been has delivered or made available to Parent or Parent’s legal or financial advisor.  
   

2.14            Employee and Labor Matters; Benefit Plans.  
   

(a)           The Company has delivered or made available to Parent or Parent’s legal or financial advisor 
copies of all employee manuals and handbooks, policy statements and other materials in effect as of the date of this 
Agreement relating to the employment of the current employees of the Company or the engagement of the current 
independent contractors of the Company.  
   

(b)           The Company is not delinquent in any payments to any of its employees or independent 
contractors for any wages, salaries, commissions, bonuses or other direct compensation for any services performed for 
the Company.  Except as set forth in Part 2.14(b) of  
   
 

  

  
31 



 
the Disclosure Schedule, the execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby 
(including, without limitation, the actions set forth in Section 4.6 of this Agreement) do not constitute a triggering event 
under any Employee Benefit Plan, policy, arrangement, statement, commitment or agreement, whether or not legally 
enforceable, which (either alone or upon the occurrence of any additional or subsequent event) will or may result in any 
acceleration of, vesting of or increase in payments or benefits to any employee or former employee or director of, or 
other present or former provider of services to, the Company or any of the Subsidiaries.  Except as set forth in Part 2.14
(b) of the Disclosure Schedule, no Employee Benefit Plan provides for the payment of severance, termination, change-
in-control or any similar type of payments or benefits. Neither the Company nor any of its Affiliates is a party to any 
agreement that would require it or any of its Affiliates to make any payment on account of the execution of this 
Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby that would constitute a “parachute payment” 
for purposes of Sections 280G and 4999 of the Code (“ Parachute Payment Agreements ”).  As of the date of this 
Agreement, there are no grievances, complaints or charges pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened 
against the Company under any dispute resolution procedure or before any Government Entity.  The Company is not a 
party, or otherwise subject to any collective bargaining agreement or other labor union contract nor does the Company 
know of any activities or proceedings of any labor union to organize the employees of the Company as of the date of this 
Agreement.  
   

(c)           All “employee benefit plans” within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA, and any plan, 
program or arrangement that provides for deferred or incentive compensation, bonuses, severance, profit sharing, stock 
or stock-related awards, fringe benefits, short-term disability, employment, or other employees benefits of any kind, 
including Employment Agreements, in each case, currently maintained or sponsored by the Company for its employees 
are listed in Part 2.14(c) of the Disclosure Schedule (each, an “ Employee Benefit Plan ”).  For the avoidance of doubt, 
the provision of Social Security benefits to Company employees is not an Employee Benefit Plan for the purposes of this 
Agreement.  
   

(d)           The Company has made available to Parent or Parent’s legal or financial advisor: (i) correct and 
complete copies of each Employee Benefit Plan, including all amendments thereto; (ii) the three most recent annual 
reports (Series 5500 and all schedules thereto), if any, required under ERISA or the Code, or any similar applicable 
Laws of other jurisdictions applicable to the Company, in connection with each Employee Benefit Plan or related trust; 
(iii) if any Employee Benefit Plan is funded, the most recent, if any, annual and periodic accounting of such Employee 
Benefit Plan’s assets; (iv) the most recent summary plan description for Employee Benefit Plans for which a summary 
plan description is required by applicable Law, together with the most recent summary of material modifications, if any, 
with respect to each such Employee Benefit Plan; (v) all IRS determination, opinion, notification and advisory letters 
and rulings from the IRS or any similar Governmental Entity having jurisdiction over the Company issued to the 
Company relating to Employee Benefit Plans; (vi) copies of all applications and correspondence to or from the Company 
regarding actual or threatened audits or investigations to or from the IRS, DOL or any other Governmental Authority 
with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan, in each case sent or received in the three years prior to the date of this 
Agreement; (vii) all insurance policies of the Company pertaining to fiduciary liability insurance covering the fiduciaries 
of each Employee Benefit Plan; and (vii) all discrimination and  
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qualification tests, if any, prepared for each Employee Benefit Plan described in Section 401(k) of the Code.  
   

(e)           Each Employee Benefit Plan has been established and maintained in accordance with its terms 
and has complied in form, operation and administration(including, without limitation, with respect to reporting and 
disclosure) with all applicable Laws, including ERISA and the Code.  As of the date of this Agreement, there are no 
audits, investigations or legal proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened by the IRS or DOL 
or any other similar Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the Company with respect to any Employee 
Benefit Plan.  All annual reports and other filings required to be filed with the DOL or the IRS or any other similar 
Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the Company in respect of each Employee Benefit Plan have been 
timely made.  Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate is subject to any penalty or Tax with respect to any 
Employee Benefit Plan under Section 501(i) of ERISA or Section 4975 through 4980D of the Code or any similar 
applicable Laws and no Employee Benefit Plan is sponsored or maintained by any Person that is or was considered to be 
a co-employer with the Company.  
   

(f)           No Employee Benefit Plan, and no trustee or administrator thereof, engaged in any breach of 
fiduciary responsibility or any “prohibited transaction” (as such term is defined in Section 406 of ERISA or 
Section 4975 of the Code) to which Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code applies and which could subject 
any such Employee Benefit Plan or trustee or administrator thereof to the tax or penalty on prohibited transactions 
imposed by Section 4975 of the Code.  
   

(g)           No Employee Benefit Plan is or has at anytime in the past been (i) subject to the minimum 
funding requirements of Section 412 of the Code or Title IV of ERISA, or (ii) a “multiple employer welfare 
arrangement” within the meaning of Section 3(40) of ERISA.  
   

(h)           Each Employee Benefit Plan intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code is so 
qualified and has received a favorable determination letter from the IRS that such Employee Benefit Plan is a “qualified 
plan” under Section 401(a) of the Code, and the related trusts are exempt from Tax under Section 501(a) of the 
Code.  Since the date of each such determination letter, no event has occurred and no condition exists that would result 
in the revocation of any such determination letter or opinion letter or that would adversely affect the qualified status of 
any such Employee Benefit Plan (or the tax-exempt status of any such trust).  
   

(i)           With respect to Employee Benefit Plans, all required contributions have been made or properly 
accrued on the Company’s financial statements.  
   

(j)           Except as set forth in Part 2.14(j) of the Disclosure Schedule with respect to the Company’s 
payment of certain severance benefits related to the continuation of health insurance premiums under the Consolidated 
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended, the Company does not have any liability under any Employee 
Benefit Plan to provide medical or death benefits with respect to employees of the Company beyond their termination of 
employment (other than coverage mandated by Law), and there are no reserve assets, surplus or prepaid premiums under 
any such Employee Benefit Plan.  
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(k)           (A) Except as set forth in Part 2.14(k) of the Disclosure Schedule, no Employee Benefit Plan 

constitutes a “nonqualified deferred compensation plan” subject to Section 409A of the Code; (B) the Company has not 
elected to, nor is it required to, defer payment of amounts from a foreign entity which will be subject to the provisions of 
Section 457A of the Code; and (C) except as set forth in Part 2.14(k) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company has no 
obligation to gross-up or otherwise reimburse any Person for any tax incurred by such Person pursuant to Section 409A 
of the Code.  
   

(l)           With respect to each Employee Benefit Plan which provides for the grant of options to purchase 
stock of the Company, each such stock option has been granted at an exercise price equal to no less than the fair market 
value of the Company stock, at the date of grant and there has been no “backdating” of any such stock options.  No 
Employee Benefit Plan, including the administration thereof, is or has been in violation of Section 409A of the Code 
such that any tax or other penalty would be due (from any person) under Section 409A of the Code.  
   

(m)           The Company has no obligation and has had no obligation to contribute to any “multiemployer 
plan” within the meaning of Section 3(37) of ERISA or “multiple employee plan” within the meaning of Section 201 of 
ERISA.  
   

(n)           Neither the (i) termination of employment of each of the employees of the Company and/or the 
transfer of employees to Aerial (as defined in Section 4.6) nor (ii) the termination of engagement of each of the 
independent contractors of the Company will result in any liabilities or obligations for the Parent or the Surviving 
Corporation.  
   

(o)           The Company has properly classified for all purposes (including, without limitation, for all Tax 
purposes, wage and hour purposes and for purposes of determining eligibility to participate in any employee benefit 
plan) all employees, leased employees, consultants and independent contractors, and has withheld and paid all applicable 
Taxes and made all appropriate filings in connection with services provided by such persons to the Company.  The 
Company has not incurred, and no circumstances exist under which the Company would reasonably be expected to 
incur, any liability arising from the misclassification of employees as consultants or independent contractors, from the 
misclassification of consultants or independent contractors as employees, and/or from the misclassification of employees 
as exempt from the requirements of the Fair Labor Standards Act.  
   

(p)           Without limiting any other provision of this Section 2.14, no event has occurred and no 
condition exists, with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan, that has subjected or could subject the Company or any 
Employee Benefit Plan or any successor thereto, to any tax, fine, penalty or other liability (other than a liability arising 
in the normal course to make contributions or payments, as applicable, when ordinarily due under the Employee Benefit 
Plans with respect to employees (or, if applicable, independent contractors) of the Company).  No event has occurred 
and no condition exists, with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan that could subject Parent or any of its affiliates, or 
any employee benefit plan maintained by Parent or Merger Sub, to any tax, fine, penalty or other liability, that would not 
have been incurred by Parent or Merger Sub, or any such employee benefit plan, but for the transactions contemplated 
hereby.  Parent and Merger Sub (including without limitation, on and after the Closing, the  
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Company) shall have no liability for, under, with respect to or otherwise in connection with any Employee Benefit Plan, 
which liability arises under ERISA or the Code, by virtue of the Company being aggregated, with any other person that 
is an ERISA Affiliate, in a controlled group or affiliated service group for purposes of ERISA or the Code at any 
relevant time prior to the Closing.  
   

(q)           The Company does not have any commitment to create, modify or terminate any employee 
benefit plan.  No event has occurred and no condition exists that would prevent the amendment or termination of any 
Employee Benefit Plan in accordance with its terms, and no Employee Benefit Plan restricts the amendment or 
termination thereof (other than as necessary to comply with law or the Code).  No event has occurred and no condition 
exists that would be reasonably expected to result in a material increase in the benefits under or the expense of 
maintaining any Employee Benefit Plan from the level of benefits or expense incurred for the most recent fiscal year 
ended thereof.  
   

(r)           No arbitration order, court decision, governmental order or Material Contract to which the 
Company is a party or is subject in any limits or restricts the Company from relocating or closing any of the operations 
of the Company.  
   

(s)           The Company is, and at all times since its inception has been, in compliance with all applicable 
Laws respecting employment and employment practices and terms and conditions of employment, including but not 
limited to wages and hours and the classification of employees and independent contractors.  
   

2.15            Environmental Matters.  
   

(a)           The following terms shall be defined as follows:  
   

(1)           “ Environmental Laws ” shall mean any applicable international, national, federal, 
state or local governmental Laws, permits, licenses, certificates, approvals, judgments, decrees, orders, directives, or 
requirements that regulate the protection or restoration of the environment, protection of public health and safety, or 
protection of worker health and safety, or that regulate the handling, use, manufacturing, processing, storage, treatment, 
transportation, discharge, release, emission, disposal, re-use, or recycling of Hazardous Materials.  
   

(2)           “ Hazardous Materials ” shall mean any material, chemical, compound, substance, 
waste, mixture or by-product that is identified, defined, designated, listed, restricted, regulated or otherwise 
characterized under Environmental Laws as hazardous, dangerous, radioactive, toxic, a pollutant, a contaminant, or 
words of similar meaning and effect, including any asbestos or asbestos containing materials, any polychlorinated 
biphenyls, and any petroleum or hydrocarbon substance, fraction, distillate or by-product.  
   

(b)           The Company is, and since April 1, 2010 has been, in compliance in all material respects with 
all Environmental Laws, including with respect to the properties or facilities used, leased or occupied by the Company 
(collectively, “ Company’s Facilities ”).  Except as listed in Part 2.15(b) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company has 
not and, to the  
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Company’s Knowledge, no third party has discharged, emitted, released, leaked, spilled, or disposed of (or arranged for 
the transportation or disposal of) Hazardous Materials at or from any of Company’s Facilities, and the Company has not 
received any written request for information or written notice alleging that it is a potentially responsible party for 
Hazardous Materials at any of the Company’s Facilities or any other property.  No civil, criminal or administrative 
action, proceeding or, to the Company’s Knowledge, investigation is pending against the Company, or, to the 
Company’s Knowledge, is being threatened against the Company, with respect to Hazardous Materials or Environmental 
Laws.  The Company has not assumed, by contract or operation of Law, any liability or obligation under Environmental 
Laws other than general obligations under Contracts to comply with Applicable Laws.  
   

2.16            Insurance .  Part 2.16 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of all policies of insurance or 
fidelity bonds relating to the business, operations and assets of the Company.  The Company has provided to Parent 
copies of such insurance policies.  Such policies are in full force and effect and the Company is in compliance in all 
material respects with the terms of such policies.  There is no claim pending under any of such policies or fidelity bonds 
as to which coverage has been questioned, denied or disputed by the underwriters of such policies or bonds.  The 
Company has no Knowledge of any threatened termination of, or premium increase with respect to, any of such 
policies.  Part 2.16 of the Disclosure Schedule describes all obligations of the Company under Material Contracts to 
provide insurance to third parties (for example, under lease or service agreements) and identifies the policy under which 
such coverage is provided.  
   

2.17            Transactions with Affiliates.   Except as set forth in Part 2.17 of the Disclosure Schedule, the 
Company is not indebted to any director, officer or employee of the Company (except for amounts due as salaries and 
bonuses under employment agreements or employee benefit plans and amounts payable in reimbursement of ordinary 
expenses), and no director, officer or employee is indebted to the Company.  Except as set forth in Part 2.17 of the 
Disclosure Schedule, (a) none of the holders of Company Capital Stock, Company Warrants or Company Options (or 
their Affiliates, directors, officers, employees or shareholders) and none of the directors, officers, employees or 
securityholders of the Company has been involved in any material business arrangement with the Company (other than 
in such Person’s capacity as a director, officer, employee or securityholder, as the case may be), and (b) none of the 
holders of Company Capital Stock, Company Warrants, or Company Options (or their Affiliates, directors, officers, 
employees or shareholders) and none of the directors, officers, employees and securityholders of the Company owns any 
material asset, tangible or intangible, that is used in the business of the Company.  
   

2.18            Legal Proceedings.   There is no, and at no time since the Company’s inception has there been any, 
private or governmental action, lawsuit, investigation, audit or other legal proceeding pending (or, to the Company’s 
Knowledge, being threatened) against the Company or any of its officers or directors (in their capacities as such) before 
any court of competent jurisdiction or arbitrator.  Except as listed in Part 2.18 of the Disclosure Schedule there is no 
judgment, decree, decision, injunction, ruling, subpoena or order against the Company or its assets or, to the Knowledge 
of the Company, against any of its directors or officers (in their capacities as such), that specifically names the Company 
or such directors or officers.  
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2.19            Regulatory Compliance.  

   

(a)           As to each product candidate subject to the Food Drug and Cosmetic Act (“ FDCA ”) and the 
regulations of the FDA promulgated thereunder or similar Laws in any foreign jurisdiction that is or has been developed, 
manufactured and/or tested by or on behalf of the Company (each such product candidate, a “ Drug ”), each such Drug 
is being or has been developed, manufactured, labeled, stored, researched, distributed and/or tested in compliance with 
all applicable requirements under the FDCA, the regulations and draft or final regulatory guidance promulgated 
thereunder, the Public Health Service Act (“PHSA”), the regulations and draft or final regulatory guidance promulgated 
thereunder, and similar foreign, state and local Laws, regulations, and draft or final regulatory guidance, including those 
relating to investigational use, good manufacturing practices, good clinical practices, good laboratory practices, labeling, 
record keeping and filing of required reports.  The Company has not received any notice or other communication from 
the FDA or any other Governmental Authority (i) withdrawing or threatening to withdraw the investigational new drug 
application (“ IND ”) of any product candidate of the Company, (ii) placing or threatening to place any IND of the 
Company on “clinical hold”, or (iii) otherwise alleging any violation by the Company of any Laws or draft or final 
regulatory guidance or judgments applicable to any Drug.  The Company is not subject to and has no reason to believe it 
will be subject to any obligation arising under an administrative or regulatory action by any Governmental Authority, 
FDA inspection, FDA warning letter, FDA notice of violation letter, or other notice or communication, response, or 
commitment made to or with the FDA or any Governmental Authority.  Complete and accurate copies of all data of the 
Company, and all correspondence with the FDA and foreign health authorities, with respect to each Drug of the 
Company have been provided to Parent.  
   

(b)           All applicable approvals, clearances, authorizations, licenses, and registrations (collectively “
Approvals ”) required by the FDA or any other Governmental Authority to permit any manufacturing, labeling, storing, 
testing, research and development of Drug as previously conducted or currently being conducted by or on behalf of the 
Company: (i) with respect to all such activities being undertaken by the Company, have been obtained by the Company 
and (ii) with respect to all such activities undertaken on behalf of the Company, have been obtained by each third party 
undertaking such activities.  The Company is and, to the Company’s Knowledge, each such third party is, in compliance 
with all reporting requirements related to the foregoing approvals, clearances, authorizations, licenses and 
registrations.  All such Approvals held by the Company are, and to the Company’s Knowledge, all such Approvals held 
by third parties are, valid and in full force and effect and will continue to be in full force and effect immediately 
following the Effective Time and, as of the date of this Agreement, no proceeding is pending or, to the Knowledge of the 
Company, considered or threatened to revoke, suspend, cancel, terminate, or adversely modify any such Approval held 
by the Company or, to the Company’s Knowledge, any such Approval held by a  third party.  
   

(c)           All human clinical trials conducted by or on behalf of the Company have been, and are being, 
conducted in compliance with the applicable requirements of Good Clinical Practice, Informed Consent, and all other 
applicable requirements relating to protection of human subjects contained in 21 CFR Parts 312, 50, 54, 56 and 11 and 
all applicable guidelines, and all applicable foreign, state and local Laws. All non-clinical laboratory studies conducted 
by or on  
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behalf of the Company have been, and are being, conducted in compliance with the applicable requirements of Good 
Laboratory Practices, contained in 21 C.F.R. Part 58, and all applicable guidelines, and all applicable foreign, state and 
local Laws.  
   

(d)           The Company has filed or a third party on behalf of the Company has filed with the FDA or 
other appropriate Governmental Authorities all required notices, and annual or other reports, including notices of 
adverse events, serious and/or unexpected adverse events, and serious injuries or deaths related to the use of any Drug in 
human clinical trials, and the Company has provided copies of such notices to Parent. All such reports, documents, and 
notices were complete and correct in all material respects on the date filed (or were corrected in or supplemented by a 
subsequent filing) such that no liability exists with respect to the completeness or accuracy of such filing.  
   

(e)           All manufacturing, warehousing, distributing and testing operations conducted by or for the 
benefit of the Company with respect to any Drug being used in human clinical trials have been and are being conducted 
in accordance with the FDA’s current Good Manufacturing Practices (“ cGMP ”) regulations and guidelines for drug 
and biological products, as set forth in 21 CFR Parts 210 and 211.  In addition, the Company is in compliance with all 
applicable registration and listing requirements set forth in 21 U.S.C. Section 360 and 21 CFR Part 207 and all similar 
applicable Laws and regulations.  
   

(f)           Neither the Company nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, the Company’s agents or clinical 
investigators acting for the Company, has committed any act, made any statement or failed to make any statement that 
would reasonably be expected to provide a basis for the FDA to invoke its policy with respect to “Fraud, Untrue 
Statements of Material Facts, Bribery, and Illegal Gratuities” set forth in 56 Fed. Reg. 46191 (September 10, 1991) and 
any amendments thereto.  Additionally, neither the Company, nor to the Knowledge of the Company, any officer, 
director, employee or agent of the Company has been convicted of or charged with any crime or engaged in any conduct 
that would reasonably be expected to result, or has resulted, in (i) debarment under 21 U.S.C. Section 335a or any 
similar state Law, (ii) exclusion under 42 U.S.C. Section 1320a-7 or any similar state Law, (iii) exclusion from federal 
procurement programs and non-procurement programs (per the General Services Administration published list of 
parties), or (iv) debarment by any other federal or international Governmental Authority.  There is no civil, criminal, 
administrative or other action, suit, demand, claim, hearing, proceeding, notice, or demand pending, received by or, to 
the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company which could reasonably result in its exclusion from 
participation in any federal health care program or other third-party payment programs in which the Company 
participates.  
   

(g)           Neither the Company, nor any of the Company’s officers, directors, employees, or agents is a 
party to, or bound by, any order, individual integrity agreement, corporate integrity agreement or other similar formal 
agreement with any Governmental Authority resulting from a failure, or alleged failure, to comply with any applicable 
Law  
   

(h)           There are no investigations, suits, arbitrations, charges, complaints, claims, actions or 
proceedings filed or in progress or, to the Knowledge of the Company,  
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threatened against or affecting the Company relating to or arising under the FDCA, PHSA, FDA regulations adopted 
thereunder, the Controlled Substance Act or any other Law promulgated by any Governmental Authority.  
   

(i)           The Company has provided to Parent true and correct copies of all (i) FDA correspondence and 
minutes from meetings known to the Company with respect to the development of the DZNS Product, whether in 
person, by telephone or otherwise, between the Company and its affiliates or SK Bio and its affiliates and the FDA, (ii) 
pre-clinical and clinical study results known to the Company, including any interim and/or blinded results, any safety 
committee reviews and any unblinded data and results and (iii) chemistry, manufacturing, and controls (CMC) data 
known to the Company related to the DZNS Product.  
   

(j)           The Company has identified, disclosed to Parent, and thoroughly investigated all allegations 
(from internal or external sources) of which it has Knowledge of actual or potential non-compliance with the FDCA and 
the regulations and draft or final regulatory promulgated thereunder; the PHSA and the regulations and draft or final 
regulatory promulgated thereunder; all other applicable foreign, state and local Laws, regulations and guidance, 
including prohibitions against kickbacks and off-label promotion; industry best practices; or the Company’s own 
policies and procedures.  Such allegations and instances of potential or actual non-compliance and corresponding 
internal investigations are listed and described in Part 2.19(j) of the Disclosure Schedule.  The Company has made 
required disclosures with respect to the investigated conduct to the relevant Governmental Authority, as applicable.  
   

(k)           The Company has not marketed, advertised, distributed, sold, or commercialized any product 
and is not currently marketing, distributing, selling, or otherwise commercializing any product.  
   

2.20            Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement; Non-Contravention.   The Company has the requisite 
corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to carry out the transactions and perform all 
other obligations contemplated by this Agreement.  The execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement have 
been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company, subject to the receipt of the Required 
Stockholder Vote.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming this 
Agreement constitutes the valid and binding obligation of the Parent and Merger Sub, this Agreement constitutes the 
valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, subject to: 
(a) Laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors; and (b) rules of Law 
governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies.  Except as set forth in Part 2.20 of the 
Disclosure Schedule, neither (i) the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company, nor (ii) the 
consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, constitutes or 
will result in a termination of, or a breach or violation by the Company of, or a default by the Company under (with or 
without notice or lapse of time, or both), or give rise to a right of termination, cancellation or acceleration under or 
creation of a lien, pledge, security interest, adverse claim or other encumbrance under (A) any  
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provision of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws, as amended, (B) any provision of any Material Contract 
or (C) any Law applicable to the Company.  
   

2.21            Stockholder Approval.   The affirmative vote or consent of the holders of a majority of the shares of 
Company Common Stock and Company Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class on an as-converted basis, in 
each case outstanding on the record date chosen for purposes of determining the stockholders of the Company entitled to 
vote on the adoption of this Agreement, are the only votes of the holders of any Company Capital Stock necessary under 
the DGCL and the Restated Certificate of Incorporation to adopt and approve this Agreement and approve the Merger 
and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “Required Stockholder Vote”).  Immediately after the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement, each stockholder of the Company shall provide an affirmative vote or consent, 
representing such stockholder’s entire holdings, for the adoption of this Agreement and the Merger and the other 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, which represents the satisfaction of the Required Stockholder Vote, and 
each such consent shall remain in full force and effect.  
   

2.22            Board Approval; Other Approvals.   The Board of Directors of the Company has unanimously 
(a) adopted this Agreement and approved its execution and delivery and the consummation of the Merger and the other 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (b) determined that the Merger is advisable and in the best interests of the 
Company and the stockholders of the Company, and (c) directed that this Agreement and the Merger be submitted to the 
stockholders of the Company for their adoption and approval and resolved to recommend that the stockholders of the 
Company vote in favor of the adoption of this Agreement and the approval of the Merger.  This Agreement has been 
duly authorized by all requisite corporate action under the DGCL and the Restated Certificate of Incorporation, subject 
to the Required Stockholder Vote.  No consent, approval, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing 
with, any court, administrative agency or commission, arbitral body or other governmental authority or instrumentality, 
whether inside or outside the United States (each, a “ Governmental Authority ”), is required to be obtained or made 
by the Company at or prior to the Effective Time in order for the Company to execute and deliver this Agreement or to 
consummate transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, except for: (x) the filing of the 
certificate of merger as provided in Section 1.2(b); and (y) such consents, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, 
declarations and filings as may be required to be obtained or made by the Company under applicable state securities 
Laws and the securities Laws of any foreign country.  
   

2.23            Financial Advisor.   Except for Peter J. Solomon Company, no broker, finder or investment banker 
is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection with the Merger, this Agreement or any 
transaction contemplated hereby based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company.  
   

2.24            Distribution of Merger Consideration.   The Merger Consideration, when distributed in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement (including any Closing Allocation Certificate), will have been distributed to the Former 
Holders in accordance with the provisions of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation and other constituent documents 
of the Company and  
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any other document or agreement among the Company and such holders or other Persons related to the distribution of 
the Merger Consideration.  
   

2.25            Hart-Scott-Rodino Status .  The Company represents and warrants as of the date hereof that it is not 
as of the date of this Agreement, and will not at the time of the Closing be, a “person” (as defined in 16 C.F.R. § 801.1
(a)(1)) with $13.2 million or more of total assets or annual net sales as determined in accordance with 16 C.F.R. § 
801.11.  
   

2.26            Accuracy of Representations and Warranties.   No representation or warranty made by the 
Company in this Agreement contains an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact required to be 
stated herein or necessary to make the statements contained herein not misleading.  
   

2.27            Closing Allocation Certificate.   The amounts and other information set forth in each Closing 
Allocation Certificate, and, to the Company’s Knowledge, the payoff letters and final invoices referred to in Section 1.6
(c), are complete and accurate.  
   

2.28            Bank Accounts.   Part 2.28 of the Disclosure Schedules lists: (i) each bank account maintained by 
the Company at any bank or other financial institution, including the name of the bank or financial institution, the 
account number and the names of all individuals authorized to draw on or make withdrawals from such accounts; and 
(ii) locations of all Company lock boxes and safe deposit boxes and the names of all individuals authorized to draw 
thereon or have access thereto.  
   

   

Except as set forth in the Parent SEC Documents, Parent and Merger Sub represent and warrant to the Company as 
follows:  
   

3.1            Due Organization.   Each of Parent and Merger Sub is a corporation duly organized, validly existing 
and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation.  
   

3.2            Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement.   Each of Parent and Merger Sub has the requisite 
corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to carry out the transactions and perform all 
other obligations contemplated by this Agreement. The execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub of this 
Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Parent and Merger Sub, and no 
other authorization or consent of Parent, Merger Sub or their respective stockholders is necessary other than the adoption 
of this Agreement by Parent as the sole stockholder of Merger Sub (which adoption shall take place immediately after 
the execution and delivery of this Agreement).. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by each of Parent 
and Merger Sub and, assuming this Agreement constitutes the valid and binding obligation of other parties hereto, this 
Agreement constitutes the valid and binding obligation of each of Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable against each of 
them in accordance with its terms, subject to: (a) Laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the 
relief of debtors; and (b) rules of Law governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies. 
Neither (i) the  
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execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent or Merger Sub, nor (ii) the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, constitutes or will: (A) result in a termination of, or a breach or 
violation by Parent or Merger Sub of, or a default by Parent or Merger Sub under (with or without notice or lapse of 
time, or both), or give rise to a right of termination, cancellation or acceleration under or creation of a lien, pledge, 
security interest, adverse claim or other encumbrance under (I) any provision of the certificate of incorporation or 
bylaws, as amended, or other equivalent organizational documents of Parent or Merger Sub, as amended, (II) any 
provision of any contract by which Parent or Merger Sub is bound, or (III) any Law applicable to Parent or Merger Sub; 
or (B) render Parent insolvent or unable to pay its debts as they become due.  
   

3.3            Merger Sub.   Merger Sub was formed solely for the purpose of engaging in the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement, and has engaged in no other business activities.  
   

3.4            No Authorizations.   No consent, approval, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or 
filing with, any Governmental Authority is required to be obtained or made by Parent or Merger Sub at or prior to the 
Effective Time in order for Parent or Merger Sub to execute and deliver this Agreement or to consummate transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, except for: (a) the filing of the certificate of merger as provided 
in Section 1.2(b); (b) the filing by Parent of such reports and information with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, as may 
be required in connection with this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement; 
and (c) any registration, declaration, filing, permit, order, authorization, consent or approval which if not made or 
obtained would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Parent’s or Merger Sub’s ability to 
consummate the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated hereby (a “ Parent Material Adverse Effect ”).  
   

3.5            Litigation.  
   

(a)           There is no private or governmental action, lawsuit or other legal proceeding pending (or, to the 
Knowledge of Parent, being threatened) against Parent or its Subsidiaries or any of their respective properties or any of 
their respective officers or directors (in their capacities as such) that would reasonably be expected to result in a Parent 
Material Adverse Effect.  
   

(b)           There is no judgment, decree, decision, injunction, ruling, subpoena or order against Parent or 
Merger Sub or their respective assets or, to the Knowledge of Parent and Merger Sub, against any of their respective 
directors or officers (in their capacities as such) that specifically names Parent or its Subsidiaries or such directors or 
officers and that would reasonably be expected to result in a Parent Material Adverse Effect.  
   

3.6            No Other DZNS Products.   As of the date of this Agreement, there is no product in clinical 
development by Parent or any of its Affiliates that, if commercialized, would be a product that (i) contains diazepam as 
an active ingredient, (ii) is (a) delivered by nasal administration and/or (b) labeled or intended for use in the treatment of 
seizures or seizure  
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disorders, and (iii) is sold anywhere in the Territory.  Parent is not otherwise conducting the activities prohibited by 
Section 7.6 of the SK License. This representation is made without qualification by reference to the Parent SEC 
Documents.  
   

3.7            Adequacy of Funds.   Parent has adequate financial resources to satisfy its monetary and other 
obligations under this Agreement.  
   

3.8            No Brokers.   No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee 
or commission in connection with the Merger, this Agreement or any of the other transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Parent or Merger Sub.  
   

3.9            SEC Filings.  
   

(a)           Parent has timely filed with or furnished to the SEC all reports, forms, certifications, schedules, 
registration statements, and definitive proxy statements (including exhibits and other information incorporated therein) 
required to be filed by it with the SEC since October 1, 2010 (the “ Parent SEC Documents ”). Each Parent SEC 
Document, at the time filed (or if amended or superseded by a filing or amendment prior to the date of this Agreement, 
then at the time of such filing and in the case of registration statements and proxy statements, on the dates of 
effectiveness and dates of mailing, respectively), (i) complied as to form in all material respects with the applicable 
requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, as the case may be, and the applicable rules and regulations 
thereunder, and (ii) did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be 
stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 
misleading.  No Parent subsidiary is currently required to file any form, report or other document with the SEC under 
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. There are no outstanding or unresolved comments in comment letters 
received from the SEC staff with respect to any Parent SEC Documents and, to the Knowledge of Parent, none of the 
Parent SEC Documents is the subject of any ongoing SEC review.  
   

(b)           The consolidated financial statements of Parent, together with the related schedules and notes 
thereto, included in the Parent SEC Documents, as of their respective date of filing with the SEC (or if amended or 
superseded by a filing or amendment prior to the date of this Agreement, then at the time of such filing and in the case of 
registration statements and proxy statements, on the dates of effectiveness and dates of mailing, respectively), (i) comply 
as to form in all material respects with applicable accounting requirements and the published rules and regulations of the 
SEC with respect thereto and (ii) present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial position of Parent and 
its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the dates thereof, and the statements of income, cash flows and stockholders’ equity 
of Parent and its consolidated Subsidiaries for the periods specified, and such consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with GAAP (except, in the case of the unaudited statements, as permitted by Form 10-Q of 
the SEC) applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved, except as noted therein (subject, in the case of 
unaudited statements, to the absence of notes and normal year-end adjustments).  
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(c)           Except for matters reflected or reserved against in the consolidated, unaudited balance sheet of 

Parent as of the last completed fiscal month (the “ Parent Balance Sheet Date ”), neither Parent nor any of its 
Subsidiaries has any liabilities or obligations (whether absolute, accrued, contingent, fixed or otherwise, or whether due 
or to become due) of any nature that would be required by GAAP to be reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of 
Parent and its consolidated subsidiaries (including the notes thereto), except liabilities or obligations that (i) were 
incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice since the Parent Balance Sheet Date, (ii) were 
incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (iii) individually or in the aggregate, 
have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Parent. Neither Parent nor any 
of its subsidiaries is a party to, or has any commitment to become a party to, any joint venture, off-balance sheet 
partnership or any similar contract or arrangement (including any relating to any transaction or relationship between or 
among Parent and any of its subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any unconsolidated Affiliate, including any structured 
finance, special purpose or limited purpose entity or person, on the other hand, or any “off-balance sheet 
arrangements” (as defined in Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act)), where the result, purpose or 
effect of such contract or arrangement is to avoid disclosure of any material transaction involving, or material liabilities 
of, Parent or any of its subsidiaries, in Parent’s financial statements or the Parent SEC Documents.  
   

3.10            Controls and Procedures; NASDAQ Compliance.  
   

(a)           Parent has (i) established and, since October 1, 2010, has maintained a system of “internal 
control over financial reporting” (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) and “disclosure controls and 
procedures” (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) and (ii) has disclosed, based on its most recent 
evaluation before the date hereof, to Parent’s outside auditors and the audit committee of Parent’s Board of Directors (A) 
any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses of which Parent has Knowledge in the design or operation of 
internal control over financial reporting that are reasonably likely to adversely affect in any material respect Parent’s 
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information, and (B) any fraud, whether or not material, that 
involves management or other employees who have a significant role in Parent’s internal control over financial 
reporting.  
   

(b)           Parent is in material compliance with the applicable listing and governance rules of each stock 
exchange on which its shares are publicly tradable.  
   

(c)           Since October 1, 2010, Parent has not received any oral or written notification of any 
“significant deficiency” or “material weakness”, each term as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act, in Parent’s 
internal controls over financial reporting.  
   

   

4.1            Conduct of Business of the Company.   Except to the extent expressly contemplated or required by 
this Agreement or as set forth on Part 4.1 of the Disclosure Schedule, during the period from the date of this Agreement 
until the Effective Time, or as consented to in writing by Parent, the Company shall: (x) conduct its business in the 
ordinary  
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course consistent with past practice; (y) comply in all material respects with all applicable Laws and the requirements of 
all Material Contracts; and (z) use all reasonable efforts to: (i) maintain and preserve intact its present business 
organization; (ii) retain the services of its present officers and key employees; and (iii) preserve its relationships with 
suppliers, licensors, licensees, lessors, clinical trial investigators or managers of its clinical trials, consultants, business 
associates and others to whom the Company has contractual obligations (it being understood that the obligation to use 
such efforts shall in no event require the Company to increase the compensation payable to any such person).  Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, except to the extent, in each case, expressly contemplated, required or permitted 
by this Agreement or as set forth on Part 4.1 of the Disclosure Schedule, during the period from the date of this 
Agreement until the Effective Time, the Company shall not without Parent’s prior written consent (which consent shall 
be within the Parent’s sole discretion):  
   

(a)           issue, sell or deliver any shares of Company Capital Stock or securities convertible into, or 
rights, warrants or options to acquire any shares of Company Capital Stock; provided , however , that the Company may 
issue shares of Company Capital Stock upon the valid exercise of Company Options and Company Warrants outstanding 
as of the date of this Agreement or upon the valid conversion of Company Preferred Stock outstanding as of the date of 
this Agreement;  
   

(b)           redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire any outstanding shares of Company Capital Stock, or 
any rights, warrants or options to acquire any shares of Company Capital Stock, if such amount would result in the Net 
Cash Amount being negative;  
   

(c)           declare, set aside for payment or pay any dividend on, or make any other distribution (whether 
in cash, stock or property) in respect of, any shares of Company Capital Stock or otherwise make any payments to its 
shareholders in their capacity as such if such action would result in the Net Cash Amount being negative;  
   

(d)           split, combine, subdivide or reclassify any shares of Company Capital Stock;  
   

(e)           subject to Parent’s timely compliance with its obligations to make payments pursuant to Section 
4.13, incur or assume any Indebtedness or guarantee any Indebtedness, or issue any debt securities or warrants or other 
rights to acquire debt securities of the Company, or loan any money to or extend credit to any third party (for 
clarification, in the event that Parent does not timely meet an obligation under Section 4.13, the Company may incur 
Indebtedness from one or more of its stockholders without violating any provision of this Agreement);  
   

(f)           (i) sell, transfer, lease, license, mortgage or encumber any Company IP Right, or otherwise grant 
to any Person rights in any Company IP Right, except for the incurrence of Permitted Encumbrances, or (ii) acquire or 
license from any Person any IP Rights other than pursuant to material transfer agreements and nonexclusive licenses 
entered into in the ordinary course of business; or  
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(g)           sell, transfer, lease, license, mortgage or encumber or permit the imposition of any lien or 

encumbrance (other than Permitted Encumbrances) on, any of its properties, assets or lines of business;  
   

(h)           make any capital expenditures in an amount in excess of $10,000 in the aggregate;  
   

(i)           make or agree to any acquisition (by purchase of securities or assets, merger, consolidation or 
otherwise) of any other Person, business or division, or merge or consolidate with any other Person or agree to acquire 
assets that are material, individually or in the aggregate, to the business of the Company, taken as a whole;  
   

(j)           enter into any joint venture, partnership, license, limited liability company, operating agreement 
or agreement requiring sharing of profits or revenues with any Person;  
   

(k)           make any investment in, or loan or advance (other than de minimis advances to its employees in 
the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice) to, any Person;  
   

(l)           increase the compensation of any of its directors, officers, employees or consultants or enter 
into, establish, amend or terminate any employment, consulting, collective bargaining, bonus or other incentive 
compensation, health or other welfare, pension, retirement, severance, deferred compensation or other compensation or 
benefit plan with, for or in respect of any shareholder, director, officer, other employee or consultant, other than: (i) as 
required pursuant to applicable Law or the terms of agreements in effect as of the date of this Agreement; (ii) increases 
in salaries, wages and benefits of employees made in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; and 
(iii) transaction bonus payments set forth in the Release of Claim forms executed by Terminated Employees;  
   

(m)           adopt or materially amend any Employee Benefit Plan or hire or offer to hire any new 
employee (unless reasonably necessary to replace any employee that terminates service after the date hereof);  
   

(n)           make, revoke or change any election in respect of Taxes, adopt or change any accounting 
method or period in respect of Taxes, file any Tax Return or any amendment to a Tax Return, enter into any closing 
agreement, settle any claim or assessment in respect of Taxes, surrender any rights to claim a Tax refund, consent to any 
extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable in respect of Taxes;  
   

(o)           make any changes in fiscal year, financial or tax accounting methods, principles or practices or 
change an annual accounting period, except insofar as may be required by a change in GAAP or applicable Law;  
   

(p)           amend its Restated Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws or equivalent organizational 
documents;  
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(q)           enter into any contract or agreement that would be a Material Contract if it had been in 

existence on the date of this Agreement, or prematurely terminate, amend or modify any Material Contract, or cancel, 
waive, assign or release any rights or claims under any Material Contract;  
   

(r)           settle, compromise or terminate any claims or litigation or adverse proceeding, or waive, release 
or assign any rights or claims under any Material Contract, including granting any covenant not to sue except as required 
by applicable Law or any judgment by a Governmental Authority;  
   

(s)           commence a lawsuit other than (i) for the routine collection of bills, (ii) in such cases where the 
Company in good faith determines that failure to commence suit would result in the material impairment of a valuable 
aspect of the Company’s business, provided that it consults with Parent prior to the filing of such suit and following 
Parent’s prior written consent (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed), or (iii) for a breach of this Agreement;  
   

(t)           adopt a plan or agreement of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, restructuring, 
recapitalization, merger, consolidation or other reorganization (other than the Merger);  
   

(u)           cancel, terminate, fail to keep in place or materially reduce the amount of any insurance 
coverage provided by existing insurance policies without obtaining comparable substitute insurance coverage; or  
   

(v)           agree, in writing or otherwise, to take any of the actions described in clauses “(a)” through “(u)”
of this sentence.  Nothing herein shall limit the ability of the Company to use all or any portion of the Signing Payment 
to repay indebtedness or otherwise as it may determine in its discretion.  
   

4.2            Access to Information.   During the period from the date of this Agreement until the Effective Time, 
the Company shall afford Parent and its personnel, accountants, counsel and other representatives reasonable access 
during normal business hours and upon reasonable advance notice to the Company’s properties, books and records and 
all other existing information concerning the business, properties and personnel of the Company as Parent may 
reasonably request, and the Company shall give Parent, its accountants and advisors access sufficient for Parent to 
prepare audited financial statements of the Company; provided, however , that in exercising access rights under this 
Section 4.2, Parent shall not be permitted to interfere unreasonably with the conduct of the business of the Company.  
   

4.3            Public Disclosure.   Except as may be required by Law or by obligations pursuant to any applicable 
securities exchange, none of Parent, the Company or the Stockholders’ Representative or any of their respective 
Affiliates shall issue any press release or make any other public (or non-confidential) statement or disclosure (whether or 
not in response to an inquiry) regarding the terms of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby without 
the prior approval of the Company or Parent (or, after the Closing, Parent and for a period of three years after the 
Closing, Stockholders’ Representative), as the case may be.  The Company  
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and Parent will consult with each other concerning the means by which the Company’s employees, customers and 
suppliers and others having dealings with the Company will be informed of the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement.  Parent shall afford Company (or, following the Closing, Stockholders’ Representative) a reasonable 
opportunity to review and comment upon any confidential treatment request submitted by Parent with the SEC related to 
this Agreement.  
   

4.4            Regulatory Approval; Further Assurances.  
   

(a)           Parent and the Company shall use reasonable best efforts to effectuate the Merger and make 
effective the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each 
party to this Agreement shall: (i) make any filings and give any notices required to be made or given by such party in 
connection with the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (ii) use reasonable best efforts to 
obtain any consent required to be obtained (pursuant to any applicable Law, contract or otherwise) by such party in 
connection with the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and (iii) use reasonable 
best efforts to lift any restraint, injunction or other legal bar to the Merger.  Each of Parent and the Company shall 
promptly deliver to the other a copy of each such filing made, each such notice given and each such consent obtained 
during the period from the date of this Agreement until the Effective Time.  
   

(b)           Each party shall use reasonable best efforts in filing, as promptly as practicable after the date of 
this Agreement, all notices, reports and other documents that the parties deem to be necessary or advisable to be filed 
with any Governmental Authority with respect to the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, 
and to submit promptly any additional information requested by any such Governmental Authority.  
   

4.5            Indemnification of Officers and Directors of the Company.  
   

(a)           The Surviving Corporation shall fulfill and honor in all respects the obligations of the Company 
pursuant to any agreement or certificate of incorporation of the Company providing for the indemnification and 
exculpation from liability of its officers or directors and former officers and directors for any third party claims (the 
Persons entitled to be indemnified pursuant to such provisions, and all other current and former officers and directors of 
the Company, and all other persons entitled to be indemnified pursuant to such provisions or agreements being referred 
to collectively as the “ Indemnified Parties ”).  For a period of six years after the Effective Time or unless consented to 
by the Stockholders’ Representative, Parent shall cause the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation to 
contain the provisions with respect to indemnification and exculpation from liability substantially as set forth in the 
Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation immediately prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, 
which provisions shall not be amended, repealed or otherwise modified after the Effective Time in any manner that 
would adversely affect the rights thereunder of any of the Indemnified Parties.  
   

(b)           This Section 4.5: (A) shall survive the consummation of the Merger and the Effective Time; 
(B) is intended for the benefit of, and will be enforceable by, each  
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Indemnified Party and his or her heirs and representatives; and (C) shall be binding on all successors and assigns of 
Parent and the Surviving Corporation.  
   

4.6            Employee Arrangements.  
   

(a)           Effective immediately prior to the Effective Time, Company shall cause the termination of 
employment of all employees (the “ Terminated Employees ”) and shall arrange for each Terminated Employee to be 
offered employment with Aerial Biopharma, LLC, a company affiliated with Company’s senior management (“ Aerial 
”), on terms substantially similar to those provided for by Company prior to the Effective Time.  Without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing, the parties shall arrange to assign to Aerial all transferable employee benefit plans on the 
Closing Date or as soon thereafter as practicable and to terminate any non-transferable employee benefits plans as soon 
as practicable following the Closing.  To the extent applicable, the Company shall comply with the Worker Adjustment 
Retraining and Notification Act and any state or local plant closing notice laws, and shall be solely responsible for 
providing any and all notices to employees, consultants and independent contractors of the Company that are required by 
Law.  
   

(b)           It is expressly acknowledged, understood and agreed that nothing in this Section 4.6 or 
otherwise contained in this Agreement is intended to or does or shall constitute an amendment to or establishment of any 
employee benefit or other plan.  
   

4.7            No Solicitation.  
   

(a)           During the period from the date of this Agreement until the Effective Time, the Company 
agrees that it shall not, nor shall it authorize or permit any of its representatives to, directly or indirectly:  (i) solicit, 
initiate, knowingly encourage, induce or facilitate the communication, making, submission or announcement of any 
inquiry, proposal or offer from any Person (other than Parent) relating to a possible Acquisition Transaction; 
(ii) participate in any discussions, inquiries or negotiations or enter into any agreement with, or provide any non public 
information or afford to any Person (other than Parent or its representatives) access to its properties, books, or records, 
relating to or in connection with a possible Acquisition Transaction, except disclosures of information as required by 
applicable Laws or pursuant to a request by a Governmental Authority for information; (iii) consider, entertain or accept 
any proposal or offer from any Person (other than Parent) relating to a possible Acquisition Transaction; (iv) enter into 
or execute any agreement relating to an Acquisition Transaction; or (v) make or authorize any public statement, 
recommendation or solicitation in support of any Acquisition Transaction or any offer or proposal relating to an 
Acquisition Transaction other than with respect to the Merger.  The Company shall not participate in any discussions or 
negotiations with any Person regarding an Acquisition Transaction or furnish any information to any Person.  
   

(b)           The Company shall immediately cease and cause to be terminated any existing discussions with 
any Person that relate to any Acquisition Transaction as of the date of this Agreement.  
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(c)           The Company shall promptly request each Person that has executed a confidentiality or similar 

agreement in connection with its consideration of a possible Acquisition Transaction within the six month period prior to 
the date hereof to return to the Company or destroy all confidential information heretofore furnished to such Person by 
or on behalf of the Company within the six month period prior to the date hereof.  
   

4.8            Section 280G Approvals.  
   

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement and without limiting Section 2.14(b), if, in 
connection with the Merger, the Company is obligated to make any payments, or is a party to any agreement that, under 
certain circumstances, could obligate it to make any payments that will not be deductible under Section 280G of the 
Code unless the stockholder approval requirements of Section 280G(b)(5)(B) of the Code are satisfied, it shall solicit 
such stockholder approval within a reasonable period of time after the date hereof and in any event prior to the Effective 
Time and to obtain waivers from each “disqualified individual” within the meaning of Section 280G(c) of the Code such 
that no payment will be a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G(a)(2) of the Code.  
   

4.9            Notifications to Parent.   During the period from the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the 
Effective Time or the termination of this Agreement in accordance with Section 6.1, the Company shall, in the event of, 
and promptly (and in any event, within 24 hours) after becoming aware of, the occurrence of any event that would 
(a) constitute a material breach or inaccuracy of any of the representations and warranties set forth in Section 2, 
(b) constitute a breach by the Company of any covenant contained in this Agreement or (c) result in the failure of a 
condition set forth in Section 5.1 or Section 5.2, give written notice thereof to Parent and use best efforts to remedy 
promptly any such material breach or inaccuracy.  
   

4.10            Data Room.   The Company shall have prepared one or more CD ROMS (or other storage format) 
containing electronic copies of the Data Room as of the date hereof and deliver such CD ROMS to Parent at or prior to 
the Closing.  “ Data Room ” means the information which is readable, printable and otherwise fully accessible to Parent 
and its advisors and representatives in the electronic data room maintained by the Company, the full contents of which 
have been made available to the Parent and its representatives prior to the date hereof.  Documents made available to 
Parent in the Data Room shall be deemed to have been provided to Parent for purposes of the representations and 
warranties set forth in Article 2.  
   

4.11            Transition of Facilities and Operations.  
   

(a)           At or before the Effective Time, Parent, Merger Sub and the Stockholders’ Representative shall, 
and shall use commercially reasonable effort to cause the lessor to, execute a consent to assign that certain real estate 
lease described on Schedule 4.11 from the Company to Aerial (the “ Lease Assignment ”).  
   

(b)           At or before the Effective Time, the Company shall transfer and assign to Aerial the furniture, 
fixtures and equipment (including all installed software) set forth on Part 4.11(b) of the Disclosure Schedule) in 
exchange for $100.  
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(c)           At or before the Effective Time, Company shall terminate or shall transfer and assign to Aerial, 

in exchange for the assumption by Aerial of future obligations under such contracts, those contracts set forth on Part 
4.11(c) of the Disclosure Schedule but excluding the Transition Services Agreement.  For clarification, all payment 
obligations incurred in the ordinary course under any such contracts for goods or services provided by Neuronex on or 
prior to the Effective Time shall be paid to the Surviving Corporation.  
   

4.12            Transition Services Agreement.   At or before the Effective Time, the Company and Aerial, shall 
execute a Transition Services Agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit C (the “ Transition 
Services Agreement ”).  
   

4.13            Signing Payment; Research and Development Support.   On the date hereof, Parent shall pay to 
the Company the Signing Payment and, in addition, shall deposit $500,000 of the R&D Support Payment into an account 
designated by the Company (the “ R&D Support Account ”).  The Company shall use the R&D Support Account to 
fund research and development costs with respect to the DZNS Product through the Closing Date.  From and after the 
expenditure of the initial deposit of the R&D Support Payment, Parent covenants and agrees to reimburse the Company 
on a monthly basis in arrears for research and development costs with respect to the DZNS Product.  Such 
reimbursements shall be made through additional deposits of the requested unpaid portion of the R&D Support Payment 
into the R&D Support Account within five (5) Business Days of a written request therefor by the Company, based on a 
reasonably detailed invoice provided by the Company with respect to such research and development costs for such prior 
month.  In the event of a termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.1 (other than by Company pursuant to 
Section 6.1(e)), the Company shall promptly remit any remaining balance in the R&D Support Account (less any 
amounts necessary to cover obligations incurred but not yet paid) to Parent.  For clarification, the R&D Support Account 
refers solely to amounts other than the Signing Payment paid and disbursed in accordance with this Section 4.13, 
notwithstanding that the applicable bank account may be used for other purposes by the Company.  
   

4.14            FDA Meeting.   The Company shall keep Parent reasonably informed about the status and activities 
with respect to the development of the DZNS Product, including through weekly meeting (by phone or in person) and 
the Company will consider Parent’s input in good faith. The Company will allow Parent, at any reasonable times 
requested by Parents, to discuss DZNS Products with the manufacturers or potential manufacturers of the DZNS 
Product.  Prior to the filing of the NDA with the FDA, the Company shall schedule a pre-NDA meeting with the FDA 
(the “ FDA Meeting ”) with respect to the DZNS Product.  Three representatives from Parent shall be allowed to 
participate in the FDA Meeting.  At least thirty (30) days prior to the FDA Meeting, but in no event less than ten (10) 
days prior to submission of the briefing materials, the Company shall provide Parent with draft briefing materials that 
the Company intends to submit to the FDA for the FDA Meeting and shall provide Parent with the opportunity to 
comment on such briefing materials, which comments will be considered and addressed in good faith. In addition, any 
questions proposed by Parent shall be submitted in writing to the FDA prior to and asked of the FDA at the pre-NDA 
meeting.  Following the FDA Meeting, the Company and Parent shall jointly discuss whether or not to proceed with the 
filing of the NDA with the FDA based on the results of the FDA Meeting.  The Company shall provide Parent with  
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a copy of the final minutes for the FDA Meeting (the “ FDA Minutes ”) within two (2) Business Days following the 
Company’s receipt of the FDA Minutes from the FDA.  
   

4.15            SK Agreement.   Parent shall promptly pay any amount due and payable, and incurred, pursuant to 
the SK License after the Closing Date; provided, however, that, for clarity, (a) if the Closing does not take place, then 
Parent shall have no obligation to pay any amount thereunder that accrues after termination of this Agreement and (b) 
Parent shall not be obligated to pay any amount due and payable pursuant to the SK License for any period prior to the 
Closing Date. The parties agree that following the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation shall be bound by the 
terms and conditions of the SK License.  Following the Effective Time, Parent shall ensure that the Surviving 
Corporation shall comply in all material respects with the obligations of the “Licensee” (as defined in the SK License) 
under the SK License.  Promptly after the date of this Agreement, the Company shall provide to Parent a written notice, 
in a form reasonably acceptable to Parent, from SK Bio confirming that the Development Plan Documentation is the 
development plan for the DZNS Product as currently agreed upon by the Company and SK Bio, and that the Company is 
in full compliance with such development plan and the SK License.  
   

4.16            Patent Prosecution and [***].   At least thirty (30) days prior to the filing of any substantive patent 
filings or other material interactions with the United States Patent and Trademark Office (or any foreign equivalents), the 
Company shall provide Parent with draft materials that the Company intends to file and shall provide Parent with the 
opportunity to comment on such filings or other materials, which comments shall be incorporated into such filings or 
correspondence.  Additionally, at least thirty (30) days prior to any material filings or correspondence related to the 
request for [***], the Company shall provide Parent with draft materials that the Company intends to file or submit and 
shall provide Parent with the opportunity to comment on such filing or correspondence, which comments will be 
considered and addressed in good faith.  
   

4.17            Financial Statement Audit.   Prior to the Closing, the Company shall (i) provide such information, 
assistance and cooperation as Parent may reasonably request to audit, at Parent’s expense, any of the Company’s 
financial statements, (ii) cause the officers of the Company to execute any reasonably necessary officers’ certificates or 
management representation letters to Parent’s accountants to issue unqualified reports with respect to such financial 
statements to be included in Parent SEC Documents and (iii) request from the present and former independent 
accountants of the Company that they (A) cooperate with and assist Parent, at Parent’s expense, in preparing such 
audited financial statements, (B) make work papers available to Parent and its representatives (subject to Parent entering 
into any agreements reasonably required or requested by the accountants in connection with the provision of such work 
papers), (C) deliver “comfort-letters” in customary form in connection therewith, and (D) deliver consents to the 
inclusion of financial statements required in connection with any Parent SEC Documents.  
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5.1            Conditions to Each Party’s Obligation to Effect the Merger.   The respective obligations of each 
party hereto to effect the Merger and otherwise to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be 
subject to the satisfaction on or prior to the Closing Date of the following condition: no temporary restraining order, 
preliminary or permanent injunction or other order issued by any Court of competent jurisdiction (collectively, “
Restraints ”) shall be pending or in effect, nor shall there be any statute, rule or regulation enacted or deemed applicable 
to the Merger, in each case that makes the consummation of the Merger illegal or otherwise restrains or prohibits the 
transactions contemplated under this Agreement.  
   

5.2            Conditions to Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub.   The obligations of Parent and Merger Sub 
to effect the Merger are further subject to the satisfaction (or waiver, if permissible under applicable Law, provided, 
however , that any such waiver shall not release or relieve any party from any liability arising from the matters 
(including any breach of this Agreement) which caused the failure of such conditions) on or prior to the Closing Date of 
the following conditions:  
   

(a)           (i) the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in this Agreement (other than the 
Specified Representations and those qualified by “materiality”, “Company Material Adverse Effect” or other similar 
qualifications) shall be true and correct in all material respects, taken as a whole together with those representations and 
warranties of the Company set forth in this Agreement that are qualified by “materiality”, “Company Material Adverse 
Effect” or other similar qualifications, both as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Effective Time as though made 
on and as of such time (other than such representations and warranties which are made as of another date, which shall be 
so true and correct as of such date); (ii) each of the Specified Representations shall be true and correct in all respects 
both as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Effective Time as though made on and as of such time (other than 
such representations and warranties which are made as of another date, which shall be so true and correct as of such 
date); and (iii) the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in this Agreement that are qualified by 
“materiality”, “Company Material Adverse Effect” or other similar qualifications shall be true and correct in all respects 
both as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Effective Time as though made on and as of such time (other than 
such representations and warranties which are made as of another date, which shall be so true and correct as of such 
date);  
   

(b)           the Company shall have complied with and performed in all material respects, individually and 
in the aggregate, each obligation and covenant required to be performed by it under this Agreement on or prior to the 
Closing Date;  
   

(c)           there shall not have occurred any Company Material Adverse Effect or any event which would 
reasonably be expected to result in a Company Material Adverse Effect;  
   

(d)           Parent shall have received a copy of the FDA Minutes;  
   

(e)           Parent and Merger Sub shall have received a certificate (the “ Company Closing Certificate ” ), 
signed on behalf of the Company by the chief executive officer or chief  
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financial officer of the Company, certifying as to the satisfaction of the matters set forth in Sections 5.2(a) through 5.2
(d);  
   

(f)           the Company shall have complied with the obligations set forth in Section 13.4 of the SK 
License to provide to SK Bio, prior to the Closing, a summary update of the most recent current report consistent with 
the provisions of Section 7.3 of the SK License, and SK Bio shall have consented to the transactions contemplated 
hereby in a form reasonably acceptable to Parent;  
   

(g)           Parent shall have received resignation letters effective as of the Closing Date executed and 
delivered by each of the officers and directors of the Company, in substantially the form of Exhibit D attached hereto, 
and the Company shall have received a general release of claims from at least 75% of the Terminated Employees in a 
form reasonably acceptable to Parent;  
   

(h)           there shall not be any legal, administrative, arbitral or other proceeding threatened or pending 
before any Governmental Authority in which a Governmental Authority is a party that would or would reasonably be 
expected to: (i) restrain, enjoin, prevent, prohibit or make illegal the consummation of the Merger or the other 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement; or (ii) impose limitations on the ability of Parent effectively to exercise 
full rights of ownership of all shares of the Surviving Corporation;  
   

(i)           Parent shall have received an opinion letter of Hutchison Law Group, dated as of the Closing 
Date, in substantially the form of Exhibit E attached hereto;  
   

(j)           the Required Stockholder Vote shall have been obtained and the approval of this Agreement and 
the Merger by the stockholders of the Company representing all of the Company’s outstanding voting power shall have 
been obtained and remain in full force and effect;  
   

(k)           the Company shall deliver to Parent: (a) a statement dated not more than thirty (30) days prior 
to the Closing Date conforming to the requirements of Section 1.897-2(h) and Section 1.1445-2(c)(3) of the United 
States Treasury Regulations; and (b) the notification to the Internal Revenue Service required under Section 1.897-2(h)
(2) of the United States Treasury Regulations; and  
   

(l)           Aerial and the Company shall have executed and delivered to Parent the Transition Services 
Agreement.  
   

5.3            Conditions to Obligation of the Company.   The obligations of the Company to effect the Merger 
and to otherwise consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the satisfaction (or 
waiver, if permissible under applicable Law, provided, however , that any such waiver shall not release or relieve any 
party from any liability arising from the matters (including any breach of this Agreement) which caused the failure of 
such conditions) on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:  
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(a)           the representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub contained in this Agreement shall 

be true and correct as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though made on the Closing Date 
(except to the extent such representations and warranties relate to an earlier date, in which case as of such earlier date), 
except as the failure to be so true and correct has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, in the 
aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect;  
   

(b)           Parent and Merger Sub shall have each complied with and performed in all material respects all 
obligations and covenants required to be performed by them under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing Date;  
   

(c)           there shall not have occurred any Parent Material Adverse Effect or any event which would 
reasonably be expected to result in a Parent Material Adverse Effect;  
   

(d)           the Company shall have received a certificate, signed on behalf of Parent by an executive 
officer of Parent, certifying as to the satisfaction of the matters set forth in Sections 5.3(a) through 5.3(c);  
   

(e)           Parent and Merger Sub shall have executed and delivered to Stockholders’ Representative the 
Transition Services Agreement.  
   

   

6.1            Termination.   This Agreement may be terminated and the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement abandoned at any time prior to the Effective Time (with respect to Sections 6.1(b) through 6.1(f), by notice 
from the terminating party to the other party setting forth a brief description of the basis for termination):  
   

(a)           by the mutual written consent of the Company and Parent duly authorized by each of their 
respective Boards of Directors;  
   

(b)           by either of the Company or Parent if the Merger shall not have been consummated by the date 
which is forty-five (45) days after the delivery of the FDA Minutes to Parent (the “ Outside Date ”); provided , 
however , that (i) the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 6.1(b) shall not be available to a party if the 
failure of the Merger to have been consummated on or before the Outside Date was caused by or was the result of the 
failure of such party to perform in any material respect any of its obligations under this Agreement; and (ii) if the Merger 
shall not have been consummated by the Outside Date due to any delay caused by a third party (including SK Bio or any 
Governmental Authority), including a lack of consent or inaction by such third party where action is needed (but 
excluding the audit referred to in Section 4.17), then (A) for as long as Parent is continuing to fund the reasonable 
research and development costs requested by Company with respect to the DZNS Product, Company may not terminate 
this Agreement; (B) such funding shall be provided in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.13, but shall not be 
subject to the limit of $1,2000,000 imposed by the definition R&D Support Payment, and, notwithstanding the limitation 
in Section 4.15(b), such funding may include any milestone payments which become due and payable pursuant to the 
SK License after the Outside Date; and (C) if Parent provides written notice to the Company that it does not intend  
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to pay or continue to pay such costs or does not pay within the period set forth in Section 4.13 an invoice for such costs, 
then the Company may terminate the Agreement pursuant to this Section 6.1(b) and shall, within thirty (30) days after 
the date of such termination, reimburse Parent for any costs paid by Parent after the Outside Date pursuant to this 
Section 6.1(b);  
   

(c)           by either of the Company or Parent if any Restraint having the effect set forth in Section 5.1(c) 
shall be in effect and shall have become final and nonappealable; provided , however , that the right to terminate this 
Agreement under this Section 6.1(c) shall not be available to a party if the imposition of such Restraint was primarily 
due to the failure of such party to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement;  
   

(d)           without limiting the right of either Parent or the Company to terminate this Agreement pursuant 
to Section 6.1(b), by Parent if: (i) there is a misrepresentation, inaccuracy in, or breach of any of the representations or 
warranties of the Company in this Agreement such that the condition set forth in Section 5.2(a) would not be satisfied; or 
(ii) there has been a breach by the Company of any of its covenants in this Agreement such that the condition set forth in 
Section 5.2(b) would not be satisfied (the events described in clauses “(i)” and “(ii)” of this sentence being referred to as 
a “ Terminating Company Breach ”); provided, however , that (a) Parent shall have delivered to the Company a 
written notice of such misrepresentation, inaccuracy or breach, and (b) at least 60 days shall have elapsed since delivery 
of such notice without such misrepresentation, inaccuracy or breach having been cured;  
   

(e)           without limiting the right of either Parent or the Company to terminate this Agreement pursuant 
to Section 6.1(b), by the Company if: (i) there is an inaccuracy in any of the representations or warranties of Parent or 
Merger Sub in this Agreement such that the condition set forth in Section 5.3(a) would not be satisfied; or (ii) there has 
been a breach by Parent or Merger Sub of any of their respective covenants in this Agreement such that the condition set 
forth in Section 5.3(b) would not be satisfied (the events described in clauses “(i)” and “(ii)” of this sentence being 
referred to as a “ Terminating Parent Breach ”); provided, however , (a) the Company shall have delivered to Parent a 
written notice of such misrepresentation, inaccuracy or breach, and (b) at least 60 days (or in the case of a breach under 
Section 4.13, at least 5 Business Days) shall have elapsed since the delivery of such notice without such 
misrepresentation, inaccuracy or breach having been cured;  
   

(f)           by Parent, at any time prior to the Closing.  
   

6.2            Effect of Termination.  
   

(a)           In the event of the termination of this Agreement as provided in Section 6.1, written notice 
thereof shall be given to the other party or parties, specifying the provision hereof pursuant to which such termination is 
made, and this Agreement shall forthwith become null and void (other than the provisions of Section 4.13, this Section 
6, and Section 8, which shall survive termination of this Agreement), and there shall be no liability on the part of Parent, 
Merger Sub or the Company or their respective directors, officers, stockholders and Affiliates, except that nothing shall 
relieve any party hereto from liability for any breach of any of its covenants set forth in this Agreement.  
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(b)           In the event this Agreement is terminated prior to Closing by either party for any reason other 

than by Parent pursuant to Section 6.1(d), Company and its owners shall retain all amounts paid hereunder by Parent 
(other than amounts required to be remitted to Parent pursuant to Section 4.13) as a break-up fee (the “ Parent Break-
Up Fee ”).  The Parent Break-Up Fee shall be the sole and exclusive remedy for any claims under, arising out of or 
relating to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby against Parent or any of its affiliates in connection 
with a termination pursuant to Sections 6.1(b), 6.1(e), or 6.1(f).  
   

• • • •   SECTION 6A                                           Tax Returns and Tax Contests.  
   

6A.1             Filing of Tax Returns.   The Company shall prepare or cause to be prepared (on a basis consistent 
with past tax returns of the Company, unless otherwise required by Law), and shall duly and timely file all Tax Returns 
of the Company that are required (taking into account extensions of time) to be filed on or prior to the Closing 
Date.  The Company shall pay all Taxes due with respect to such Tax Returns.  Parent shall prepare or cause to be 
prepared (on a basis consistent with past Tax Returns of the Company, unless otherwise required by Law) and timely file 
or cause to be timely filed all Tax Returns of the Company for any Tax periods that include, and end after, the Closing 
Date (each such period, a “ Straddle Period ”) and all Tax Returns for Tax periods ending on or before the Closing Date 
that are not required to be filed until after the Closing Date.  Parent shall permit the Stockholders’ Representative at least 
thirty (30) days to review and comment on each such Tax Return prior to filing and shall consider in good faith any 
comments made by the Stockholders’ Representative.  Surviving Corporation shall pay all Taxes due with respect to 
such Tax Returns (provided that (i) Stockholders’ Representative shall pay to Company, at least two days prior to the 
date payment of any such Taxes are due, an amount equal to the portion of the Taxes due that is attributable to Pre-
Closing Tax Periods (determined in accordance with the principles set forth in Section 6A.5(d)), and (ii) Surviving 
Corporation shall retain its rights to indemnification for such Taxes under Section 7.2).  Parent and the Stockholders’
Representative agree to cause the Surviving Corporation to file all Tax Returns with respect to Taxes based upon or 
related to income or receipts for the periods including the Closing Date on the basis that the relevant Tax Period ended 
as of the close of business on the Closing Date unless the relevant Taxing Authority will not accept a Tax Return filed 
on that basis.  
   

6A.2           Reserved.  
   

6A.3             Tax Treatment of Stock Options.   Parent and the stockholders of the Company agree that, for Tax 
Return reporting purposes, the amount of income realized by the holders of Company Options on the Closing Date, as a 
result of the cash payments made pursuant to Section 1.3(a), shall be reported as an amount not in excess of such cash 
payments and further agree that any income realized with respect to the additional consideration paid to such recipients 
shall be reported as so realized in the year of receipt.  The Tax Returns of the Company, Surviving Corporation and 
Parent shall be prepared in a manner consistent with this treatment.  Neither the Company, Surviving Corporation, 
Parent nor the stockholders of the Company shall take any position inconsistent with the foregoing treatment, unless 
required by a “determination” within the meaning of Section 1313(a) of the Code and the cash payments referred to 
above shall, to the extent applicable, be subject to withholding as provided in Section 1.4 hereof.  
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6A.4             Cooperation on Tax Matters .  Parent and the Stockholders’ Representative shall cooperate fully, 

as and to the extent reasonably requested by the other party, in connection with the filing of Tax Returns pursuant to this 
Section and any audit, litigation or other proceeding with respect to Taxes.  Such cooperation shall include the retention 
and (upon the other party’s reasonable request) the provision of records and information which are reasonably relevant 
to any such audit, actual or threatened litigation or other proceeding and, in the case of Parent, making employees 
available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any material provided 
hereunder.  Parent agrees (i) to retain all books and records with respect to Tax matters pertinent to the Company 
relating to any Pre-Closing Tax Period until the expiration of the statute of limitations (and, to the extent notified by the 
Company or the Stockholders’ Representative any extensions thereof) of the respective Tax periods, and to abide by all 
record retention agreements entered into with any Taxing Authority, and (ii) to give the Stockholders’ Representative 
reasonable written notice prior to transferring, destroying or discarding any such books and records and, if the 
Stockholders’ Representative so requests, the Company shall allow the Stockholders’ Representative to take possession 
of such books and records at such time.  
   

6A.5             Tax Contest .  
   

(a)           Parent shall inform the Stockholders’ Representative of, and the Stockholders’ Representative 
shall be entitled to control and conduct only those aspects of audits, examinations or proceedings (a “ Tax Contest ”) of 
the Company with respect to Tax Periods of the Company ending on or prior to the Closing Date that relate solely to 
(i) the liability for any Taxes attributable to any “Pre-Closing Taxes” (defined below), or (ii) a claim for refund for any 
Pre-Closing Taxes in each case that would not affect any Taxes of Parent, Company or any Affiliate for any Post-
Closing Tax Period.  Parent shall control and conduct all other aspects of all Tax Contests.  Costs of any Tax Contest are 
to be borne by Parent, if it is the party controlling such Tax Contest, or the Former Holders, if the Stockholders’
Representative is the party controlling such Tax Contest.  The Stockholders’ Representative’s right to control and 
conduct a Tax Contest shall be limited to amounts in dispute which would be Pre-Closing Taxes.  Parent or the 
Surviving Corporation shall deliver to the Stockholders’ Representative any power of attorney required to allow the 
Stockholders’ Representative and its counsel to represent the Company in connection with the Tax Contest (but only to 
the extent specifically contemplated above) and shall provide the Stockholders’ Representative with such assistance as 
may be reasonably requested by the Stockholders’ Representative in connection with the Tax Contest.  The 
Stockholders’ Representative shall authorize reimbursement of Parent or the Surviving Corporation for reasonable out-
of-pocket expenses (excluding any allocated overhead costs and any allocated costs of existing employees) incurred in 
providing such assistance by Parent or Surviving Corporation offsetting against the Contingent Payment that next 
becomes payable.  Notwithstanding the preceding, the Stockholders’ Representative shall consult in good faith with 
Parent or the Surviving Corporation with respect to the conduct of, and before entering into any settlement of, any 
aspects of any Tax Contest; and shall neither consent nor agree to the settlement of any aspects of any Tax Contest that 
may have an adverse impact on the liability for Taxes of Parent or the Surviving Corporation, or any affiliated group of 
corporations of which Parent or the Surviving Corporation has been or may become a member or any Affiliate of  
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Parent or the Surviving Corporation, without the prior written consent of Parent or the Surviving Corporation, as the 
case may be.  
   

(b)           Parent shall inform the Stockholders’ Representative of any Tax Contest with regard to any Tax 
Return of the Surviving Corporation for a Straddle Period that may result in an indemnification obligation pursuant to 
Section 7.2 of this Agreement.  Parent shall control and conduct any such Tax Contest.  Costs of such Tax Contests are 
to be borne by Parent.  Parent shall consult in good faith with the Stockholders’ Representative with respect to the 
conduct of, and before entering into any settlement of, any Tax Contest that may have a material adverse impact on the 
liability for any Pre-Closing Tax, and shall not enter into any such settlement without the consent of the Stockholders’
Representative, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.  
   

(c)           Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the failure of Parent to inform the 
Stockholders’ Representative of a Tax Contest pursuant to subsections (a) or (b) of this Section 6A.5 shall not relieve the 
stockholders of the Company or the Former Holders of any liability for Taxes due as a result of such Tax Contest, except 
to the extent the Stockholders’ Representative can demonstrate that the failure to so notify materially prejudiced that 
Stockholders’ Representative with respect to the Tax liability that resulted from such Tax Contest.  
   

(d)           Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, any Tax Contest relating to Transfer 
Taxes shall be controlled jointly by Parent and the Stockholders’ Representative and costs of any such Tax Contest shall 
be borne equally by Parent and the Former Holders through the Stockholders’ Representative authorizing Parent or 
Surviving Corporation offsetting against the Contingent Payment that next becomes payable.  
   

For purposes of this Agreement, “ Pre-Closing Taxes ” means (i) Taxes attributable to any taxable period ending 
on or before the Closing Date or, with respect to any Straddle Period, that portion of the taxable period that ends on the 
Closing Date (such periods referred to as “ Pre-Closing Tax Periods ”) and (ii) the Section 280G Tax Liability (as 
defined below).  In the case of any Taxes that are payable for a Straddle Period the portion of such Tax that constitutes 
Pre-Closing Taxes shall (x) in the case of any Taxes other than Taxes based upon or related to income, gain or receipts, 
and which are imposed on a periodic basis, be deemed to be the amount of such Tax for the entire Tax period multiplied 
by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of days in the Pre-Closing Tax Period and the denominator of which 
is the number of days in the entire Tax Period, (y) in the case of any Tax based upon or related to income, gain or 
receipts, be deemed equal to the amount which would be payable if the relevant Tax period ended on the Closing Date 
and (z) in the case of transaction-based Taxes and withholding Taxes, those Taxes attributable to transactions or events 
which occurred during Pre-Closing Tax Periods.  Any credits, other than Tax Payments, relating to a Straddle Period 
shall be taken into account as though the relevant Tax period ended on the Closing Date.  All determinations necessary 
to give effect to the foregoing allocations shall be made in a manner consistent with reasonable prior practice of the 
Company.  For purposes of this Agreement, and without limitation Section 2.14(b), the “ Section 280G Tax Liability ”
means an amount equal to the product of (A) 40 percent and (B) the amount of any payment pursuant to a Parachute 
Payment  
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Agreement that is not deductible for U.S. federal income Tax purposes as a result of Section 280G of the Code.  
   

(e)           For purposes of calculating the Pre-Closing Taxes, (i) all tax deductions that arise or become 
available as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except for tax deductions that arise or become 
available as a result of cash payments made prior to or at the Effective Time, shall be allocated to periods, or portions 
thereof, starting after the Closing Date, regardless of how such amounts are required to be reflected on the filed Tax 
Returns and (ii) any election pursuant to Section 338 of the Code (and any comparable state, local or foreign election) 
shall be disregarded.  
   

(f)           The provisions of this Section 6A.5 relating to Tax Contests and not those of Section 7.4 
relating to the defense or other pursuit of claims by third parties shall govern in the event of any Tax Contest.  
   

(g)           Any liability for transfer, sales and use, registration stamp or other similar Tax and any 
conveyance fees or recording fees due as a result of the consummation of the Merger (“ Transfer Taxes ”) shall be 
borne 50% by Parent and 50% by Earnout Participants from offset against either the Hold-back Amount during the 
Hold-back Period or any Contingent Payments at the election of parent.  Any transfer, sales and use, registration, or 
other similar Tax, and any conveyance fees or recording fees, due as a result of the transactions contemplated in Sections 
4.11 shall be borne by Former Holders through offset to Contingent Payments.  
   

6A.6             Powers of Attorney and Tax Sharing Agreements.   All Tax sharing agreements or similar 
agreements and all powers of attorney with respect to or involving the Company shall be terminated prior to the Closing 
Date and neither the Company, Parent, nor any Affiliate thereof shall be bound thereby or have any liability thereunder.  
   

   

7.1            Expiration of Representations, Warranties and Covenants.   The representations and warranties in 
this Agreement and all covenants and other agreements in this Agreement that by their terms are to be performed or that 
otherwise are to endure after the Closing shall survive the Closing and the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement in accordance with their terms; provided , however , that the representations and 
warranties of the Company set forth in this Agreement (other than the representations and warranties set forth in 
Sections 2.7(g) and 2.15 and the Fundamental and Tax Representations) shall only continue in effect until the date that is 
eighteen (18) months after the Closing Date, at which time all representations and warranties (other than the 
representations and warranties set forth in Sections 2.7(g) and 2.15 and the Fundamental and Tax Representations) shall 
expire.  For purposes of this Agreement, “ Fundamental Representations ” shall mean each of the representations and 
warranties contained in Section 2.1 (except the second sentence), Section 2.2, Section 2.3, Section 2.20, Section 2.21, 
Section 2.22, Section 2.23 and Section 2.24, and “ Fundamental and Tax Representations ” shall mean the 
Fundamental Representations together with the representations and warranties contained in Section 2.12 and 
Section 2.14.  The representations and warranties set forth in Section 2.15 shall survive until the fifth (5 th )  
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anniversary of the Closing Date, the Fundamental Representations shall survive without limit, the representations 
contained in Section 2.12 and Section 2.14 shall survive until thirty (30) days after the expiration (including all 
extensions) of the statute of limitations applicable thereto and the representations contained in Section 2.7(g) shall 
survive until a Sales Milestone Payment  has become due and payable or, if earlier, such time as Parent shall have ceased 
to commercialize DZNS Product.  The date on which such representation or warranty expires shall be referred to as the “
Representation Termination Date ” and no claims for breach of representations and warranties may be brought after 
the applicable Representation Termination Date.  All obligations of the parties under the covenants contained herein 
(including the covenants set forth in Section 4) that do not contemplate performance after the Effective Time shall expire 
at the Effective Time; provided , however , that notwithstanding the expiration of the parties’ obligations under such 
covenants, claims for breaches of any covenants of the Company prior to their expiration may be brought after the 
Effective Time and until twenty-four (24) months after the Closing Date (the “ Pre-closing Covenant Termination 
Date ”).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time prior to the applicable Representation Termination Date or Pre-
closing Covenant Termination Date, Parent delivers to the Stockholders’ Representative a notice alleging the existence 
of an inaccuracy in any of the representations and warranties made by the Company or a breach of a pre-Closing 
covenant made by the Company (and setting forth in reasonable detail the basis for Parent’s determination that such an 
inaccuracy or breach exists and, to the extent known, a good faith estimate of the amount of Damages incurred by Parent 
as a result of such inaccuracy or breach) and asserting a claim for recovery under Section 7.2 based on such inaccuracy 
or breach, then the claim asserted in such notice shall survive the Representation Termination Date or Pre-closing 
Covenant Termination Date, as applicable, until such time as such claim is fully and finally resolved. It is the express 
intent of the parties that, if the applicable survival period for an item as contemplated by this Section 7 is shorter than the 
statute of limitations that would otherwise have been applicable to such item, then, by contract, the applicable statute of 
limitations with respect to such item shall be reduced to the shortened survival period contemplated hereby.  The parties 
further acknowledge that the time periods set forth in this Section 7 for the assertion of claims under this Agreement are 
the result of arms’-length negotiation among the parties and that they intend for the time periods to be enforced as agreed 
by the parties.  
   

7.2            Indemnification.   Subject to the limitations set forth in this Section 7, from and after the date of this 
Agreement, Parent, the Surviving Corporation and their respective officers, directors, stockholders, employees, Affiliates 
(other than Persons who are Affiliates as a result of being Former Holders) (together, the “ Parent Indemnified Parties 
”) shall be indemnified against any Damages incurred by any Parent Indemnified Party as a result of, arising out of or in 
connection with (a) any misrepresentation, breach or inaccuracy in any representation or warranty of the Company set 
forth in this Agreement or the Company Closing Certificate; (b) the breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant or 
agreement of either the Company in this Agreement required to be performed at or prior to the Effective Time or the 
Stockholders’ Representative in this Agreement required to be performed at any time; (c) any amounts paid or payable 
by Parent, Merger Sub or the Surviving Corporation with respect to any Dissenting Shares in excess of the amount of 
Merger Consideration allocated to such Dissenting Shares; (d) any claim arising as a result of any inaccuracy or error in 
the Closing Allocation Certificate or any Contingent Allocation Certificate; (e) the amount by which the Indebtedness of 
Company as of immediately  
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prior to the Effective Time exceeds the amount of Indebtedness calculated based on the amounts of the components 
thereof as set forth on the Closing Allocation Certificate; (f) the amount by which Sellers’ Expenses exceed the amount 
of Sellers’ Expenses set forth in the Closing Allocation Certificate; (g) any Pre-Closing Taxes (as defined in Article 6A) 
imposed on or with respect to the Company or the Surviving Corporation (and/or their assets or businesses),  (h) any 
Sellers’ Taxes, (i) any claim by a holder of a Company Option that did not consent to the treatment of options set forth 
in Section 1.3(a), (j) any claim related to the employment or termination of employment of any employee or contractor 
of the Company or (k) any claim related to any Employee Benefit Plan.  “ Damages ” shall mean any liabilities, losses, 
damages, diminution of value, penalties, awards, judgments, settlement payments, fines, Taxes, including costs or 
expenses, and other reasonable out-of-pocket costs, expenses and charges, including reasonable legal, expert and 
consultant fees and expenses, but excluding any special, indirect, punitive or speculative damages (except to the extent 
such amounts are recovered by a third party in any Third-Party Claims that are subject to indemnification 
hereunder).  The parties agree that any amounts offset against the Hold-back Amount or Contingent Payments shall be 
treated as a reduction in the aggregate consideration paid in connection with the Merger for all income Tax purposes.  
   

7.3            Choice of Remedies; Limitations on Liability.  
   

(a)           Subject to Sections 7.2 and the other provisions of this Section 7.3, the Parent Indemnified 
Parties shall be entitled to, and may seek payment of, indemnification obligations hereunder at its option by either or 
both, (i) a reduction in the Hold-back Amount during the Hold-back Period, and/or (ii) by set off against amounts 
otherwise due, but not yet paid, as Contingent Payments.  
   

(b)           Without limiting the effect of any other limitation contained in this Section 7, the 
indemnification provided for in Section 7.2 shall not apply, and Parent shall not be entitled to exercise any 
indemnification rights under Section 7.2 except to the extent that the aggregate amount of the Damages against which 
Parent would otherwise be entitled to be indemnified under Section 7.2 exceeds $100,000 (the “ Basket ”).  If the 
aggregate amount of such Damages exceeds the Basket, then the Parent Indemnified Parties shall, subject to Section 7.3
(a) and the other limitations contained in this Agreement, be entitled to be indemnified pursuant to Section 7.2 for 
Damages in excess of the Basket up to a maximum amount of Damages pursuant to Section 7.2 at any point in time 
equal to the difference between  (i) 15% of the aggregate amount of Merger Consideration, Option Consideration and 
Warrant Consideration that has been paid or has accrued through the date of the applicable indemnity payment pursuant 
to this Article 7, minus (ii) all prior Damages recovered through such date pursuant to Section 7.2 (the “ Cap ” ); 
provided , that neither the Basket nor the Cap shall apply to any claim for indemnification arising out of a breach of any 
Fundamental and Tax Representations, or any indemnification claim under clause (i) of the first sentence of section 7.2.  
   

(c)           Nothing in this Agreement shall limit any remedy any Parent Indemnified Party may have 
against any Person who committed fraud or knowing misrepresentation under applicable tort laws for such fraud.  
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(d)           The amount of any Damages that are subject to indemnification under this Section 7 shall be 

calculated net of the amount of any insurance proceeds (offset by any increase in premium resulting therefrom), 
indemnification payments (including indemnification payments pursuant to Section 6A.1 of this Agreement), 
contribution payments or reimbursements that are actually received (net, in each case, of any collection costs) by Parent, 
the Surviving Corporation or any Affiliate of Parent or the Surviving Corporation in connection with such Damages or 
any of the events or circumstances giving rise or otherwise related to such Damages.  
   

7.4            Defense of Third Party Claims.  
   

(a)           Promptly after Parent or a Parent Indemnified Party obtains Knowledge of any actual or 
possible claim, demand, suit, action, arbitration, investigation, inquiry or proceeding that has been or may be brought or 
asserted by a third party against any Parent Indemnified Party and that may be subject to indemnification hereunder (a “
Third-Party Claim ”), Parent or Parent Indemnified Party shall deliver to the Stockholders’ Representative a written 
notice stating in reasonable detail the nature and basis of such Third-Party Claim and the dollar amount of such Third-
Party Claim, to the extent known; provided , that the failure to promptly notify the Stockholders’ Representative shall 
not prejudice the right of the Parent Indemnified Party to make or recover for such claim except to the extent such delay 
has caused material prejudice to the defense of such claim.  Subject to the provisions of Sections 7.4(b), the 
Stockholders’ Representative shall have the right, at its election, to defend any Third-Party Claim, in which case: 
(i) Stockholders’ Representative shall diligently and in good faith defend such Third-Party Claim; (ii) so long as 
Stockholders’ Representative diligently and in good faith defends such Third-Party Claim, Parent shall not be entitled to 
be indemnified for any costs or expenses incurred by Parent in connection with the defense of such Third-Party Claim; 
(iii) Parent shall be entitled to monitor (but not control) such defense at its own expense and may retain separate co-
counsel at its own expense and participate in the defense; (iv) Parent shall make available to the Stockholders’
Representative all books, records and other documents and materials that are under the direct or indirect control of 
Parent or any of Parent’s Subsidiaries or other Affiliates and that are necessary or reasonably desirable for the defense of 
such Third-Party Claim; (v) Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall execute such documents and take such other 
actions as the Stockholders’ Representative may reasonably request for the purpose of facilitating the defense of such 
Third-Party Claim; (vi) Parent shall otherwise fully cooperate as reasonably requested by the Stockholders’
Representative in the defense of such Third-Party Claim; and (vii) Parent and Stockholders’ Representative shall not 
admit any liability with respect to such Third-Party Claim without the express written consent of the other.  
   

(b)           Notwithstanding Section 7.4(a), the Stockholders’ Representative shall not have the right to 
assume control of the defense of any Third-Party Claim if:  (i) the Stockholders’ Representative does not assume the 
defense thereof promptly, but in any event, within thirty days of receipt of the Parent Indemnified Party’s notice of a 
Third-Party Claim; (ii) the Stockholders’ Representative does not conduct the defense of the Third-Party Claim with 
reasonable diligence, comparable to the level of diligence that the Parent would use in defending against such claim, and 
in good faith; or (iii) the Third-Party Claim (A) seeks non-monetary, equitable or injunctive relief, (B) alleges violations 
of criminal law, (C) includes as named parties in any such Third-Party Claim any employee, agent, officer or director of 
Parent or the Surviving Corporation;  
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(D) seeks to recover monetary damages potentially in excess of $500,000; (E) relates to the SK License, or (F) includes 
as the named parties in any such Third-Party Claim both a Parent Indemnified Party and any Former Holder and either a 
defense is available to a Parent Indemnified Party that is not available to such Former Holder or applicable ethical 
guidelines provide that, in either case, it would be inappropriate to have the same counsel represent both parties.  If the 
Stockholders’ Representative has assumed such defense as provided in Section 7.4(a), the Stockholders’ Representative 
will not be liable for any legal expenses subsequently incurred by any Parent Indemnified Party in connection with the 
defense of such claim.  If the Stockholders’ Representative does not assume the defense of any Third-Party Claim in 
accordance with Section 7.4(a) and the Parent Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification under this Agreement, the 
Parent Indemnified Party may continue to defend such claim at the reasonable expense of the Former Holders and the 
Stockholders’ Representative may still participate in, but not control, the defense of such Third-Party Claim at the sole 
cost and expense of the Former Holders.  
   

(c)           If the Stockholders’ Representative does not assume and conduct the defense of the Third-Party 
Claim in accordance with Section 7.4(a), or is not entitled to do so, the Parent Indemnified Party shall not consent to the 
entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement with respect to the Third-Party Claim without the written consent of 
the Stockholders’ Representative (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed).  The Parent Indemnified 
Party shall have no right to seek indemnification under this Section 7 in respect of any Third-Party Claim for a 
settlement entered into without the prior written consent of the Stockholders’ Representative.  
   

If the Stockholders’ Representative assumes and conducts the defense of the Third-Party Claim in accordance 
with Section 7.4(a), the Stockholders’ Representative shall not, without the written consent of the Parent Indemnified 
Party (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed), consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any 
settlement with respect to the Third-Party Claim that:  (A) involves any action by the Parent Indemnified Party other 
than the payment of money (which is paid in full by the Stockholders’ Representative), (B) provides for non-monetary 
equitable or injunctive relief affecting the Parent Indemnified Party, or (C) does not grant an unconditional release of the 
Parent Indemnified Party from all liability with respect to such Third-Party Claim.  
   

In any Third-Party Claim, the party responsible for the defense of such claim shall, to the extent reasonably 
requested by the other party, keep such other party informed as to the status of such claim, including, without limitation, 
all settlement negotiations and offers.  The Parent Indemnified Party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to make 
available to the Stockholders’ Representative and its representatives all books and records of the Parent Indemnified 
Party relating to such Third-Party Claim and shall cooperate with the Stockholders’ Representative in the defense of the 
Third-Party Claim, including by using commercially reasonable efforts to make available personnel as witnesses in 
connection with any action.  
   

(d)           To the extent that Parent is actually indemnified pursuant to this Section 7 and an offset against 
either the Hold-back Amount or a Contingent Payment actually occurs, the Stockholders’ Representative shall be 
entitled to exercise, and shall be subrogated to, any rights  
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and remedies (including rights of indemnity, rights of contribution and other rights of recovery) that Parent or any of 
Parent’s Subsidiaries or other Affiliates may have against any other Person with respect to any Damages, circumstances 
or matter to which such indemnification is directly or indirectly related.  Parent shall take such actions as the 
Stockholders’ Representative may reasonably request for the purpose of enabling the Stockholders’ Representative to 
perfect or exercise the right of subrogation of the Stockholders’ Representative under this Section 7.4(d).  
   

7.5            Exclusivity.   The right of a Parent Indemnified Party to be indemnified pursuant to this Section 7 
shall, absent fraud or intentional misrepresentation, be the sole and exclusive right and remedy exercisable by such 
Parent Indemnified Party with respect to any breach of this Agreement.  
   

7.6            Direct Indemnification Claims.  
   

(a)           Promptly after Parent or a Parent Indemnified Party obtains knowledge that it is entitled to 
claim indemnification (“ Indemnification Claim ”) hereunder (other than in respect of Third-Party Claims, the process 
for which is governed by Section 7.4, and in respect of Tax Contests, the process for which is governed by Section 
6A.5), Parent or such Parent Indemnified Party shall promptly give notice (an “ Indemnification Demand ”) of such 
Indemnification Claim to the Stockholders’ Representative, stating the nature and basis of such Indemnification Claim 
and the dollar amount of such Indemnification Claim, in each case to the extent known or a good faith estimate thereof 
(the “ Asserted Damages Amount ”), provided that the failure to promptly notify the Stockholders’ Representative shall 
not prejudice the right of the Parent Indemnified Party to make or recover for such claim except to the extent such delay 
has caused material prejudice to the defense of such claim.  
   

(b)           Within ten (10) Business Days following delivery of an Indemnification Demand to the 
Stockholders’ Representative, the Stockholders’ Representative shall deliver to Parent a written response (the “
Response ”) in which the Stockholders’ Representative shall either:  (i) agree that the Parent Indemnified Party is 
entitled to receive all of the Asserted Damages Amount, in which case Parent shall deliver to the Stockholders’
Representative notice indicating whether the Asserted Damages Amount shall be remitted to the Parent Indemnified 
Party by reducing the Hold-back Amount during the Hold-back Period or as a set-off against applicable Contingent 
Payments; (ii) agree that the Parent Indemnified Party is entitled to receive part, but not all, of the Asserted Damages 
Amount (such portion, the “ Agreed Portion ”), in which case Parent shall deliver to the Stockholders’ Representative 
notice indicating whether the Agreed Portion shall be remitted to the Parent Indemnified Party by reducing the Hold-
back Amount during the Hold-back Period or as a set-off against applicable Contingent Payments; or (iii) dispute that 
the Parent Indemnified Party is entitled to receive any portion of the Asserted Damages Amount.  
   

(c)           In the event that the Stockholders’ Representative shall (i) dispute that the Parent Indemnified 
Party is entitled to receive any of the Asserted Damages Amount, or (ii) agree that the Parent Indemnified Party is 
entitled to only the Agreed Portion of the Asserted Damages Amount, the Stockholders’ Representative and Parent shall 
attempt in good faith to agree to a resolution of the dispute.  If no such resolution can be reached after good faith  
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negotiation within sixty days after delivery of a Response, either Parent or the Stockholders’ Representative may resolve 
the dispute in accordance with Section 8.5.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party shall be entitled to act without 
delay in order to exercise rights under Section 8.10.  
   

   

8.1            Stockholders’ Representative.  
   

(a)           By virtue of the adoption of this Agreement and/or the cancellation by a Former Holder of 
Company Options or Company Warrants in exchange for Merger Consideration, Option Consideration or Warrant 
Consideration pursuant to this Agreement, the Former Holders irrevocably nominate, constitute and appoint Moise A. 
Khayrallah as the agent and true and lawful attorney-in-fact of the Former Holders (the “ Stockholders’ Representative 
”) to take any and all actions and make any and all decisions required or permitted to be taken or made by the 
Stockholders’ Representative under this Agreement, including the exercise of the right to: (i) give and receive notices 
and communications under this Agreement; (ii) authorize set-off against Contingent Payments in satisfaction of claims 
for indemnification made by Parent under Section 7; (iii) object to claims for indemnification made by Parent under 
Section 7; (iv) agree to, negotiate, enter into settlements and compromises of and comply with court orders with respect 
to claims for indemnification made by Parent under Section 7 or disputes regarding Section 1.7; and (v) take all actions 
necessary or appropriate in the good faith judgment of the Stockholders’ Representative for the accomplishment of the 
foregoing.  The power of attorney granted in this Section 8.1 is coupled with an interest and is irrevocable, may be 
delegated by the Stockholders’ Representative and shall survive the death or incapacity of any Former Holder.  The 
identity of the Stockholders’ Representative may be changed, and a successor Stockholders’ Representative may be 
appointed, from time to time (including in the event of the resignation or the death, disability or other incapacity of the 
Stockholders’ Representative) by Former Holders with a majority in interest of the rights to any Contingent Payments, 
and any such successor shall succeed the Stockholders’ Representative as Stockholders’ Representative hereunder.  No 
bond shall be required of the Stockholders’ Representative.  From and after the Effective Time, a decision, act, consent 
or instruction of the Stockholders’ Representative shall be final, binding and conclusive upon each Former Holder and 
the Parent may rely upon any decision, act, consent or instruction of the Stockholders’ Representative as being the 
decision, act, consent or instruction of each Former Holder.  Parent and Surviving Corporation are hereby relieved from 
any liability to any Person for any acts done by Stockholders’ Representative and any acts done by Parent or Surviving 
Corporation in accordance with any such decision, act, consent or instruction of the Stockholders’ Representative.  Each 
Former Holder hereby agrees to receive correspondence from the Stockholders’ Representative, including in electronic 
form.  
   

(b)           The Stockholders’ Representative shall not be liable for any liability, loss, damage, penalty, 
fine, cost or expense incurred due to the acts or omissions of the Stockholders’ Representative in the absence of gross 
negligence or bad faith on the part of the Stockholders’ Representative arising out of or in connection with the 
acceptance or administration of his duties or the exercise of his rights hereunder (it being understood that any act done or 
omitted pursuant  
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to the advice of counsel, informed of all relevant facts, shall be conclusive evidence of such good faith).  The Former 
Holders shall indemnify and hold the Stockholders’ Representative harmless against any liability, loss, damage, penalty, 
fine, cost or expense incurred by the Stockholders’ Representative without gross negligence or bad faith on the part of 
the Stockholders’ Representative and arising out of or in connection with the acceptance or administration of his duties 
under this Agreement.  The Stockholders’ Representative shall be entitled to recover, from the Reserve Amount,  and/or 
set-off against any Contingent Payment, any out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by the Stockholders’ 
Representative in connection with actions taken by the Stockholders’ Representative pursuant to the terms of this 
Agreement (including the hiring of legal counsel and the incurring of legal fees and costs), without the requirement of 
any consent or approval by Parent or any other Person.  
   

(c)           At any time that the Stockholders’ Representative or Former Holders with a majority in interest 
of the rights to any Contingent Payments determines that it is no longer necessary for it to retain the entire Reserve 
Amount and that all or a portion of the Reserve Amount should be distributed to Former Holders, then the Stockholders’
Representative shall (i) deliver to Parent and the Paying Agent a Contingent Allocation Certificate and (ii) deliver to 
Parent (for further deposit with the Paying Agent or payroll agent) the Reserve Amount or such portion thereof to be so 
distributed by the Paying Agent and the payroll agent.  Within ten Business Days of the receipt of such Contingent 
Allocation Certificate and the Reserve Amount or portion thereof, Parent shall direct the Paying Agent to pay, within ten 
Business Days of such direction, the amounts set forth in such Contingent Allocation Certificate to the Persons specified 
in such Contingent Allocation Certificate and direct the payroll agent to promptly pay such amount to the Persons to 
receive such amount as specified in the Contingent Allocation Certificate, after deducting applicable withholding.  
   

(d)           Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, any information 
provided to the Stockholders’ Representative under this Agreement shall be maintained as confidential and not disclosed 
by the Stockholders’ Representative or used for any purpose not contemplated by the purpose for which it was disclosed 
to the Stockholders’ Representative; provided however , that, in connection with performing its duties pursuant to this 
Agreement, the Stockholders’ Representative may from time to time provide such information in summary form to 
Former Holders and their Affiliates who were represented on the board of directors of the Company immediately prior to 
the Effective Time provided that such Former Holders agree to keep all such information confidential and not disclose 
such information to any other Person.  
   

(e)           The Stockholders’ Representative and Company agree that the terms under which the 
Stockholders’ Representative shall be engaged to represent the Former Holders in connection with this Agreement and 
the transactions contemplated hereby shall (i) be set forth in a written agreement to be entered into prior to the Closing 
among the Stockholders’ Representative and certain Former Holders, (ii) not include the Company as a party to such 
agreement, and (iii) not contravene or negate any of the Stockholders’ Representative’s obligations to Parent or 
Surviving Corporation hereunder.  
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8.2            Expenses.   Except as otherwise provided herein, each party shall pay all of its own fees, costs and 

expenses (including fees, costs and expenses of legal counsel, investment bankers, brokers or other representatives and 
consultants and appraisal fees, costs and expenses) incurred in connection with the negotiation of this Agreement and the 
other agreements contemplated by this Agreement, the performance of its obligations hereunder and thereunder, and the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.  
   

8.3            Amendment; Waiver.  
   

(a)           This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of 
Parent, the Company (or, following the Closing, Surviving Corporation) and Stockholders’ Representative.  
   

(b)           Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, no failure on the part of any party to exercise 
any power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, and no delay on the part of any party in exercising any 
power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, shall operate as a waiver of such power, right, privilege or 
remedy; and no single or partial exercise of any such power, right, privilege or remedy shall preclude any other or 
further exercise thereof or of any other power, right, privilege or remedy.  
   

(c)           No party shall be deemed to have waived any claim arising out of this Agreement, or any 
power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, unless the waiver of such claim, power, right, privilege or 
remedy is expressly set forth in a written instrument duly executed and delivered on behalf of such party; and any such 
waiver shall not be applicable or have any effect except in the specific instance in which it is given.  
   

8.4            Entire Agreement; Counterparts; Exchanges by Facsimile.   This Agreement and the other 
agreements referred to in this Agreement constitute the entire agreement and supersede all prior agreements and 
understandings, both written and oral, among or between any of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and 
thereof.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of 
which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument. The exchange of a fully executed Agreement (in 
counterparts or otherwise) by facsimile or by electronic delivery in .pdf format shall be sufficient to bind the parties to 
the terms and provisions of this Agreement.  
   

8.5            Governing Law.   This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal 
laws of the State of Delaware applicable to parties residing in the State of Delaware, without regard to applicable 
principles of conflicts of law.  Each of the parties irrevocably consents to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the 
federal and state courts located in the State of Delaware, in connection with any matter based upon or arising out of this 
Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby and agrees that process may be served upon it in any manner 
authorized by the laws of the State of Delaware for such Persons and waives and covenants not to assert or plead any 
objection which it might otherwise have to such jurisdiction and such process.  The prevailing party in any dispute 
arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be entitled to be awarded its fees and expenses, including reasonable 
attorneys’ fees.  
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8.6            Assignability; Third Party Rights.  

   

(a)           Subject to Section 8.7(b), this Agreement shall be binding upon, and shall be enforceable by and 
inure solely to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns; provided, however , that 
neither this Agreement nor any of the rights or obligations of any party hereunder may be assigned or delegated by such 
party (by operation of law or otherwise) without the prior written consent of the other parties (which consent will not be 
unreasonably withheld or delayed), and any attempted assignment or delegation of this Agreement or any of such rights 
or obligations by any party without the other parties’ prior written consent shall be void and of no effect; provided that 
Parent may assign its rights and obligations hereunder to an Affiliate thereof so long as Parent remains secondarily liable 
for performance under this Agreement; provided, further , that no such consent shall be required in connection with any 
merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, reorganization, recapitalization or similar transaction 
involving Parent.  
   

(b)           Subject to Section 4.5 and except as set forth in the following sentence, nothing in this 
Agreement is intended to or shall confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto) any right, benefit or remedy of 
any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this 
Agreement (but without limiting any of the rights of the Stockholders’ Representative hereunder), if the Merger is 
consummated, the Indemnified Parties shall be third party beneficiaries of the provisions set forth in Section 4.5.  
   

8.7            Disclosure Schedule.   Any information set forth in any Part of the Disclosure Schedule shall be 
deemed to be disclosed and incorporated by reference in each of the other Parts of the Disclosure Schedule as though 
fully set forth in such other Parts (whether or not specific cross-references are made) to which such information relates 
to the extent it is readily apparent on its face (without review of any document to which it may refer), and shall be 
deemed to qualify and limit all representations and warranties of the Company set forth in this Agreement to which such 
information relates to the extent it is readily apparent on its face (without review of any document to which it may 
refer).  No reference to or disclosure of any item or other matter in this Disclosure Schedule shall be construed as an 
admission or indication that such item or other matter is material or that such item or other matter is required to be 
referred to or disclosed in this Disclosure Schedule.  The information set forth in the Disclosure Schedule is disclosed 
solely for the purposes of this Agreement, and no information set forth therein shall be deemed to be an admission by 
any party hereto to any third party of any matter whatsoever, including of any violation of Law or breach of any 
agreement.  
   

8.8            Notices.   All notices, requests, demands and other communications under this Agreement shall be in 
writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given or made as follows: (a) if sent designated for overnight delivery by 
nationally recognized overnight air courier (such as DHL or FedEx), one Business Day after dispatch; (b) if sent by 
facsimile transmission before 5:00 p.m. U.S. Eastern Time, when transmitted and receipt is confirmed; (c) if sent by 
facsimile transmission after 5:00 p.m. U.S. Eastern Time and receipt is confirmed, on the following business day; and 
(d) if otherwise actually personally delivered, when delivered, provided that such notices, requests, demands and other 
communications are delivered to the address set forth  
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below, or to such other address as any party shall provide by like notice to the other parties to this Agreement:  
   

if to Parent, Merger Sub or the Surviving Corporation:  
   

Acorda Therapeutics, Inc.  
   

15 Skyline Drive  
   

Hawthorne, New York 10532, USA  
   

Attention:  Chief Executive Officer  
   

Facsimile:  +1 914.347.4560  
   

with copies (which shall not constitute notice) to  
   

Acorda Therapeutics, Inc.  
   

15 Skyline Drive  
   

Hawthorne, New York 10532, USA  
   

Attention:  General Counsel  
   

Facsimile:  +1 914.347.4560  
   

if to the Company:  
   

Neuronex, Inc.  
   

9001 Aerial Center Parkway, Suite 110  
   

Morrisville, NC 27560  
   

Attention:  Chief Executive Officer  
   

Facsimile:  (919) 460-9509  
   

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:  
   

Hutchison Law Group  
   

5410 Trinity Road, Suite 400  
   

Raleigh, NC  27607  
   

Attention: William N. Wofford, Esq.  
   

Facsimile: (919) 829-9696  
   

if to the Stockholders’ Representative:  
   

Moise Khayrallah  
   

113 Glenspring Way  

  



   

Morrisville, NC  27560  
   

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:  
   

Hutchison Law Group  
   

5410 Trinity Road, Suite 400  
   

Raleigh, NC  27607  
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Attention: William N. Wofford, Esq.  

   

Facsimile: (919) 829-9696  
   

8.9            Severability.   Any term or provision of this Agreement that is invalid or unenforceable in any 
situation in any jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions of this 
Agreement or the validity or enforceability of the offending term or provision in any other situation or in any other 
jurisdiction.  If a final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction declares that any term or provision of this 
Agreement is invalid or unenforceable, the parties hereto agree that the court making such determination shall have the 
power to limit such term or provision, to delete specific words or phrases or to replace such term or provision with a 
term or provision that is valid and enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or 
unenforceable term or provision, and this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable as so modified.  In the event such 
court does not exercise the power granted to it in the prior sentence, the parties hereto agree to replace such invalid or 
unenforceable term or provision with a valid and enforceable term or provision that will achieve, to the extent possible, 
the economic, business and other purposes of such invalid or unenforceable term or provision.  
   

8.10            Enforcement.   Each of the parties hereto agrees that irreparable damage would occur and that the 
parties would not have any adequate remedy at law in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not 
performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached.  It is accordingly agreed that the parties 
shall be entitled, without the need to post bond or other security, to seek an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches 
of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement, this being in addition to any 
other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity.  
   

8.11            Construction.  
   

(a)           For purposes of this Agreement, whenever the context requires: the singular number shall 
include the plural, and vice versa; the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter genders; the feminine 
gender shall include the masculine and neuter genders; and the neuter gender shall include masculine and feminine 
genders.  
   

(b)           As used in this Agreement, the words “include” and “including,” and variations thereof, shall 
not be deemed to be terms of limitation, but rather shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation.”  
   

(c)           Except as otherwise indicated, all references in this Agreement to “Sections,” “Exhibits” and 
“Schedules” are intended to refer to Sections of this Agreement and Exhibits or Schedules to this Agreement.  
   

(d)           The headings set forth in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only, shall not be 
deemed to be a part of this Agreement and shall not be referred to in connection with the construction or interpretation of 
this Agreement.  
   

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above 

written.  
   
   

ACORDA THERAPEUTICS , INC.  
   

By:            /s/ Ron Cohen                                                                   
   

Name:           Ron Cohen  
   

Title:           Chief Executive Officer  
   

ATI D EVELOPMENT  CORP.  
   

By:            /s/ Jane Wasman                                                                   
   

Name: Jane Wasman  
   

Title:           President  
   

NEURONEX, INC.  
   

   

   

   

MOISE A. KHAYRALLAH ,  
   

AS THE  STOCKHOLDERS ’  
   

REPRESENTATIVE :  
   

   

 

  

   By:  /s/Moise A. Khayrallah    

   Moise A. Khayrallah  

   President & CEO  

   By:  /s/Moise A. Khayrallah    

   Moise A. Khayrallah  

Merger Agreement Signature Page  
 
  

  



 
EXHIBIT  A  

   

CERTAIN  DEFINITIONS   
   

For purposes of the Agreement (including this Exhibit A ):  
   

Acquisition Transaction.   “Acquisition Transaction” shall mean any transaction involving: (a) the sale, license, 
disposition or acquisition of all or a substantial portion of the business or assets of the Company; (b) the issuance, 
disposition or acquisition of (i) any capital stock or other equity security of the Company (other than Company Common 
Stock issued to employees of the Company upon exercise of Company Options in routine transactions in accordance 
with the Company’s past practices), (ii) any option, call, warrant or right (whether or not immediately exercisable) to 
acquire any capital stock or other equity security of the Company, or (iii) any security, instrument or obligation that is or 
may become convertible into or exchangeable for any capital stock or other equity security of the Company; or (c) any 
merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, reorganization, recapitalization or similar transaction 
involving the Company.  
   

Actual Net Cash Amount.   “Actual Net Cash Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.5.  
   

Aerial.   “Aerial” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.6.  
   

Affiliate.   “Affiliate” of any Person shall mean any other Person that, directly or indirectly, controls, is under 
common control with, or is controlled by such Person.  
   

Agreed Portion.   “Agreed Portion” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.6(b).  
   

Agreement.   “Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble to the Agreement.  
   

Aggregate Upfront Transaction Value.   “Aggregate Upfront Transaction Value” shall mean an amount equal 
to:  (a) the Closing Consideration; minus (b) the Hold-back Amount, minus (c) the Debt Payment;   minus (d) the 
Reserve Amount; minus (e) an amount equal to Sellers’ Expenses; plus (f) the Paid Exercise Price.  
   

Asserted Damages Amount.   “Asserted Damages Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.6(a).  
   

Basket.   “Basket” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3(b).  
   

Business Day.   “Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which banking 
institutions in New York, New York are permitted or obligated by Law to be closed for regular banking business.  
   

Bylaws.   “Bylaws” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.  
   

Cap.   “Cap” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3(b).  
   
 

  

  
  



 
Certificate.   “Certificate” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(a).  

   

cGMP.   “cGMP”  has the meaning set forth in Section 2.19(e).  
   

Closing.   “Closing” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(a).  
   

Closing Allocation Certificate.   “Closing Allocation Certificate” means a certificate that shall set forth (in 
addition to the information required by the last sentence of Section 1.4 of this Agreement) (i) (x) all Indebtedness 
outstanding immediately prior to the Closing, including the name, contact information and payoff amounts, including all 
interest, premiums and penalties, as of the Closing Date to pay off such Indebtedness in full and terminate all such 
Indebtedness and (y) the amount of the Company’s cash and prepaid expenses as of immediately prior to the Closing; 
(ii) a schedule of all Sellers’ Expenses and the persons and amounts to be paid at Closing in respect thereof; (iii) the 
Reserve Amount to be paid to the Stockholders’ Representative at Closing; (iv) a merger consideration spreadsheet 
setting forth the aggregate Merger Consideration, Option Consideration or Warrant Consideration to be paid at the 
Closing, the exercise prices for each Company Option and Company Warrant, the amounts payable to and the Pro Rata 
Share for each Former Holder of Company Capital Stock, Company Warrants and Company Options; (v) the name, 
address, and, to the extent known, tax identification number of each such Former Holder; (vi) a funds flow memo, 
including proper wire transfer instructions and amounts due to be paid to (A) each party to be paid in respect of 
Indebtedness, (B) each party to receive a payment in respect of Sellers’ Expenses, (C) the Company’s payroll agent in 
respect of Option Consideration for any employee of the Company or other Person for which payments are subject to 
withholding, (D) the Paying Agent in respect of all remaining Merger Consideration, Option Consideration or Warrant 
Consideration for payment to the Former Holders (other than payments to the Former Holders for whom amounts were 
deposited with the Company’s payroll agent pursuant to clause (C)), and (E) the Stockholders’ Representative in respect 
of the Reserve Amount.  
   

Closing Consideration.   “Closing Consideration” means $6,800,000.  
   

Closing Date.   “Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(a).  
   

Code.   “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.  
   

Common Merger Consideration.   “Common Merger Consideration” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2
(c)(2).  
   

Company.   “Company” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble to the Agreement.  
   

Company Balance Sheet.   “Company Balance Sheet” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(a).  
   

Company Capital Stock.   “Company Capital Stock” shall mean the Company Common Stock and Company 
Preferred Stock.  
   

Company Closing Certificate.   “Company Closing Certificate” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2(e).  
   
 

  

  
  



 
Company Common Stock.   “Company Common Stock” shall mean the common stock, $0.001 par value, of the 

Company.  
   

Company Financial Statements.   “Company Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(a).  
   

Company IP Rights.   “Company IP Rights” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(a)(5).  
   

Company Material Adverse Effect.   “Company Material Adverse Effect” shall mean any state of facts, 
change, development, event, effect, condition, occurrence, action or omission (each, an “ Event ”) that, individually or 
in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse effect on the business, prospects, financial 
condition or results of operations of the Company, taken as a whole; provided , however , that none of the following 
shall be deemed, either alone or in combination, to constitute, and none of the effects of the following shall be taken into 
account in determining whether there has been or will be, a Company Material Adverse Effect:  any Events generally 
affecting (I) the industry in which the Company primarily operate to the extent they do not materially disproportionately 
affect the Company in relation to other companies in the industry in which the Company primarily operates or (II) the 
economy, or financial or capital markets, in the United States or elsewhere in the world to the extent they do not 
disproportionately affect the Company in relation to other companies in the industry in which the Company primarily 
operates.  
   

Company Options.   “Company Options” shall mean options to purchase shares of Company Capital Stock 
granted by the Company pursuant to the Company Stock Plan or otherwise.  
   

Company Preferred Stock.   “Company Preferred Stock” shall mean the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock, 
$0.001 par value.  
   

Company Stock Plan.   “Company Stock Plan” shall mean the Company’s 2011 Stock Incentive Plan.  
   

Company Warrants.   “Company Warrants” shall mean warrants to purchase shares of Company Capital Stock 
issued by the Company.  
   

Company’s Facilities.   “Company’s Facilities” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.15(b).  
   

Contingent Allocation Certificate.   “Contingent Allocation Certificate” means a certificate that shall set forth 
(i) a merger consideration spreadsheet setting forth the aggregate Merger Consideration, Option Consideration or 
Warrant Consideration to be paid with respect to such Contingent Payment, the exercise prices for each Company 
Option and Company Warrant, the amounts payable to and the Pro Rata Share for each Former Holder of Company 
Capital Stock, Company Warrants and Company Options; (ii) the PJSC Contingent Fees, which shall, to the extent not 
included in Sellers’ Expenses, be deducted ratably as incurred from the Merger Consideration, Option Consideration and 
Warrant Consideration; (iii) a funds flow memo, including proper wire transfer instructions (it being understood that 
wire transfer instructions for  
   
 

  

  
  



 
items (A) and (B) below shall be provided by Parent) and amounts due to be paid to (A) the Surviving Company’s 
payroll agent in respect of Option Consideration for any employee of the Surviving Company or other Person for which 
payments are subject to withholding, (B) the Paying Agent (if applicable) in respect of all remaining Merger 
Consideration, Option Consideration or Warrant Consideration for payment to the Former Holders (other than payments 
to the Former Holders for whom amounts were deposited with the Company’s payroll agent pursuant to clause (A)), 
(C) PJSC in respect of any PJSC Contingent Fees, and (D) the Stockholders’ Representative in respect of any addition to 
the Reserve Amount.  
   

Contingent Payment.   “Contingent Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(1).  
   

Contingent Payment Event.   “Contingent Payment Event” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(2).  
   

Copyrights.   “Copyrights” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(a)(2).  
   

Current Company Business.   “Current Company Business” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.  
   

Damages.   “Damages” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2.  
   

Data Room.   “Data Room” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.10.  
   

Debt Payment.   “Debt Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(c).  
   

DGCL.   “DGCL” shall mean the Delaware General Corporation Law.  
   

Diligence Notice . “Diligence Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(f).  
   

Diligent Efforts.   “Diligent Efforts” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(3).  
   

Disclosure Schedule.   “Disclosure Schedule” shall mean the Disclosure Schedule that has been prepared by the 
Company in accordance with Section 8.7 and that has been delivered by the Company to Parent on the date of the 
Agreement.  
   

DOL.   “DOL” shall mean the U.S. Department of Labor.  
   

Drug.   “Drug” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.19(a).  
   

DZNS Product.   “DZNS Product” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(4).  
   

Earn-out Payment.   “Earn-out Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(5).  
   

Effective Time.   “Effective Time” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(b).  
   

Effective Time Share.   “Effective Time Share” shall mean, in each case immediately prior to the Effective 
Time: (i) each outstanding share of Company Capital Stock; (ii) each share of Company Capital Stock into which 
Company Warrants and upfront participating options are  
   
 

  

  
  



 
exercisable (whether or not then currently exercisable); and (iii) each share of Company Common Stock into which 
Company Options other than upfront participating options are exercisable (whether or not then currently vested or 
exercisable), provided that the shares of Company Common Stock into which Company Options other than upfront 
participating options are exercisable shall only be taken into account and considered Effective Time Shares at such point 
as the Former Holders thereof are entitled to receive a portion of any Contingent Payment in accordance with Section 1.3
(a) of the Agreement with respect to such Company Options.  
   

Employee Benefit Plan.   “Employee Benefit Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(c).  
   

Employment Agreement.   “Employment Agreement” means each written or unwritten management, 
employment, severance, consulting, relocation or similar agreement between the Company and any employee, consultant 
or independent contractor.  
   

Environmental Laws.   “Environmental Laws” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.15(a)(1).  
   

ERISA.   “ERISA” shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.  
   

ERISA Affiliate.   “ERISA Affiliate” shall mean any person that for purposes of Title I and Title IV of ERISA 
and Section 412 of the Code would be deemed at any relevant time to be a single employer with the Company under 
Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code or Section 4001 of ERISA.  
   

Exchange Act.   “Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including the 
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.  
   

[***] Manufacturing Agreement.   “[***] Manufacturing Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7
(b).  
   

FDA.   “FDA” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(6).  
   

FDCA.   “FDCA” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.19(a).  
   

Force Majeure Event . “Force Majeure Event” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(f).  
   

Former Holder.   “Former Holder” shall mean any holder of Company Capital Stock, Company Options or 
Company Warrants immediately prior to the Effective Time that is entitled receive Merger Consideration, Option 
Consideration or Warrant Consideration.  
   

Fundamental and Tax Representations.   “Fundamental and Tax Representations” has the meaning set forth in 
Section 7.1.  
   

Fundamental Representations.   “Fundamental Representations” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1.  
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GAAP.   “GAAP” shall mean generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, as in effect from 

time to time.  
   

Governmental Approvals.   “Governmental Approvals” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.11(a).  
   

Governmental Authority.   “Governmental Authority” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.22.  
   

Hazardous Materials.   “Hazardous Materials” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.15(a)(2).  
   

Hold-back Allocation Certificate . “Hold-back Allocation Certificate” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.8.  
   

Hold-back Amount.   “Hold-back Amount” means $300,000, subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 1.5 and 
Article 7.  
   

Hold-back Period .  “Hold-back Period” means the period commencing on the Effective Time and terminating 
on the one year anniversary of the Effective Time.  
   

IND.   “IND” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.19(a).  
   

Indebtedness.   “Indebtedness” means the outstanding principal amount of, and all interest and other amounts 
accrued and unpaid in respect of, (i) any indebtedness for borrowed money of the Company, whether or not recourse to 
the Company (except any capital lease), (ii) any obligation of the Company evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or 
other similar instruments, (iii) any reimbursement obligation of the Company with respect to letters of credit (including 
standby letters of credit to the extent drawn upon), bankers’ acceptances or similar facilities issued for the account of the 
Company, and (iv) any obligation of the type referred to in clauses (i) through (iii) of another Person the payment of 
which the Company has guaranteed or for which the Company is responsible or liable, directly or indirectly, jointly or 
severally, as obligor, guarantor or otherwise.  
   

Indemnified Parties.   “Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.5(a).  
   

Indemnification Claim. “Indemnification Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.6(a).  
   

Indemnification Demand.   “Indemnification Demand” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.6(a).  
   

IP Rights.   “IP Rights” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(a)(1).  
   

IRS.   “IRS” shall mean the United States Internal Revenue Service.  
   

Know-How.   “Know-How” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(a)(3).  
   
 

  

  
  



 
Knowledge.   “Knowledge” means such information that the executive officers of the applicable Person actually 

knew, or reasonably should have known, if such executive officers would have made due inquiry with respect to the 
applicable matter.  
   

Launch.   “Launch” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(8).  
   

Law.   “Law” shall mean any federal, state or local, domestic or foreign, statute, law, code, ordinance, rule or 
regulation or court order of any Governmental Authority.  
   

Lease Assignment.   “Lease Assignment” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.11(a).  
   

Letter of Transmittal.   “Letter of Transmittal” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(b).  
   

Marketing Approval.   “Marketing Approval” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(8).  
   

Material Contract.   “Material Contract” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.8(a).  
   

Merger.   “Merger” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals to the Agreement.  
   

Merger Consideration.   “Merger Consideration” means, collectively the Common Merger Consideration and 
the Series A Preferred Merger Consideration.  
   

Merger Price Per Common Share . “Merger Price Per Common Share” is equal to: (a) the Aggregate Upfront 
Transaction Value, minus the aggregate Series A Preferred Merger Consideration, divided by (b) the sum of the 
aggregate number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock issued and outstanding as of immediately prior to the 
Effective Time and the aggregate number of shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock and Company Common 
Stock issuable upon the exercise of all Company Options and Company Warrants as of immediately prior to the 
Effective Time (whether or not vested or exercisable at such time).  
   

Merger Price Per Series A Share.   “Merger Price Per Series A Share” is equal to (a) the Aggregate Upfront 
Transaction Value,   divided by (b) the sum of the aggregate number of shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred 
Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time.  
   

Merger Sub.   “Merger Sub” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble to the Agreement.  
   

Milestone Abandonment Dispute.   “Milestone Abandonment Dispute” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7
(h)(1).  
   

Milestone Abandonment Notice.   “Milestone Abandonment Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(h)
(1).  
   

Milestone Abandonment Objection Notice.   “Milestone Abandonment Objection Notice” has the meaning set 
forth in Section 1.7(h)(1).  
   
 

  

  
  



 
 
   

Milestone Event.   “Milestone Event” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(10).  
   

Milestone Event Occurrence Date. “Milestone Event Occurrence Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7
(a)(11).  
   

Milestone Payment.   “Milestone Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(12).  
   

Milestone Shares.   “Milestone Shares” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(d)(2).  
   

NDA.   “NDA” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(13).  
   

Net Sales.   “Net Sales” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(14).  
   

Net Cash Amount.   “Net Cash Amount” means the number obtained by subtracting the total cash and cash 
equivalents of the Company by the total liabilities of the Company, excluding (a) all Seller’s Expenses payable at the 
Closing and(b) PJSC Contingent Fees.  
   

Neuronex Patent.   “Neuronex Patent” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(15).  
   

Option Consideration.   “Option Consideration” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(b).  
   

“ Orange Book .”  “Orange Book” means the FDA’s publication entitled, “Approved Drug Products with 
Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations,” as maintained under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act.  
   

[***].   “[***]” has the meaning set forth in 1.7(a)(16).  
   

Outside Date.   “Outside Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(b).  
   

Paid Exercise Price.   “Paid Exercise Price” means the portion of the aggregate exercise price of each Company 
Option and each Company Warrant outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time which shall be deemed to have 
been paid in partial satisfaction of the exercise price of such Company Option or Company Warrant as a result of the 
payment of the Closing Consideration.  .  
   

Parachute Payment Agreements.   “Parachute Payment Agreements” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14
(b).  
   

Parent.   “Parent” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble to the Agreement.  
   

Parent Balance Sheet Date.   “Parent Balance Sheet Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.9(c).  
   

Parent Break-Up Fee.   “Parent Break-Up Fee” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(b).  
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Parent Indemnified Parties.   “Parent Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2.  

   

Parent Material Adverse Effect.   “Parent Material Adverse Effect” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4.  
   

Parent SEC Documents.   “Parent SEC Documents” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.9(a).  
   

Patent Rights.   “Patent Rights” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(a)(4).  
   

Paying Agent.   “Paying Agent” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(a).  
   

Payment Fund.   “Payment Fund” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(a).  
   

Permitted Encumbrances.   “Permitted Encumbrances” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5.  
   

Person.   “Person” shall mean any individual, entity or Governmental Authority.  
   

PJSC . “PJSC” shall mean Peter J. Solomon Company  
   

PJSC Contingent Fees.   “PJSC Contingent Fees” shall mean the fees payable to Peter J. Solomon Company 
pursuant to the second paragraph of Section 3(a) of the engagement letter between the Company and Peter J. Solomon 
Company, dated as of January 31, 2011, in connection with the payment of any Contingent Payment to the Persons 
entitled thereto.  
   

Post-Closing Tax Period.   “Post-Closing Tax Period” means any Tax period beginning after the Closing Date; 
and, with respect to a Tax period that begins on or before the Closing Date and ends thereafter, the portion of such Tax 
period beginning after the Closing Date.  
   

Pre-Closing Tax Periods.   “Pre-Closing Tax Periods” has the meaning set forth in Section 6A.5(d).  
   

Pre-Closing Taxes.   “Pre-Closing Taxes” has the meaning set forth in Section 6A.5(d).  
   

Pro Rata Share.   “Pro Rata Share” of a particular Former Holder shall mean the fraction having a numerator 
equal to the number of Effective Time Shares held by such Former Holder, and having a denominator equal to the 
aggregate number of Effective Time Shares held by all Former Holders, in each case calculated based on the aggregate 
Merger Consideration with respect to which the Pro Rata Share is being calculated.  
   

Real Property Lease Agreements.   “Real Property Lease Agreements” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6. 
   

R&D Support Account.   “R&D Support Account” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.13.  
   
 

  

  
  



 
R&D Support Payment. “R&D Support Payment” means up to $1,200,000 in cash, which amount shall be 

funded pursuant to the terms of Section 4.13, as such amount may be increased from time to time as reasonably required 
to cover additional activities mutually agreed by Parent and the Company.  
   

Representation Termination Date.   “Representation Termination Date” has the meaning set forth in 
Section 7.1.  
   

Required Stockholder Vote.   “Required Stockholder Vote” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.21.  
   

Reserve Amount.   “Reserve Amount” means $10,000, as it may be increased from time to time in the discretion 
of the Stockholders’ Representative, provided that in no event may any increase in the Reserve Amount exceed the 
aggregate of the accrued but unpaid Merger Consideration, Option Consideration and Warrant Consideration then 
payable to the Former Holders at the time of the increase.  
   

Response.   “Response” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.6(b).  
   

Restated Certificate of Incorporation.   “Restated Certificate of Incorporation” has the meaning set forth in 
Section 2.1.  
   

Restraints.   “Restraints” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.  
   

Retained Indebtedness.   “Retained Indebtedness” means the Indebtedness of the Company that Parent, at its 
option, elects for Company to retain at the Closing, which shall be set forth on Part 1.6(c) of the Disclosure Schedule.  
   

Sales Milestone Event.   “Sales Milestone Event” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(17).  
   

Sales Milestone Payment.   “Sales Milestone Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(18).  
   

Sales Milestone Payment Occurrence Date.   “Sales Milestone Payment Occurrence Date” has the meaning set 
forth in Section 1.7(a)(19).  
   

Section 280G Tax Liability.   “Section 280G Tax Liability” has the meaning set forth in Section 6A.5(d).  
   

SEC.   “SEC” shall mean the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.  
   

Securities Act.   “Securities Act” shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, including the rules and 
regulations promulgated thereunder.  
   

Sellers’ Expenses.   “Sellers’ Expenses” means all costs, fees and expenses incurred by the Company in 
connection with the negotiation and consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (whether 
incurred prior to or after the date hereof) that have  
   
 

  

  
  



 
been incurred and remain unpaid as of immediately prior to the Effective Time, including, without limitation, (a) any 
brokerage fees, commissions, finders’ fees,  financial advisory fees, or other amounts payable to other agents, 
representatives and advisors, including those payable to Peter J. Solomon Company, (b) the legal fees and expenses, 
including those payable to Hutchison Law Group, and (c) any success fees, bonuses, change of control or other 
payments to any employee, former employee, consultant or former consultant of the Company (other than a payment of 
Merger Consideration, Option Consideration or Warrant Consideration). For the avoidance of doubt, the PJSC 
Contingent Fees shall constitute Sellers’ Expenses, to the extent payable at the Closing and thereafter shall be deducted 
from the applicable Contingent Payment in accordance with the Contingent Allocation Certificate.  
   

Sellers’ Taxes.   “Sellers’ Taxes” means (i) all Taxes attributable to the transactions described in Section 4.11 of 
this Agreement; (ii) all Taxes of any member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined, or unitary group of which the 
Company is or was a member on or prior to the Closing Date, including pursuant to Treasury Regulations section 
1.1502-6 or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law; (iii) all Taxes of any person imposed on the Company 
for any period as a transferee or successor in respect of a transaction occurring on or before the Closing Date or by 
contract entered into prior to the Closing; (iv) any withholding or employment Taxes required to be withheld or paid as a 
result of any payments contemplated under this Agreement or as a result of any vesting, exercise, cancellation, 
payments, or dividends or deemed dividends, in respect of Company Options, Company Warrants or Company Capital 
Stock, in each case that occur on or prior to the Closing Date or as a result of the transactions and payments 
contemplated by this Agreement; (v) any Transfer Taxes which are the responsibility of Former Holders under Section 
6A.5(g); and (vi) any misrepresentation, breach or inaccuracy in any representation relating to Taxes, determined 
without regard to any qualifiers relating to materiality and without regard to any items set forth on the Disclosure 
Schedules.  
   

Series A Preferred Merger Consideration.   “Series A Preferred Merger Consideration” has the meaning set 
forth in Section 1.2(c)(1).  
   

Signing Payment.   “Signing Payment” shall mean $2,000,000.  
   

SK License.   “SK License” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.8(c).  
   

SK Territory.   “SK Territory” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(20).  
   

Specified Representations.   “Specified Representations” shall mean each of the representations and warranties 
contained in the first and last sentences of Section 2.1, Section 2.2(a) (except for the fourth and sixth sentences), 
Section 2.2(d), Section 2.21, the first and second sentences of Section 2.22 and Section 2.23.  
   

Stockholders’ Representative.   “Stockholders’ Representative” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1(a).  
   

Straddle Period.   “Straddle Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 6A.1.  
   

Subsidiaries.   “Subsidiaries”, when used with respect to any party hereto, shall mean any corporation, limited 
liability company, partnership, association, trust or other entity of which  
   
 

  

  
  



 
securities or other ownership interests representing more than 50% of the equity or more than 50% of the ordinary voting 
power (or, in the case of a partnership, more than 50% of the general partnership interests) are, as of such date, owned by 
such party.  
   

Successor.   “Successor” shall mean Parent or Surviving Corporation following a merger or change of control of 
Parent or Surviving Corporation, as applicable.  
   

Surviving Corporation.   “Surviving Corporation” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1(a).  
   

Target Net Cash Amount.   “Target Net Cash Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.5.  
   

Tax and Taxes.   “Tax” and “Taxes” means (i) any and all U.S. federal, state, local and non-U.S. taxes, 
including, without limitation, income, estimated income, gross receipts, profits, business, license, occupation, franchise, 
capital stock, real or personal property, sales, use, transfer, value added, payroll, employment or unemployment, social 
security (or similar), disability, alternative or add-on minimum, customs, duties, excise, stamp, environmental, 
commercial rent withholding, severance, escheat, premium, windfall profits, registration or other tax of any kind or any 
charge of any kind in the nature of (or similar to) taxes whatsoever, together with any related interest, penalty, addition 
to tax or additional amount, imposed by any Taxing Authority and (ii) in the case of the Company, any and all liability 
for the payment of any amount of the type described in clause (i) as a result of being or having been before the Closing 
Date a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group as a result of any tax sharing or tax allocation 
agreements, arrangement or understanding entered into prior to the Closing, or as a result of being liable for another 
person’s taxes, as a transferee or successor, by contract or otherwise .  
   

Tax Contest.   “Tax Contest” has the meaning set forth in Section 6A.5(a).  
   

Tax Grant.   “Tax Grant” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(k).  
   

Taxing Authority.   “Taxing Authority” means any Governmental Authority responsible for the imposition, 
collection or enforcement of a Tax.  
   

Tax Return.   “Tax Return” means any report, return, document, statement, election, disclosure, schedule, form, 
declaration or other information or filing supplied or required to be supplied to any Taxing Authority with respect to 
Taxes, including amendments, schedules, or attachments thereto, including information returns, and including any 
documents with respect to or accompanying payments of estimated Taxes, or with respect to or accompanying requests 
for the extension of time in which to file any such report, return, document, statement, election, disclosure, schedule, 
form, declaration or other information.  
   

Tax Sharing Agreement.   “Tax Sharing Agreements” means all existing agreements binding the Company that 
provide for the allocation, apportionment, sharing or assignment of any Tax liability of any Person; provided , however , 
that the following agreements shall be disregarded to the extent disclosed on Part 2.12(e) of the Disclosure 
Schedule:  (i) commercially reasonable agreements providing for the allocation or payment of real property Taxes 
attributable  
   
 

  

  
  



 
to real property leased or occupied by the Company and (ii) commercially reasonable agreements for the allocation or 
payment of personal property Taxes, sales or use Taxes or value added Taxes with respect to personal property leased, 
used, owned or sold in the ordinary course of business.  
   

Terminating Company Breach.   “Terminating Company Breach” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(d).  
   

Terminating Parent Breach.   “Terminating Parent Breach” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(e).  
   

Territory.   “Territory” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.7(a)(20).  
   

Third-Party Claim.   “Third-Party Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.4(a).  
   

Trade Secret.   “Trade Secret” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(a)(6).  
   

Trademark Rights. “Trademark Rights” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(a)(7).  
   

Transfer Taxes.   “Transfer Taxes” has the meaning set forth in Section 6A.5(g).  
   

Transition Services Agreement.   “Transition Services Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.12.  
   

Treasury Regulations. “Treasury Regulations” means the regulations promulgated under the Code.  
   

Warrant Consideration.   “Warrant Consideration” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(c).  
   
 

  

  
  



 
AMENDED AND RESTATED  

   

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION  
   

OF  
   

NEURONEX, INC.  
   

FIRST:                      The name of the Corporation is:  Neuronex, Inc.  
   

SECOND:                      The address of the Corporation’s registered office in the State of Delaware is 1220 N. 
Market Street, Suite 850, in the City of Wilmington, County of New Castle, Delaware 19801.  The name of its registered 
agent at such address is Delaware Corporate Services Inc.  
   

THIRD:                      The nature of the business or purposes to be conducted or promoted by the Corporation is 
to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law of 
Delaware.  
   

FOURTH:                      The total number of shares of stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue 
is 1,000 shares of Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share.  
   

The number of authorized shares of Common Stock may be increased or decreased (but not below the number of 
shares thereof then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the stock of the Corporation 
entitled to vote, irrespective of the provisions of Section 242(b)(2) of the General Corporation Law of Delaware.  
   

FIFTH:                      In furtherance of and not in limitation of powers conferred by statute, it is further provided:  
   

1.           The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of 
the Board of Directors.  
   

2.           Election of directors need not be by written ballot.  
   

3.           The Board of Directors is expressly authorized to adopt, amend, alter or repeal the By-
Laws of the Corporation.  
   

SIXTH:                      No director of the Corporation shall have personal liability arising out of an action whether 
by or in the right of the Corporation or otherwise for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director; 
provided, however, that the foregoing shall not limit or eliminate the liability of a director (i) for any breach of the 
director’s duty of loyalty to the Corporation or its stockholders, (ii) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which 
involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (iii) under Section 174 of the General Corporation Law of 
Delaware or any successor provision, (iv) for any transaction from which such director derived an improper personal 
benefit, or (v) acts or omissions occurring prior to the date of the effectiveness of this provision.  
   
 

  

EXHIBIT  B  
FORM  OF CERTIFICATE  OF INCORPORATION  OF SURVIVING  CORPORATION   

  
  



 
Furthermore, notwithstanding the foregoing provision, if the General Corporation Law of Delaware is amended or 
enacted to permit further limitation or elimination of the personal liability of the director, the personal liability of the 
Corporation’s directors shall be limited or eliminated to the fullest extent permitted by the applicable law.  
   

This provision shall not affect any provision permitted under the General Corporation Law of Delaware in the 
Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws or contract or resolution of the Corporation indemnifying or agreeing to indemnify 
a director against personal liability. Any repeal or modification of this provision shall not adversely affect any limitation 
hereunder on the personal liability of the director with respect to acts or omissions occurring prior to such repeal or 
modification.  
   

SEVENTH:                      The Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision 
contained in this Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner now or hereafter prescribed by statute and this Certificate of 
Incorporation, and all rights conferred upon stockholders herein are granted subject to this reservation.  
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SERVICES AGREEMENT  

   

THIS SERVICES AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”), dated effective as of __, 2012 (the “ Effective Date ”), is 
by and between Neuronex, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“ Neuronex ”), and Aerial BioPharma, LLC, a North Carolina 
limited liability company (“Aerial”).  
   

WITNESSETH:  
   

WHEREAS, Neuronex has requested that Aerial provide certain services to Neuronex to commence immediately 
upon the Effective Date, and Aerial is willing to provide such services to Neuronex, subject to the terms and conditions 
of this Agreement;  
   

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises, the mutual agreements hereinafter contained and other 
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Aerial and Neuronex 
hereby agree as follows:  
   

   

(a)            Scope of Services .  From time to time during the Period of Service (as defined below), Aerial 
will provide Neuronex the services described on Exhibit A attached hereto   (the “ Services ”).  The parties agree that 
additional services may be requested from time to time and if such services are agreed upon, then such services shall be 
described on additional exhibits to be attached hereto and dated and signed by the parties and will be considered 
“Services” hereunder. Specific tasks that may arise which are not addressed on Exhibit A are the responsibility of 
Neuronex and Aerial will have no obligation for the performance of such tasks, unless subsequently agreed to in writing, 
including provision for additional expense reimbursements as may be mutually agreed to by Aerial and Neuronex.  
   

(b)            Period of Service .  The “ Period of Service ” will commence on the Effective Date and will 
continue with respect to specific Services or all Services, as applicable until the date any (or all) of the Services are 
terminated pursuant to the terms set forth in Section 1(c) below, unless any of the Services are extended pursuant to the 
terms herein or unless at that time Services are being performed which by their nature require a later completion date, in 
which case the Period of Service will terminate on such completion date.  
   

(c)            Termination .  
   

(i)           Neuronex may at any time or from time to time terminate any (or all) of the Services 
provided pursuant to this Section 1 on at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to Aerial, whereupon Aerial will no 
longer have any obligation to provide such terminated services to Neuronex and Neuronex will have no further 
obligation to reimburse Aerial for such terminated services.  
   

(ii)           Aerial may at any time or from time to time terminate any (or all) of the Services 
provided pursuant to this Section 1 on at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to Neuronex, whereupon Aerial will 
no longer have any obligation to provide such terminated services to Neuronex and Neuronex will have no further 
obligation to reimburse Aerial for such terminated services.  
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SERVICES.  
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(iii)           Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement, (A) Aerial will deliver to 
Neuronex’s or, at Neuronex’s option, dispose of, any materials in its possession or control and all Work Product 
developed through termination or expiration; (B) Neuronex will pay Aerial any monies due and owing Aerial, up to the 
time of termination or expiration, for Services properly performed; and (C) the provisions in Sections 1(e), 2, 4, 5, 7, 9, 
10, 11, 13, 14 and 15 will survive in accordance with their terms.  
   

(d)            Aerial Obligations .  Aerial’s obligations under this Section 1 will be limited to the services 
described herein and which Aerial, on a case-by-case basis, has agreed to provide to Neuronex.  Aerial shall be entitled 
to rely upon the accuracy of all information supplied to it by Neuronex or its representatives, and shall have no duty to 
question or investigate the accuracy of said information. It is understood that the services covered under this Agreement 
may be transitional in nature, and that Neuronex may ultimately over time administer these activities on its own behalf. 
Aerial agrees to provide a reasonable level of support necessary to assist Neuronex in transitioning services covered in 
this Section 1 to a third party or assuming such services internally within Neuronex.  
   

(e)            Confidentiality .  
   

(i)            Confidential Information .  For purposes of this Agreement, “ Confidential Information 
” shall mean all or any of the following:  (1) information or material proprietary to Neuronex; (2) information not 
generally known by non-Neuronex personnel (other than persons subject to confidentiality); (3) tangible and intangible 
information, including, without limitation, technical, financial, commercial and proprietary information, know-how, and 
trade secrets of any description, whether created or produced by Neuronex, or any person on behalf of Neuronex, that 
concerns or relates to the business, operations, plans, clients or technology of Neuronex or is otherwise acquired or 
disclosed in anticipation of, during, or as a result of, or in any way connected with, this Agreement; and/or (4) 
information which Aerial or any of its employees or affiliates made or makes, conceived or conceives, developed or 
develops or obtained or obtains through or has access to as a result of Aerial’s providing the Services to Neuronex 
hereunder (including information received, originated, discovered or developed in whole or in part by Aerial or its 
employees or affiliates).  Confidential Information also includes any information which Neuronex obtains from another 
party and which Neuronex treats as proprietary, whether or not owned or developed by Neuronex, including without 
limitation information of or concerning Neuronex’ licensees.  The failure of Neuronex to mark any of the above 
described information as proprietary, confidential, or secret shall not affect its status as part of the Confidential 
Information hereunder.  
   

(ii)            Exclusions .  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term Confidential Information shall 
not include any information that: (1) is now or later made known to the public through legal means and no fault of 
Aerial; (2) Aerial can show was in Aerial’s possession (other than information which was developed by Aerial for 
Neuronex or provided to Aerial on behalf of Neuronex) prior to the earliest disclosure by Neuronex, as evidenced by 
written documents in Aerial’s files; (3) is rightfully received after the Effective Date by Aerial from a third party having 
no obligation of confidentiality to Neuronex; (4) is independently developed by Aerial or  
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its employees or affiliates without access to or reliance upon the Confidential Information; or (5) is disclosed by Aerial 
after receipt of written permission from Neuronex.  If Aerial is requested or required by subpoena, court order, or similar 
process to disclose any Confidential Information, the parties agree that Aerial will provide Neuronex with prompt notice 
of such request(s) so that Neuronex may seek an appropriate protective order and/or waive Aerial’s compliance with the 
provisions of this Agreement.  
   

(iii)            No Disclosure or Use .  Aerial and its employees and affiliates shall hold in strictest 
confidence and shall not, except in the course of performing Aerial’s obligations under this Agreement or pursuant to 
written authorization from Neuronex, at any time during or after the term of this Agreement: (i) directly or indirectly 
reveal, report, publish, disclose or transfer Confidential Information or any part thereof to any person or entity; (ii) use 
any Confidential Information or any part thereof for any purpose other than to perform Services in connection with this 
Agreement; or (iii) assist any person or entity other than Neuronex to secure any benefit from Confidential Information 
or any part thereof.  
   

(iv)            Duty to Safeguard .  During and after the term of this Agreement, Aerial shall:  (i) use 
the same degree of care (and in any event not less than reasonable care) to safeguard the confidentiality of the 
Confidential Information that Aerial uses to protect Aerial’s own secret information and (ii) limit any disclosure of the 
Confidential Information only to those of Aerial’s employees, consultants or agents who have a need to know, are bound 
by confidentiality obligations to Aerial and are advised of Aerial’s obligations hereunder.  
   

(v)            Disclosure Pursuant to Law .  If Aerial is required to disclose Confidential Information 
by law or any order of a governmental authority, it shall first notify Neuronex of such requirement and assist Neuronex, 
at Neuronex’s request and expense, to minimize the disclosure.  
   

(vi)            Return of Confidential Information .  At any time upon notice or in any event upon 
termination of this Agreement, Neuronex may require the return (or certified destruction) of any Confidential 
Information in the possession or control of Aerial or any of its employees, agents, affiliates, subcontractors and 
representatives.  
   

(vii)           All obligations under this Section 1(e) shall survive the expiration or termination of 
this Agreement indefinitely.  
   

(f)            Ownership of Materials .  Aerial agrees that all Confidential Information, as defined above, 
shall belong exclusively and without any additional compensation to Neuronex.  To the extent not covered by the 
preceding sentence, all copyrights, patents, trade secrets, or other intellectual property rights associated with any ideas, 
concepts, techniques, inventions, processes, or works of author ship developed or created by Aerial during the course 
and in the scope of performing the Services (collectively, the “ Work Product ”) shall belong exclusively to Neuronex 
and shall, to the extent possible, be considered a “work made for hire” for Neuronex; to the extent such work is 
determined not to constitute “works made for hire” as a matter of law, Aerial hereby irrevocably assigns and transfers to 
Neuronex, as of the time of creation of the Work Product, any and all right, title, or interest it may have in such Work 
Product.  Upon request of Neuronex and at Neuronex’ expense, Aerial shall take such further  
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actions, including execution and delivery of instruments of conveyance necessary to obtain legal protection in the United 
States and foreign countries for such Work Product and for the purpose of vesting title thereto in Neuronex, or its 
nominee, as may be appropriate to give full and proper effect to such assignment and to vest in Neuronex complete title 
and ownership to such Work Product.  
   

(g)            Materials and Records .  Aerial will not transfer to any third party any materials provided to 
Aerial in connection with providing Services, or use any third party facilities or intellectual property in performing the 
Services, without Neuronex’s prior written consent.  Aerial will maintain complete and accurate records of all work 
conducted in the performance of the Services and all Work Product.  Such records will be in sufficient detail and in good 
scientific manner appropriate for patent and regulatory purposes.  
   

   

(a)            Cost of Services .  The “ Rates ” for the Services shall be as set forth on Exhibit B hereto.  
   

(b)            Invoicing .  The costs for any service or support provided under this Agreement shall be 
invoiced monthly by Aerial to Neuronex as determined on Exhibit B .  Each invoice for charges under this Agreement 
shall be paid by Neuronex within thirty (30) days after receipt of such invoice.  Aerial will, at the request of Neuronex, 
provide Neuronex appropriate documentation to support charges reflected on any invoice with respect to any services 
provided or costs incurred under this Agreement.  
   

   

Aerial shall not advance funds to or for the benefit of Neuronex for any purpose, without the prior approval of 
Neuronex.  
   

   

(a)           Neuronex shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Aerial from and against, and pay or 
reimburse, as the case may be, Aerial for any and all Indemnifiable Damages, as incurred, suffered by Aerial based 
upon, arising out of, relating to or otherwise in connection with Aerial’s providing any of the Services as described in 
this Agreement, except to the extent such Indemnifiable Damages arise out of the negligence or intentional misconduct 
of Aerial.  For purposes of this Agreement, “ Indemnifiable Damages ” shall mean all losses, claims, debts, liabilities, 
commitments, obligations, claims, damages, deficiencies, payments, taxes, liens, costs and expenses of any nature 
whatsoever, whether matured or unmatured, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, liquidated or unliquidated, 
known or unknown, whenever arising, to the extent resulting from unaffiliated third party claims (including, without 
limitation, the costs and expenses (including but not limited to attorneys’ fees) of all such actions, arbitrations, suits, 
claims and proceedings, all amounts paid in connection with any demands, assessments, judgments, settlements and 
compromises related thereto, interest and penalties with respect thereto and expenses incurred in investigating, preparing 
or defending against any such actions, arbitrations, suits, claims or proceedings or in asserting or enforcing any member 
of the indemnified party’s rights hereunder).  
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ADVANCEMENT OF FUNDS.  
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INDEMNITY.  
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(b)           Aerial shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Neuronex from and against, and pay or reimburse, as the 
case may be, Neuronex for, any and all Indemnifiable Damages, as incurred, suffered by Neuronex based upon, arising 
out of, relating to or otherwise in connection with the negligence or intentional misconduct of Aerial in providing any of 
the Services as described in this Agreement.  
   

   

Aerial will use the same degree of care in rendering services under this Agreement as it utilizes in rendering such 
services for its own operations, but in no event will Aerial be liable for any error or omission in rendering such services, 
or defect in the services rendered, except when such error, omission or defect is directly attributable to the gross 
negligence or willful misconduct of Aerial.  Aerial represents and warrants that neither Aerial, nor any of its employees, 
or to Aerial’s knowledge, any of its consultants or agents is (a) debarred, convicted, or is subject to a pending debarment 
or conviction, pursuant to section 306 of the United States Food Drug and Cosmetic Act, 21 U.S.C. § 335a, (b) listed by 
any government or regulatory agencies as ineligible to participate in any government healthcare programs or government 
procurement or non-procurement programs (as that term is defined in 42 U.S.C. 1320a-7b(f)), or excluded, debarred, 
suspended or otherwise made ineligible to participate in any such program, or (c) convicted of a criminal offense related 
to the provision of healthcare items or services, or subject to any such pending action.  Aerial shall inform Neuronex in 
writing promptly if Aerial becomes aware that it or any of its employees, consultants or agents is subject to the 
foregoing, or if any action, suit, claim, investigation, or proceeding relating to the foregoing is pending, or to Aerial’s 
knowledge, is threatened.  NONE OF AERIAL OR ITS AFFILIATES MAKES ANY OTHER REPRESENTATIONS, 
WARRANTIES OR GUARANTEES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY 
WARRANTY OF CONDITION, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, WITH 
RESPECT TO THE SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED HEREUNDER BY AERIAL OR THE RESULTS OBTAINED 
OR TO BE OBTAINED THEREBY.  WITHOUT LIMITING THE GENERALITY OF THE FOREGOING, NONE OF 
AERIAL OR ITS AFFILIATES WILL BE LIABLE FOR ANY LOST PROFITS OR SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, 
CONSEQUENTIAL OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES (i) CAUSED BY THE PERFORMANCE OF, ANY DELAY IN 
PERFORMING, FAILURE TO PERFORM OR DEFECTS IN PERFORMANCE OF THE SERVICES 
CONTEMPLATED TO BE PERFORMED BY IT PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT OR (ii) OTHERWISE IN 
ANY WAY RELATED TO OR IN RESPECT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR THE SERVICES CONTEMPLATED 
HEREBY.  IN NO EVENT SHALL AERIAL’S LIABILITY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT EXCEED THE AMOUNT 
OF ANY COMPENSATION ACTUALLY PAID BY NEURONEX TO AERIAL.  
   

   

Aerial shall be excused from its obligations under this Agreement, and shall have no liability for any resulting 
loss or damage, in the event and to the extent that its performance is delayed or prevented by any circumstance 
reasonably beyond its control, including, but not limited to, fire, flood, epidemic, explosion, act of any government in its 
sovereign capacity, act of God or of the public enemy, strike, walkout or other labor dispute, and riot or civil  
   
 

  

  SECTION 5. LEVEL OF SERVICES; LIMITATION ON LIABILITY.  

  SECTION 6.  INABILITY TO PERFORM.  
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disturbance.  Neuronex will not be required to pay for any services which are not being performed hereunder for 

any of the above reasons.  
   

   

Aerial shall hold, and shall cause its affiliates, subcontractors and representatives to hold, in strict confidence all 
information concerning Neuronex in its possession or control or furnished to Aerial by Neuronex or its affiliates, 
whether or not pursuant to this Agreement or the services contemplated hereby, and will not release or disclose such 
information to any other person or entity; provided, however, that Aerial may disclose such information to the extent (i) 
that Aerial can show that such information, in the form provided, is in the public domain through no fault of Aerial or its 
representatives, (ii) Aerial received such information from Neuronex pursuant to another agreement and Aerial’s 
disclosure is in conformance with such agreement or (iii) Aerial is required by law to make such disclosure.  Such 
information (other than information obtained by Aerial pursuant to and in compliance with another agreement with 
Neuronex) will only be used by Aerial for purposes expressly made known to and authorized by Neuronex.  At any time 
upon notice or in any event upon termination of this Agreement, Neuronex may require the return (or certified 
destruction) of any such confidential information of Neuronex or its affiliates in the possession or control of Aerial or 
any of its employees, agents, affiliates, subcontractors and representatives; provided that such requirement shall not 
apply to information received by Aerial through another agreement so long as Aerial is in compliance with such 
agreement.  The foregoing shall be in addition to, and not supersede, the obligations imposed on Aerial under Section 1
(e).  
   

   

No party shall convey, assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without 
the prior written consent of the other party in its sole and absolute discretion.  
   

   

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of North 
Carolina applicable to contracts made and to be performed entirely within such State, without regard to the conflicts of 
law principles of such State.  All disputes hereunder not otherwise resolved by negotiation or mediation as between the 
parties will be submitted to a state or federal court of competent jurisdiction in Wake County, North Carolina, and each 
party agrees to both in personam and in rem jurisdiction with respect thereto.  
   

   

All notices or other communications required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be 
delivered by hand, telecopied or sent via mail, postage prepaid, by registered, certified or express mail or reputable 
overnight courier service (and shall be deemed given when so delivered by hand or telecopied, or if mailed, three days 
after mailing (one business day in the case of express mail or overnight courier service)), addressed as follows:  
   

[to be updated as necessary prior to execution]  
   
   

  

  SECTION 7.  CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION.  

  SECTION 8.  ASSIGNMENT.  

  SECTION 9.  GOVERNING LAW.  

  SECTION 10.  NOTICES.  
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or in any case to such other address or addresses as hereafter shall be furnished as provided in this Section by either 
party to the other party.  
   

   

(a)            Captions .  All section titles or captions contained in this Agreement are for convenience only 
and shall not be deemed a part of this Agreement or affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.  Unless 
otherwise specified, all references herein to numbered sections are to sections of this Agreement.  
   

(b)            Counterparts .  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which 
will be deemed an original, but all of which together will constitute a single instrument.  
   

   

Any sales and use taxes on any services provided hereunder shall be borne by Neuronex and may be invoiced, 
collected and remitted to the applicable taxing authority by Aerial, on behalf of Neuronex.  
   

   

This Agreement is binding upon and is for the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and permitted 
assigns.  This Agreement is not made for the benefit of any person or entity not a party hereto and no person or entity 
other than the parties or their respective successors and permitted assigns will acquire or have any right, remedy or claim 
under or by virtue of this Agreement.  
   

   

If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is determined by a 
court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions hereof, or the applications 
of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it has been held invalid or unenforceable, will 
remain in full force and effect and will in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated thereby.  
   

   

The parties may modify or amend this Agreement only by written agreement executed and delivered by both 
parties.  
   
 

  

If to Neuronex:  
Neuronex, Inc.  
9001 Aerial Center Parkway, Suite 110  
Morrisville, NC  27560  
Attention:  President  

If to Aerial:  
Aerial BioPharma, LLC  
9001 Aerial Center Parkway, Suite 110  
Morrisville, NC  27560  
Attention:  President  

  SECTION 11.  CAPTIONS; COUNTERPARTS.  

  SECTION 12.  SALES AND USE TAXES.  

  SECTION 13.  NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  

  SECTION 14.  SEVERABILITY.  

  SECTION 15.  MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT.  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement to be effective as of the date first above 

written.  
   

 

  

NEURONEX, INC  
   
   
By:                                                                    
Name:   Moise Khayrallah  
Title:     CEO  

AERIAL BIOPHARMA, LLC  
   
   
By:                                                           
Name:   Stephen Butts  
Title:     President & CEO  
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EXHIBIT A  

   

to Services Agreement  
   

Between Neuronex, Inc.  and Aerial BioPharma, LLC  
   

[to be updated as necessary prior to execution]  
   

Product Development Services  

   

Regulatory Services  

   

Management and Business Development  

   

The Services may be provided by Aerial through its officers, employees, consultants, agents or other affiliates.  
   
 

  

   −  pre-clinical and clinical strategy and design  
   −  pre-clinical and clinical trial implementation, including but not limited to site selection, monitoring, data 

management, and vendor management  
   −  Manufacturing activities for regulatory and clinical trial purposes  
   −  Contracting and management of consultants for product development activities  

   −  Regulatory strategy and implementation  
   −  Regulatory Authority communication and correspondence  
   −  Regulatory document development and management  
   −  Contracting and management of consultants for regulatory services  

   −  Oversight of all Product Development and Regulatory Services  
   −  Commercial Strategy activities  
   −  Business Development, including but not limited to in-licensing, out-licensing, partnering and alliance 

management activities  
   −  Contracting and management of consultants for financial and business development services  
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EXHIBIT B  
   

to Services Agreement  
   

Between Neuronex, Inc. and Aerial BioPharma, LLC  
   

[to be updated as necessary prior to execution]  
   

 
   

   
   
   
   
 

  
Certain portions of this Exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidentiality. Such omitted  
portions, which are marked with brackets [     ] and an asterisk*, have been separately filed with the Commission.  
 

Function  Hourly Rates  
CEO  $[***]  
EVP, Commercial  $[***]  
VP, Scientific Affairs  $[***]  
Manager, Clinical Affairs  $[***]  
Clinical Trials Manager  $[***]  
Clinical Research Associate  $[***]  
Data Administrator  $[***]  
Office Manager  $[***]  
Consultants  [***]  
Note: Rates may be adjusted periodically to reflect increases in compensation and/or benefit costs.  

Administrative & Facility Overhead  Monthly Rate  
Payroll fees  [***]  
Office & Computer Supplies    
IT Consultant    
Rent    
Property Taxes    
Property Insurance    
Equipment Rental    
Repairs & Maintenance    
Communications    
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EXHIBIT  D  
FORM  OF OFFICER  AND DIRECTOR  RESIGNATION  LETTER   

 
 
   

________ __, 2012  
   

Neuronex, Inc.  
   

To Whom it May Concern:  
   

I hereby resign as [an officer] [ member of the Board of Directors] of Neuronex, Inc. effective upon the 
consummation of the Merger consummated pursuant to that certain AGREEMENT  AND PLAN  OF MERGER (“ 
Agreement ”) dated as of February ___, 2012, by and among: ______________ , Inc. , a Delaware corporation (“ 
Parent ”); ATI Development Corp. , a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (“ Merger Sub 
”); Neuronex, Inc. , a Delaware corporation (the “ Company ”); and Moise A. Khayrallah, Ph.D., a resident of North 
Carolina, solely as the Stockholders’ Representative.  
   
   

Sincerely,  
   

________________  
 

  

  
  



 
 
   

________________, 2012  
 

[Acquiror]  
 
 

Gentlemen:  
   

We have acted as counsel to Neuronex, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “ Company ”), in connection with the 
transactions contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated February __, 2012 (the “ Merger Agreement ” ), 
by and among the Company, ___________, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “ Parent ”), ATI Development Corp., a 
Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of the Parent, and Moise A. Khayrallah, Ph.D., as the Stockholder 
Representative.  Terms used herein with initial capital letters and that are not otherwise defined shall have the meanings 
given to them in the Merger Agreement.  This opinion is furnished to you pursuant to Section 5.2(i) of the Merger 
Agreement.  
   

For purposes of this opinion, we have examined originals or copies, identified to our satisfaction, of such 
documents, corporate records, instruments and other relevant materials as we deemed advisable, and have made such 
examination of statutes and decisions and reviewed such questions of law as we have considered necessary or 
appropriate.  In our examination, we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures (except those of the Company on 
the Merger Agreement and the other documents that are exhibits to the Merger Agreement to which the Company is a 
party (collectively, the “ Transaction Documents ”)), the legal capacity of all natural persons, the authority of all 
parties other than the Company to sign all such documents, corporate records, instruments and other relevant materials 
reviewed by us, the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as originals, the conformity to original documents of 
all documents submitted to us as copies, and the authenticity of the originals of such copies.  As to facts material to this 
opinion letter, we have relied upon the representations and warranties of the Company contained in the Transaction 
Documents and upon certificates, statements or representations of public officials, of officers and representatives of the 
Company (including a certificate of an officer of the Company specifically given in contemplation of this opinion, 
referred to herein as the “ Opinion Certificate ” and attached hereto) and of others, without any independent 
verification thereof.  We have made no independent investigation of any of the facts stated in the Opinion Certificate or 
in any such statements or representations; however, nothing has come to our attention which would lead us to believe 
that such facts are inaccurate.  
 

For purposes of this opinion we have assumed that the Board of Directors of the Company has complied with its 
fiduciary duties in connection with the adoption of the Merger Agreement and that the facts and law governing the future 
performance by the Company of its obligations under the Merger Agreement will be identical to the facts and law 
governing the performance on the date of this opinion.  
 

For purposes of this opinion, the phrases “to the best of our knowledge,” “we do not know,” “we have no 
knowledge” or “known to us” mean, after the inquiry referred to above, our examination has been limited to discussions 
with representatives of the Company in connection  
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with the transaction contemplated by the Transaction Documents, review of the Opinion Certificate attached 

hereto, and the conscious awareness of the facts or other information by the attorneys in our firm who have devoted 
substantive attention to handling current matters for the Company. Except to the extent expressly set forth herein we 
have not undertaken any independent investigation to determine the existence or absence of any other facts, and no 
inference as to our knowledge of the existence or absence of any such facts should be drawn from our representation of 
the Company or the rendering of the opinions set forth below.  
 

Based upon and subject to the foregoing and the qualifications and limitations below, and except as set forth in 
the Merger Agreement or the Disclosure Schedules, we are of the opinion that:  
   

9.           The Company is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws 
of the State of Delaware.  The Company is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation in good standing in the 
State of North Carolina.  
   
   

10.           The Company has the requisite corporate power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations 
under the Transaction Documents and to own its properties and assets.  The execution, delivery and performance of the 
Transaction Documents have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company, and the 
Transaction Documents have been duly executed and delivered on behalf of the Company.  
   
   

11.           The Transaction Documents are legally valid and binding obligations of the Company, enforceable 
against the Company in accordance with their respective terms.  
   
   

12.           The execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents on behalf of the Company do not, and the 
performance of the Company’s obligations thereunder will not, conflict with, violate or result in any breach or violation 
of (a) any provision of the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation or bylaws, (b) any provision of the Delaware General 
Corporation Law or any provision of a North Carolina or U.S. federal statute, rule or regulation known by us to be 
customarily applicable to transactions of the nature contemplated by the Merger or (c) any order, judgment or decree of 
any Delaware, North Carolina or United States federal court or governmental instrumentality to which the Company is a 
party and is known to us.  
   
   

13.           Immediately prior to the Effective Time, the authorized capital stock of the Company consisted of 
__________________ [Note: to match capitalization representation, subject to any changes between signing and 
closing.] Immediately prior to the Effective Time, there are issued and outstanding: ________ Common Shares and 
________Series A Shares, all of which shares are fully paid and non-assessable and were duly authorized and validly 
issued.  
   
   

14.           Except for the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, 
to our knowledge, no governmental consent, approval or authorization under the Delaware General Corporation Law or 
the federal laws of the United States, which has not been obtained or taken and is not in full force and effect, is required 
to authorize or is required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance of the Transaction Documents by 
the Company.  
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15.           To our knowledge, there is no action, suit, investigation or proceeding by or before any court, 
arbitrator, administrative agency or other governmental authority pending or threatened in writing against the Company 
that questions the validity of the Transaction Documents.  
   

The opinions expressed above are subject to the following qualifications:  
 

A.      The opinions expressed herein are limited to (i) the laws of the State of North Carolina and the federal law 
of the United States of America, including the rules and regulations promulgated by governmental authorities 
thereunder, and (ii) with respect to the opinions set forth in paragraphs 1 through 6   above, the Delaware General 
Corporation Law as set forth in statutory compilations and without reference to case law or secondary sources.  We do 
no express any opinion as to the ordinances, statutes, administrative decisions, orders, rules, and regulations of any 
municipality, county, or other political subdivision of any state (as opposed to the laws of the state itself).  We express 
no opinion as to whether the laws of any particular jurisdiction apply, or to the extent that the laws of any jurisdiction 
other than those identified above are applicable to the Merger Agreement or the transactions contemplated thereby.  
 

B.      Our opinions expressed in paragraph 1 above with respect to the States of Delaware and North Carolina are 
based solely upon (i) a Certificate of Good Standing relating to the Company issued by the Secretary of State of the State 
of Delaware on _________, 2012; and (ii) a Certificate of Authorization relating to the Company issued by the Secretary 
of State of the State of North Carolina on __________, 2012, in each case attesting to the good standing of the Company 
in such jurisdiction as of such date, and our opinions in paragraph 1 with respect to such states are limited accordingly 
and are rendered as of the date of such certificates.  We specifically express no opinion with regard to the tax good 
standing of the Company in any jurisdiction.  
 
   

C.      This opinion is qualified by, and we render no opinion with respect to, the effect of the following:  
   

(i)         bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws relating to or 
affecting the relief of debtors or the rights and remedies of creditors generally, including without limitation the effect of 
statutory or other law regarding fraudulent conveyances, preferential transfers and equitable subordination;  
   

(ii)         general principles of equity, including but not limited to judicial decisions holding that 
certain provisions are unenforceable when their enforcement would violate the implied covenant of good faith and fair 
dealing, or would be commercially unreasonable or involve undue delay, whether or not such principles or decisions 
have been codified by statute;  
   

(iii)         any law or equitable principle which provides that a court may refuse to enforce, or may 
limit the application of, a contract or any clause thereof which the court finds  
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to have been unconscionable at the time it was made, unconscionable in performance or contrary 

to public policy;  
   

(iv)         judicial decisions, that may permit the introduction of extrinsic evidence to modify the 
terms or the interpretation of the Merger Agreement;  
   

(v)         the effect of public policy considerations on the indemnification provisions in the Merger 
Agreement;  
   

(vi)         provisions stating that rights and remedies are not exclusive, that every right or remedy 
is cumulative and may be exercised in addition to or with any other right or remedy and does not preclude recourse to 
one or more other rights or remedies; and  
   

(vii)         any United States federal or state antitrust statutes, rules or regulations , including 
without limitation the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.  
   

D.      We are members of the North Carolina State Bar.  Our opinion in paragraph 3 above as to the validity, 
binding effect and enforceability of the Transaction Documents is premised upon the result that would be obtained if a 
North Carolina court were to apply the internal laws of the State of North Carolina to the interpretation and enforcement 
of the Transaction Documents (notwithstanding the designation therein of the laws of a state other than North Carolina).  
 

We call your attention to the fact that H&M Holdings, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company owned 
by certain members of our firm, holds Common Shares.  
 

This opinion is rendered as of the date first written above solely for your benefit in connection with the Merger 
Agreement and may not be relied on by, nor may copies be delivered to, any other person without our prior written 
consent, except for copies furnished for information purposes only and not for reliance to (i) auditors and attorneys, (ii) 
pursuant to governmental order or legal process, or (iii) in connection with any legal action to which you are a party 
arising out of the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby.  Our opinion is expressly limited to the 
matters set forth above and we render no opinion, whether by implication or otherwise, as to any other matters relating to 
the Company. This opinion is based upon currently existing statutes, rules, regulations and judicial decisions and we 
assume no obligation to inform you of any fact, circumstance, event or change in the law or the facts that may hereafter 
be brought to our attention that may alter, affect or modify the opinions expressed herein. This opinion is provided as a 
legal opinion only and not as a guaranty or warranty of the matters discussed herein.  
 

Sincerely,  
 
 
 

HUTCHISON PLLC  
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EXHIBIT 10.2 
 
   
Certain portions of this Exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidentiality. Such omitted portions, which are marked with 
brackets [     ] and an asterisk*, have been separately filed with the Commission.  
   
 
   

 

This Amendment #1 to the AGREEMENT (“ Amendment #1 ) is made by and between PAION Holdings UK 
Ltd (Company Number SC 166791 ) (“Paion” ) whose principal place of business is at Compass House, Vision Park, 
Chivers Way, Histon, Cambridge CB24 9ZR, UK, and Acorda Therapeutics, Inc. (“ Acorda ” or “ LICENSEE ”), a 
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware and having a principal place of business at 15 
Skyline Drive, Hawthorne, NY 10532.  
 
   

RECITALS  
 

WHEREAS , Acorda and CeNeS Pharmaceuticals, plc (“ CeNeS ”) had entered into an agreement (the “ 
AGREEMENT ”), effective November 12, 2002 (the “ EFFECTIVE DATE ”), pursuant to which Acorda exclusively 
licensed certain rights under the PATENT RIGHTS and LICENSED KNOW-HOW in the TERRITORY; and  
   

WHEREAS , CeNeS was acquired by PAION AG on June 23, 2008 and changed its name into PAION Holdings 
UK Ltd; and  
   

WHEREAS, Paion and Acorda desire to amend the AGREEMENT as set forth herein;  
   

NOW, THEREFORE  , in consideration of the foregoing premises and of other good and valuable consideration, 
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows.  
   

AGREEMENT  
   

1.           Any and all references to CeNeS in the AGREEMENT shall be deleted and replaced with Paion.  
   

2.           Article 3.1 of the AGREEMENT shall be deleted and replaced in its entirety with the following:  
   

3.1           LICENSEE shall, itself or through its AFFILIATES or SUBLICENSEES, use diligent efforts to effect 
introduction of LICENSED PRODUCTS into the commercial market as soon as practicable, consistent with 
sound and reasonable business practice and judgment; thereafter, until the expiration of this AGREEMENT, 
LICENSEE shall endeavor to keep LICENSED PRODUCTS reasonably available to the public.  LICENSEE, 
its AFFILIATES or SUBLICENSEES, shall make such efforts in the form of the actions (a) - (d) of this Section 
3.1 (hereinafter referred to as “Diligence Milestones”).  

   

   

  AMENDMENT #1 TO THE LICENSE AGREEMENT  

   (a)  Within twenty-four (24) months of the EFFECTIVE DATE, commence exploratory studies leading to 
the validation of a specific therapeutic area of use for the growth factor gene nrg-2 , therapeutic study 
areas may include, but are not limited to, central nervous system indications, congestive heart failure 
and cardiotoxicity secondary to chemotherapy with tyrosine kinase anti  

  
  



   

neoplastic agents;  and submit to Paion a due diligence report describing the exploratory studies; and  
   

   

   

   

3.           The non-refundable license maintenance royalty and/or advance on royalties described under Section 4.5 of the 
AGREEMENT and that is payable to Paion on January 1 of each year shall be increased from $15,000 to $[***]. If the 
TERM of this AGREEMENT expires as set forth under Section 9.1 and LICENSEE elects to continue the development 
of a PROTEIN PRODUCT pursuant to the non-exclusive, perpetual, royalty-free, sub-licensable, worldwide license 
under the PATENT RIGHTS AND LICENSED KNOW HOW granted in Section 9.7, then LICENSEE’s obligation to 
make the non-refundable license maintenance royalty under Section 4.5 (as above) shall also continue for so long as 
LICENSEE is developing a PROTEIN PRODUCT up to and including the date of the milestone payment for the first 
approval to market under Section 4.6 (e).  
   

4.           Article 4.6 of the AGREEMENT is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety with the following:  
   

4.6           LICENSEE shall pay to Paion the following non-refundable milestone payments upon achievement 

by LICENSEE, an AFFILIATE or SUBLICENSEE of the milestone events indicated below:  

   

(a) upon the EFFECTIVE DATE:  $4,500;  

   

(b) upon initiation of the first human clinical trial of a LICENSED PRODUCT that is a PROTEIN 

PRODUCT:  $[***];  
   

(c) upon initiation of the first Phase III human clinical trial of a LICENSED PRODUCT that is a PROTEIN 

PRODUCT:  $[***];  
   

(d) upon filing the first NDA with the FDA for a LICENSED PRODUCT that is a PROTEIN 
PRODUCT:  $[***];  

   

(e) upon being granted the first approval to market commercially a LICENSED PRODUCT that is a PROTEIN 
PRODUCT in any country chosen from the group consisting of the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, 
France, Germany, Italy, Spain, and Japan:  $[***];  
   

  
Certain portions of this Exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidentiality. Such omitted portions, which are marked with 
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   (b)  File an Investigational New Drug (“ IND ”) application with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration 
(“ FDA ”) for a LICENSED PRODUCT and provide written notice to Paion of such filing by [***]; 
and  

   (c)  Initiate human clinical trials for a LICENSED PRODUCT and provide written notice to Paion of such 
initiation by [***]; and  

   (d) File a New Drug Applicaton (" NDA ") with the FDA for a LICENSED PRODUCT by [***].  

  
  



   

For clarity, should a PROTEIN PRODUCT be abandoned by LICENSEE, its AFFILIATE or SUBLICENSEE 
for any reason following completion of any of milestones (b) through (e) and LICENSEE commences 
development of a subsequent PROTEIN PRODUCT, then LICENSEE shall resume the milestone payments for 
such subsequent PROTEIN PRODUCT starting at the event subsequent to the event for which a milestone 
payment had already been paid.  Each milestone payment shall be paid only once by LICENSEE.  If the TERM 
of this AGREEMENT expires as set forth under Section 9.1 and LICENSEE elects to continue the development 
of a PROTEIN PRODUCT pursuant to the non-exclusive, perpetual, royalty-free, sub-licensable, worldwide 
license under the PATENT RIGHTS AND LICENSED KNOW HOW granted in Section 9.7, then 
LICENSEE’s obligation to make milestones payments under this Section 4.6 shall also continue for so long as 
LICENSEE is developing a PROTEIN PRODUCT including the milestone payment for the first approval to 
market under this Section 4.6 (e).  

 

5.           [***].  
 

6.           Except as otherwise expressly modified by this Amendment #1, all terms and conditions contained in the 
AGREEMENT shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect.  Any capitalized terms that are not defined in this 
Amendment #1 shall have the same meaning ascribed under the AGREEMENT.  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , this Amendment #1 shall become effective on the date when the last authorized 
signatory of the parties has executed below.  
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PAION HOLDINGS UK LTD  
   
   
By:         /s/Abdel Omari                                                  
Name:   Abdel Omari  
Title:      Director  
Date:     15/3/2012                                                         
   
   
By:        /s/M. Sôhngen                                                  
Name:  M. Sôhngen  
Title:     Director  
Date:    15/3/2012                                                         

ACORDA THERAPEUTICS, INC.  
   
   
By:        /s/ Ron Cohen                                                  

     Ron Cohen, M.D.  
     President & CEO  

Date:     March 13, 2012                                              
   
   
   

  
  



 
  



Exhibit 31.1 
   

CERTIFICATION BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUA NT TO  
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934  

 
I, Ron Cohen, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   
Date: May 9, 2012  
   

1.  I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Acorda Therapeutics, Inc.;  

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

   a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

   (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

   c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and  

   d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

   a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

   b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

/s/ RON COHEN    
Ron Cohen  
Chief Executive Officer  
(Principal Executive Officer)  
     



Exhibit 31.2 
   

CERTIFICATION BY THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUA NT TO  
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934  

   
I, David Lawrence, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   
Date: May 9, 2012  
   

1.  I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Acorda Therapeutics, Inc.;  

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

   a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

   b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

   c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and  

   d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

   a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

   b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

/s/ DAVID  LAWRENCE    
David Lawrence  
Chief Financial Officer  
(Principal Financial Officer)    



EXHIBIT 32.1 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906  
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Acorda Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal quarter ended 

March 31, 2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Ron Cohen, Chief Executive Officer 
of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 
   

   

   
/s/ RON COHEN  
RON COHEN  
Chief Executive Officer  
(Principal Executive Officer)  
May 9, 2012  

 
 
   
[A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to Acorda 
Therapeutics, Inc. and will be retained by Acorda Therapeutics, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon 
request.]  

   (1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended; and  

   (2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
the Company.  



EXHIBIT 32.2 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906  
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Acorda Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal quarter ended 

March 31, 2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, David Lawrence, Chief Financial 
Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, that:  
   

   

 
/s/ DAVID LAWRENCE  
DAVID LAWRENCE  
Chief Financial Officer  
(Principal Financial Officer)  
May 9, 2012  

 
 
[A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to Acorda 
Therapeutics, Inc. and will be retained by Acorda Therapeutics, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon 
request.]  

   (1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended; and  

   (2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
the Company.  


